HONG KONG
HOUSING SOCIETY

EEREHS

ANNUAL REPORT 2012 F#

Catering to the Different
Housing Tecds of the Eldenly



About Us

We are an independent and not-for-profit organisation providing quality housing

for the residents of Hong Kong. With the support of the Government, we have
implemented various housing schemes to meet the needs of niche markets. We are
run by Members and governed by a Supervisory Board and an Executive Committee
made up of professional people drawn from different sectors of the community.

Since established in 1948, we have been serving our community with a social
mission. This mission and commitment will remain unchanged as we move forward
in tandem with the city.
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Mission and Vision

Hong Kong Housing Society is a non-government organisation aiming to serve the
needs of the Hong Kong community in housing and related services. We strive to be
a world-class housing solution provider and innovator with leadership in quality, value
for money and management. We put customer, quality, talent and prudence as the
core values that support our guiding principles.
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Event Highlights
RERE

2011

APR 4 A

The Housing Society and the Urban Renewal Authority consolidated
the existing building maintenance subsidy and loan schemes into
the Integrated Building Maintenance Assistance Scheme to provide
“one-stop” services for owners of old buildings.
ERERTRERDHEE TRBEETHEEDREFTERER1E
FHERE RS REEEFRMAI - IR

MAY T A

The Housing Society announced the redevelopment of Ming Wah
Dai Ha basing on the Integrated Redevelopment Model.

EHEm Al e B | ERAEAE -

JUN /X A

Quality Seminar was held to chart the course
for quality development and promote quality
construction.
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2012

JAN — H
The first urban redevelopment project in Sham Shui Po
"Heya Green” was launched for pre-sale.

B B B AR h R EREB [ E ] -

AUG /\H

The two-month Summer Internship Programme for 59 students was
rounded off with a Closing Ceremony.

BAHNBRE2MHNZMEBEHEGER - REAMER -

SEP 1A

Tin Hau Revitalisation

Project was
completed.

PN =SS
BT -

The 59" Annual General Meeting was held on 27 September 2011
to appoint the new Supervisory Board.
RZZE——FNAAZTEEEGIERTNERFEFZERE ] ZEH
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The "Joyous Living” platform was launched to introduce the Quality
Retirement Living projects in Tanner Hill and Wetland Park Road.
EiEIEREFITFAE  NELANEL R AEEEER
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OCT + A

“Happy and Healthy Living” Seminar was held to promote the
concept of Quality Retirement Living.

BRI AL FBEE - HEEIMEE RS JROBES:

NOV +— A

The Housing Society started to roll out corporate-wide team
building day camps for all staff.

FEhHEAZEE TEITHEREIIRE -

The 7" Hong Kong Housing Society Awards Presentation
Ceremony was held to present scholarships and bursaries to
65 students from 17 tertiary institutions.
BITELEAAEEHRERYZLETEBERME - mKE
TEREROEAEE ST HERHES -

The Housing Society introduced a Day Care cum
Rehabilitation Centre for Elderly in Ming Wah Dai Ha to
provide care services to the elderly in the district.

EHRBAEAESIAIREARERETL] - ARERER
IR AR

DEC +—AH

The Housing Society launched the Elderly Care Services Programme
in seven estates to provide comprehensive care for the elderly
residents.

FEHRE T EESEIT ERRELER] - AREERREHRENMU
HRRRARTS

The Executive Committee endorsed the increase of all domestic
rents by 6% commencing April 2012 for two years.
WITZEeRAR T —FNARAAMGHEEBHEEES 2
- DR

MAR = A

The Housing Society Elderly Resources Centre was fully renovated
to introduce smart home technology.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERHRE

Since its establishment in 1948, the Housing Society has always
played the role of a “laboratory” in housing provision. We understand
our social mission and have been striving to meet housing demands
not satisfied by the market.

Our history speaks for this. The Housing Society provided the first
rental estate in Hong Kong well before the Housing Authority, or its
predecessor, the Resettlement Department, came onto the scene.
Our Urban Improvement Scheme had been up and running when

the Land Development Corporation which later became the Urban
Renewal Authority was established. The Sandwich Class Housing
Scheme (SCHS), the Building Management and Maintenance
Scheme, the Voluntary Building Assessment Scheme and the Senior
Citizen Residences (SEN) Scheme were some of the initiatives of the
Housing Society.

We injected further impetus to our “housing laboratory” role in the
past year.
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Quality Retirement Living

The population of Hong Kong is ageing. Government statistics suggest
that by 2041, more than 36% of our population will be senior citizens.
Yet no quality housing options addressing the particular housing needs
of our senior citizens have been available on the market until the
Housing Society introduced two SEN projects, Jolly Place and Cheerful
Court, with land at nominal premium from Government.

In SEN, we launched two new ideas: “integrated housing” which is

to blend into housing provision dedicated services for the elderly, and
“lease for life” which realises “ageing in place” and allows the flat to
be recycled upon the passing away of the resident. The success of the
two SEN projects told us that both ideas are viable.

Riding on the SEN experience and taking reference from examples
overseas, the Housing Society now works to a concept of Quality
Retirement Living which is to promote quality lifestyle upon retirement
through the provision of specially-designed and professionally-
managed housing services in a comfortable home environment. The
first two projects are at Tanner Hill in North Point which is now under
construction and Wetland Park Road in Tin Shui Wai.

At Tanner Hill, we shall see three tower blocks of 588 units complete
with a clubhouse and supporting facilities that cater to the health and
medical needs of the elderly residents. At Wetland Park Road, taking
advantage of the open site, the development will be low-rise in a
country-club kind of setting. Other than the 900-plus flats, there will be
a wellness centre and a hotel, with an assortment of purpose-designed
facilities for the elderly.
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In the vicinity of the housing project and as an associated
development, in Tin Shui Wai we are also building, on temporary land,
a Skills Training Centre as well as a village of services outlets. The idea
is that by having these two projects alongside, positive synergy will

be created. These two projects together will add economic vibrancy
to Tin Shui Wai and increase job opportunities. Indeed, to enhance

the commercial appeal of this social project, we are now planning
additional shops, a rural market and open parking spaces in order to
attract customers from outside.

Quality Retirement Living has become a new arm of enterprise for the
Housing Society. As a business model, it will be further developed.
Future opportunities are contingent upon the availability of land.
Moreover, we understand fully that for Quality Retirement Living to
take root and to serve a wider clientele, schemes under it must stay
self-sustaining, following closely the “user-pays” principle.

The “Heya Green” Experience

A particular strength of the Housing Society is market sense and
flexibility. With “Heya Green” in Sham Shui Po, we tested a new
strategy, focusing on market position, target customer groups and
timing. We also experimented with a new disposal arrangement to
promote a concept of “Hong Kong flats for Hong Kong people”.

“Heya Green" flats were put on the market 18 months ahead of their
completion. In the sales we highlighted that our flats are practical,
good quality and “no frills”. To target genuine home buyers and to
curb speculation, we imposed restrictions so that eligibility for ballot
was limited to individuals with proof of residence in Hong Kong. The
response was overwhelming — we had tenfold over-subscription for
the ballot and all the 320 typical flats were sold in one day.

The branding of our offer as “practical but not extravagant” proved
to be successful too. There were favourable comments on our new
disposal method.
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Community support and market acceptance of the bold attempt at
“Heya Green" are real encouragement to all of us. It demonstrates
that our insistence on “quality housing at affordable prices” is the right
way to go, and more importantly, that it is possible for the Housing
Society to be socially responsible and commercially viable at the same
time.

Redevelopment of Rental Estates

For our ageing rental estates, we have a redevelopment programme.
We work to an Integrated Redevelopment Model (IRM) to rebuild
and renew, at the same time adding housing units for the elderly
and new facilities by fully exploiting the development potential of
the site. Our first project was Ming Wah Dai Ha in Shau Kei Wan.
There, 700 tenants were to be moved in order to make room for
Stage 1 of the redevelopment programme. However, works could
not start as scheduled as many tenants insisted on decantation in
situ. In the end, we had to break Stage 1 into two phases in order to
reduce the number of tenants to be affected, at the cost of further
delay to the completion of Stage 1. While the situation is managed
for the time being, we have to be worried about the implications of
this case for progress on Ming Wah Dai Ha, and indeed on the entire
redevelopment programme.

Housing for the Middle-Income Group

In the past, the Housing Society launched the Flat-for-Sale Scheme
(FFSS) and SCHS which met the needs of those who could not afford
private housing but were outside the criteria for public housing. The
schemes were stopped as market conditions changed and upon the
cessation of the Home Ownership Scheme (HOS). Now we are faced
with a new situation. Simply put, the middle-income group of today

is even more hard-pressed than ever before, given the exorbitant
property prices and the very high rent levels. Furthermore, flats on the
market these days are no longer “no frills”. Irrespective of location or
size, they are packaged to be at the luxury end and priced well beyond
the reach of the ordinary first-time home buyers.

[ERINAREASIHEBNHERT -
BHFVE TRANSIHER - — T HER TR
PR RENRERE WA - FEEN
ERATEHEBELEREENREE - TaLE
FEENER -

EIpEE

FEHREETRHECHNEWRETER - M
(AR ERRANERTE  BRENERIE
BE WHAZEBREEMANEREN &
[RUt I — LR E EEEA MR RNE -
BEEENEEEREAERA - F—HEZ
ITRAZRBLAFER AR TLERE
FREZE - TFrEERIER - &RERFEE
EID AR ERETT - AR RZENERE
B - REERLY - HEXENE —HEEH
IR - MAEHEERR - BlFES
BMEREREERE  AEEERPEEAE

pERERR

FiBERENEETRETE IR ROEE
EEFE] - KB AR & S B ER AR
F o BAXTHEREEBMALESR - ZMA
SFEIEMSERRERFEEEEREE]
(TEEDEKRIE - BEBHEEHEEE  HE
K- SENTERE  AEERESSE
PEATE AR RHEE S » 5 - RIS TISHIE
MET  FEAERA/E  TmibHRELKR
N HUARERE  ARERE  —REXE
EAL REEBHEYE-

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT / = fER4%

7



38

It is time that we consider the re-introduction of the SCHS, or some
type of housing similar, to help those caught in the middle. The
Housing Society is well-placed to shoulder this responsibility. We
reckon that with our experience and our nimbleness, within a short
time we should be able to produce a steady supply of 1,000 to 2,000
middle-income housing units a year, which will not rock the market,
even if the HOS is to be resumed.

To find land, we hope to be able to explore new approaches, such

as small-scale development in the urban area, or building on sites
currently vacant and under-used. We are not averse to package deals
such as the re-provisioning of existing community facilities with new
housing units added on top.

On Finance

The accounts of the Housing Society are in a healthy state but the
Housing Society cannot be called rich. Out of the $28 billion we

have in hand, only $18 billion is disposable. Currently, the Housing
Society has at least ten major projects in the pipeline, including the
redevelopment of Ming Wah Dai Ha, the Tsing Luk Street project, the
six urban renewal projects in Shum Shui Po and Shau Kei Wan, and
the two major Quality Retirement Living projects at Tanner Hill and
Wetland Park Road. For these projects, the cash flow requirement will
exceed $20 billion. It is possible that bridging loans from our banks will
be required at some point.

On a recurrent basis, the Housing Society bears a deficit of some
$125 million for operating our rental estates each year. Since 2006,
over $1 billion has been spent on improvements to our buildings,

in areas such as environmental beautification or the upgrading of
electricity networks and lifts. Another $700 million has been budgeted
to provide barrier-free access and enhanced services in our estates.

As ever, financial prudence is crucial to the Housing Society. Hong
Kong is faced with a huge challenge in our housing situation. In
particular, the middle-income group and the elderly require special
attention. The Housing Society has to manage and apply its financial
resources wisely in order to provide services which nobody else will
provide.
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On our Staff

The past year has been a year of hyper activity for the Housing Society.
As a corporate, we have forged ahead to achieve all we had set out to
do at the beginning of the year, keeping to our mission and our focus
on "“catering to the different housing needs of the elderly”.

The business models we have developed for Quality Retirement
Living and Ageing in Place, as well as the new disposal method for our
private flats are gaining community support and market acceptance.
The IRM has made a start and our Elderly Care Services Programme
for our tenants is now firmly rooted, with strengthened support from
the welfare and medical agencies we partner with. We have now

our Skilled Care Team, employing dedicated professionals like social
workers and occupational therapists. In all, we have continued to
improve our facilities and services while introducing new ones.

Recounting the achievements, | appreciate how difficult a year it has
been for the staff. Essentially the Housing Society is fighting on several
fronts: engaging Government in a strategic dialogue, redeveloping

our rental estates, implementing the six urban renewal projects,
pioneering Quality Retirement Living at Tanner Hill and Wetland Park
Road, and initiating the Tsing Luk Street project in Tsing Yi. Progress
has not been always smooth but our staff never relented. Difficulties
were always met head-on, with the determination to overcome them —
the decantation problems in Ming Wah Dai Ha and the restrictions on
piling works at Wetland Park Road are just two recent examples.

In the Housing Society, we have a happy family and a strong team.

| thank all staff for their hard work and unfailing support. They have
done a marvellous job. To the management team, | would in addition
congratulate them for their leadership, entrepreneurial spirit and
ingenuity.
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On my Fellow Board and Committee Members

To be a leader in any industry is hard. To be a self-financing operator
with a social conscience in a highly commercial environment is even
harder. The Housing Society has been fortunate to have a stable corps
of community leaders, Government representatives and well-groomed
professionals as Members of Board and Committees. These high-
calibre individuals provide the vision, the leadership and the networking
for the Housing Society. They work efficiently and in perfect harmony
with staff.

It is my honour and privilege to be amongst such strong company.
Nothing could have been achieved during my six years as Chairman,
if not for the comradeship, the wise counsel, the able assistance and
above all, the ardent support these Members have given me.

A Parting Note

The Housing Society certainly has made major inroads and blazed new
paths in the past years, but the job is never done. Housing is still the
number-one livelihood issue in Hong Kong. The Housing Society has a
wealth of experience, a highly motivated team, and a solid brand. It is
uniquely placed to serve the interests of the community.

Relinquishing the chair after two terms at the job, | am full of
gratitude for all the help | have received, and for a most rewarding and
memorable experience. My wish is that the Housing Society, in future
as in the past, will build success upon success.

1

Yeung Ka-sing
Chairman
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Corporate Structure

Nominating Committee Supervisory Board Audit Committee
REEES S BEZEZEY

Remuneration Committee
TNEEE Executive Committee
WiTZES

Chief Executive Officer and
Executive Director

TTRABERATRARSE

Projects Division Development and Property Management Corporate Planning and
T2 &I Marketing Division Division Finance Division
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Supervisory Board

EEg

Chairman =&

1.

Mr Yeung Ka-sing

GBS, MBE, JP

BRBEE

Chairman, Community Investment and
Inclusion Fund Committee; Member,
Advisory Committee on Post-service
Employment of Civil Servants; Council
Member, City University of Hong Kong;
General Committee Member, Employers’
Federation of Hong Kong; Past Chairman,
Standing Commission on Civil Service
Salaries and Conditions of Service
HEREHZESZESTR  BBLK
EMERBLALTEEGZE  BBHTA
EREGNE  BEEIHMESEFESS
g BB RBEFERRBIGHEHRES
BRIERE

Vice-Chairman BlE &

2.

Mr Marco M H Wu

SBS, FHKIS, FRICS

Rbmig L

Member, Elderly Commission;
Former Director of Buildings, HKSAR
Government; Former President, The
Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors;
Former President, Hong Kong Institute
of Real Estate Administrators
ZESEBEEGERE  HEFITHE
BREFEMER & ISMEER]
gk BEMETHMZGRER

Ex Officio Members ERZ S

3.

Mr Au Choi-kai JP
EB#EERE

Director of Buildings, HKSAR
Government

ERBNTRERNETEER

Mr Jimmy C F Leung JP

REFEEE

Director of Planning, HKSAR Government
FERIITRRBAREIZER

Ms Bernadette H H Linn JP
BERLZT

(since 31 July 2012)

(201267 A318#8)

Director of Lands, HKSAR Government
BEARITHEBMMREZEER

Mr Duncan Warren Pescod JP
BESEE

Permanent Secretary for Transport and
Housing (Housing), HKSAR Government
BBSFNTREBNESRERERTE
wERr (BE)

Members Z&

7.

10.

11.

12.

Mr Chan Bing-woon

SBS, MBE, JP, LLB, Hon FHKIH, Hon
FHIREA, MCIArb, AHKIArb, FHKIoD
BRIRIG &

Solicitor and Notary Public, Yung, Yu,
Yuen & Co; Accredited Mediator
HARBURANTAA : Rl AEE

Mr William C W Chau MH
BHEEEE

CEO, Investment 21 Co Ltd
D BEHRER AT ESHLIE

Mr Ronald Y H Ho

CA, CPA, FCPA, MBA
{ATERF SR

Chairman, Ascent Partners

NHHEEXE

Ir Edgar C P Kwan JP
BRI

Deputy Managing Director, SOCAM
Asset Management (HK) Ltd
IhWEEXEEERE (B%8) GRAR
BlESFBLIE

Mr Lawrence Y M Lam

MEBELE

Consultant, KAM & FAN Solicitors &
Notaries

SR EREMEB AR

Sr Serena S W Lau

MBA(HKU), FHKIS, AAPI, MRICS,
RPS(GP),

IR ER

(since 27 September 2011)

(2011479 278H#8)

Managing Director, RHL International Ltd
KFTTERBESRKIR
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13.

14.

15.

Sr Dr Tony KT Leung

PhD, MSc(IRE) (Dist), BSSc(Hons),
FRICS, MHKIS, RPS(GP), FHIREA
RRRE LR EM

(since 27 September 2011)
(20114F9A27HE)

Chairman of TL Property Consultants
International Ltd, TL Property
Consultants (Shanghai) Ltd, Shanghai
TL Hotel Management Ltd and

Shanghai TL Property Management Ltd;
Executive Director of Parkland Property
Management Ltd and Parkland Facility
Management Ltd; Member, Appeal
Tribunal Panel, Planning and Lands
Branch, Development Bureau; Founder
Chairman and Past President, Hong Kong
Real Estate Administrators
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FEiERR (8) ARAR - BEER
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Mr Alex C W Lui

BRESLE

Council Member and Chairman of
Campus Development Committee,

The Hong Kong Polytechnic University;
Former Managing Director, Simon Kwan
& Associates Ltd; Former Professor,
Department of Architecture, The Chinese
University of Hong Kong; Former Senior
Advisor, Urban Design & Architectural
Services, Hysan Development Ltd
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& BAERAR M =BT ARARIAES
IR - BT NARBREEZAHEK - &
BREERATAIMMARERELEEHKE
REAR

Mr Timothy K W Ma JP

BRELE

(since 27 September 2011)

(2011479 A27H )

Senior Project Consultant, Franchizing
and Licensing, Senior Citizen Home
Safety Association

RERE RS /85N E R RS20 = AR IE
B Eaf



1. 2.
3. 4. 5. 6.
7 8. 9.
10. 1. 12.
13. 14. 15.

13



Supervisory Board
EExe

Members Z8

16. Prof Kenneth T W Pang
SBS, FHKIS, FRICS, RPS(GP),
MPA(Harvard)
HHEERR
Former Commissioner of Rating and
Valuation, HKSAR Government; Adjunct
Professor, The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University; Honorary Professor, The
University of Hong Kong
BBRRIITRIRBUT AT = Y (5EF
ER  BBEBEIRBERAERE  BBERE
BRI

17. Mr Brian Renwick
FHITEE
Managing Partner, Boyden China Ltd
Boyden FEID ARIAITERA

18. Mr lan Grant Robinson
EERELEE
Former Senior Partner, Ernst & Young;
Managing Director, Robinson
Management Ltd; Independent Director
and Chairman of the Audit Committee of
ENM Holdings Ltd* and China Medicine
Corporation*; Director and Chief Financial
Officer of L&L Energy, Inc#; Chairman
of the Board of Rock City Energy
Corporation#; Director and Member of
numerous private companies and NGOs
ZXBEFMEBAISRERA  BER
FERARAFMITES + ZEERAR
A A]* &2 China Medicine Corporation#J&
VEERFENZESEF, L&AL Energy,
Inc*EE R %5485+ Rock City Energy
Corporation*E 2R FfE i Z{EFLAKE

RIEBNHE#ZEEREE

* aHong Kong public company
HELETRAT

# aUS public company
EB AR

19. Mr James K L Siu
BEc, FCA(Aust), FCPA
WEEELE
Executive Director, Li & Fung (1937) Ltd;
Former Group Chief Compliance Officer
of four listed companies within Li & Fung
(1937) Group; Former Member, SFC Dual
Filing Advisory Group; Former Deputy
Chairman of Corporate Governance
Committee, HKICPA; Former Partner-
in-charge of Hong Kong audit practice,
Coopers & Lybrand (currently
PricewaterhouseCoopers)
FE937)ERARMITESE : FIBE
ERERAH(REEEATHE EmA
A): BEGAEEFEEERERN/NERK
B BAgMAgRrEEAZERE
FE RAGE RN ETST (RIBAE LR
NERFHRI RN A B ARBAEZ
EEEE

20.

21.

22.

23.

24.

Mr Victor HW So

MBE, JP, FCIH, FRICS, FHKIH, FHKIS
BENLE

Former Executive Director and Advisor,
Kerry Properties Ltd
EEERARDFRINITES RER

Mr Wilson C Wong

EFHERE

Group Consultant, Income Ace Ltd;
Former Senior General Manager, Dao
Hang Bank

HEBRARSEERER : BEFRITAIEMR
FErcse

Mr Wong Kit-loong

B(BA), RPHM, MCIH, MHKIH
EHRELE

Chief Executive Officer and Executive
Director, Hong Kong Housing Society

EEFEHSTTRAHFNTRRSE

Dr Kennedy Y H Wong

BBS, DCL, JP

EREEHL

National Committee Member, Chinese
People’s Political Consultative
Conference; Honorary Consul General in
Hong Kong SAR, The Republic of Albania;
Deputy Commissioner (Administration),
Civil Aid Service Hong Kong; Member,
Hong Kong — Taiwan Business
Co-operation Committee; Managing
Partner, Philip K H Wong, Kennedy Y

H Wong & Co, Solicitors & Notaries;
Chairman, Hong Kong Resources
Holdings Co Ltd and 3D-GOLD Jewellery
Group

2EBHEE  MREEEHEMEEES
HEREE  RRL2RBEIARRGET
B BE-QEREAIFEESEE &
HTRESENEBMEREARA B8
BRIERABRARIRCEEEBERE

Mr Frankie Y L Wong

BEARKE

Managing Director, Shui On Holdings Ltd
IR BEARARERRLE
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Ms Annie KL Tam JP
BEELL

(Ex Officio Member)
(BARZEE)

(up to 30 June 2012)
(Z201246A308)
Director of Lands, HKSAR
Government

BRFAITRERMHEEER

Mr Wong Chung-hang JP

B EE

(Ex Officio Member)

(BAEE)

(from 1 July 2012 to 30 July 2012)
(820127 A1 BE2012F7A308)
Director of Lands (Acting), HKSAR
Government
EARRTRERTEEEEE
ZK

Mr Victor H F Chan

(up to 27 September 2011)
(Z201149A27H)

General Manager — China Property,
MTR Corporation Ltd
EREBRERARBLERE

- REIYZE

Mrs Agnes P Y Mak

MH, JP

EWEHELL

(up to 27 September 2011)
(Z201149R278)

Executive Director, Hong Kong
Productivity Council
EREENRERER

Dr Peter K S Pun

SBS, OBE, PhD, MA, MTCP, BA,
FHKIP, MRTPI, RPP

EBEEELT

(up to 27 September 2011)
(Z201149R278)

Former Director of Planning, HKSAR
Government; Honorary Adviser,
Vision Planning Consultants Ltd;
Vice-Chairman and Former Chief
Executive (Voluntary), Hong Kong
Policy Research Institute; Honorary
Professor, The University of Hong
Kong
ERRITRERNAIREBEER
A TR BB AR AR B ERE
B BBBORAEAMEI R RAIRY
THER  BBREZEBHE

Prof Dr Dominic S W Wong (late)
GBS, OBE, JP
HEEWMIHT(EHR)

(up to April 2012)

(ZE2012548)
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Executive Committee

HITEES

Chairman =&

1. Mr Yeung Ka-sing
GBS, MBE, JP

BREBLE

Chairman, Community
Investment and Inclusion
Fund Committee; Member,
Advisory Committee on
Post-service Employment
of Civil Servants; Council
Member, City University

of Hong Kong; General
Committee Member,
Employers’ Federation of
Hong Kong; Past Chairman,
Standing Commission on
Civil Service Salaries and
Conditions of Service
HEEERXZESZEEE
& B AT B ERFA
HEEGZE MWK
BEREGHE  BEETH
EEEEERE  BELK
SFELRBEERBES
RIS

Vice-Chairman glxE

2. Mr Marco M H Wu

SBS, FHKIS, FRICS
BB E

Member, Elderly
Commission; Former
Director of Buildings,
HKSAR Government;
Former President, The
Hong Kong Institute

of Surveyors; Former
President, Hong Kong
Institute of Real Estate
Administrators
LEEBELZEGELE
BEBEFEITHRBNE
FERER BBANE
MmEgigRr: &8
ETHMEgneR

Members £5

3. Mr Duncan Warren Pescod Jp

BEaxE

(Ex Officio Member)

(BRZEE)

Permanent Secretary for
Transport and Housing
(Housing), HKSAR Government
BEFNTHRRBMERMERE
BEIENER(BE)

Mr Wong Kit-loong
B(BA), RPHM, MCIH, MHKIH

AL

Chief Executive Officer and
Executive Director, Hong Kong
Housing Society
BEEEHEITRAERFRITE
BE
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Mr Bosco C K Fung
SBS, MPhil, MTCP, MPIA,
MRTPI (Rtd), FHKIP

BEREE

Director, Urban Renewal
Fund Ltd; Former
Director of Planning,
HKSAR Government;
Former President, Hong
Kong Institute of Planners
TEEFESARAA
BE BEBRATHEREK
FRIRBEAEZEER  BEHR

FEEgRER

Mr Chan Ka-kui

BBS, JP

BB

Council Member, City
University of Hong

Kong; Former Chairman,
Construction Industry
Training Authority
EEMTARERESG K
8 BEFEJRBATER



Mr Robert M K Young
BRE&SE

Chairperson, Friends of the
Earth (HK)

BB REE

Mr Lincoln KK Leong Jr
Deputy Chief Executive
Officer, MTR Corporation Ltd
ERBEERATRIITERERE

Mr Joseph W K Fan
JP, FCA (AUST), FCPA

REREE

Member, Hong Kong Housing
Authority; Consultant,

RSM China Certified Public
Accountants, Beijing
BEAFEZE®ZE R
WEES BT
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10. Ms Loretta P C Ho

11.

AHELZE

Independent Non-Executive Director,
HKR International Ltd
BEEEREEEEINTES

Mr Walter K L Chan
SBS, JP

PRERGEEHE

Consultant, So, Lung & Associates
Solicitors; Consultant, Rowland Chow,
Chan & Co, Solicitors; Non-Executive
Director, Urban Renewal Authority;
Chairman, Appeal Tribunal Panel
(Buildings), Development Bureau;
Member, Education Commission;
Council Member, Hong Kong Federation
of Youth Groups; Council Member,
Oxfam Hong Kong
BRPEFEAD =75 AR RS AT ¢ HPRAERTT
FEEM  MEERBIERITESE © &
EBRFFREHECGEEY) R  HER
E£ZE89Z8  BEETHYRE %
HEEE

n
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12. Ms Katherine S L Hung

A NEL L

Fellow, The Hong Kong Polytechnic University;
Tianjin Committee Member of the 12t Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference

of the People’s Republic of China; Member,
Estate Agents Authority; Director, Chinese
Academy of Governance (HK) Industry &
Commercial Professionals Alumni Association;
Court Member, The Hong Kong University

of Science and Technology; Court Member,
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University;
Steering Committee Member of Institute

for Enterprise, The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University; Honorary Court Member, Lingnan
University; Director, Li Ka-shing Foundation Ltd;
Independent Non-Executive Director, Cheung
Kong (Holdings) Ltd; Advisor, Hong Kong Young
Women's Christian Association
EREBIRERLT  PEARANBE+—ERX
ERHEE  MERBEERZE - FEERT
B2 (BB IHEXRAEFRSE  HARERK
ZEMEZEENE ABEIAZENEZEEN
B BABIXRBRERRREEEE  EEAK
BREFZELTE FRAECGERAAE
FRIBZ(EE)BERADBIFNTES
BEEEEHRLFFEREM

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE / $i17£ 8 &
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Other Committees

HZES

Audit Committee
BEXEESE

Mr lan Grant Robinson (Chairman)

BEELEE

Dr Chung Shui-ming, 6ss, Jp
ERAELT

Ir Edgar C P Kwan, Jr
BAF T2AT

Mr Patrick L C Lau, sss
ZImBELE

Sr Serena S W Lau
BIFFEE R 2D

SrDr Tony KT Leung
RRRETRERD

Prof Kenneth T W Pang, sas
B b 6]

Dr Kennedy Y H Wong, 58s, Jp
EREEL

Mr Alex C W Lui
ERMSL

(up to 27 September 2011)
(E201199/27A)

The Hon Eddie H K Ng, sas, up
REM@EE

(up to 30 June 2012)
(F20129F6 4304 )

Nominating Committee
REZEEE

Mr Yeung Ka-sing, GBS, MBE, JP (Chairman)

BRBEE D

Mr Duncan Warren Pescod, Jp
BESLE

(Ex Officio Member)

(BEAZSE)

Mr Marco M H Wu, sas
Bbmig L

Mr David C Lee, B8s, /P

FERLE

Mr William C W Chau, v+
AEEEE

Prof Kenneth T W Pang, sas
Bt b 6]

Mr Wong Kit-loong
HAHERE

Remuneration Committee
FNESE

Ms Loretta P C Ho (chairman)
AHE Ltz

Mr William C W Chau, v+
AEEEE

(since 22 September 2011)
(F1201149/22H#)

Mr David C Lee 88s, Jp
TEERE

Dr Kim K M Mak, sss, Jp
BREEL

Mr James C Ng
REHEE

Mr Ronald Y H Ho
fATER R o

(up to 27 September 2011)
(F2011469/278)

The Hon Eddie H K Ng, sss, Jp
REMEE

(up to 30 June 2012)
(220126 H30H)

Prof Dr Dominic S W Wong, GBs, 0OBE, JP (iate)

EEEHEITHB =0
(up to April 2012)
(220124F45)

Ad Hoc Committee on
Fund Management
ELEBEEWRESE

Mr Lincoln K K Leong, Jr (Chairman)
RERELE xR

Mr Stuart H Leckie, 0Bk, s

FHERE

Mr Robert W T Leung
REKERE

Mrs Marian S M Li
EHREXLZ L

(since 17 November 2011)
(20114118176 4#)

Mr lan Grant Robinson

BERFLE

Mr Jacob C Tsang
EWELE
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Special Committee on
Elderly Housing
REEERBHIEEE

Mr Marco M H Wu, s8s (Chairman)
ERRIB R (zm)

Mr Yeung Ka-sing, GBs, MBE, JP
BRELE

(Ex Officio Member)

(BEAZE)

Mr Wong Kit-loong
EHEELE

(Ex Officio Member)
(BEAZE)

Ms Ophelia C L Chan, sss
PRE#zt
Mr Chan Ka-kui, 88s, Jp

PR B 4

Ms Loretta P C Ho
fAIMELZL

Ms Katherine S L Hung
HNEL L

Ms Leonie M F Ki, sas, up
LB Lt

Mr Alex C W Lui
EREsE

Prof David P Y Lung, s8s, MBE, JP

EEMERR

Mr Timothy K W Ma, Jp
BRELE



The Directorate
ITHEE

1 Mr Wong Kit-loong
B(BA), RPHM, MCIH, MHKIH
Chief Executive Officer and
Executive Director

BHERE
THRAHFNTERSE

2 Mrs Margaret W S Chan
BBA(Hons), PGD-ITB(City U HK), MBA(CUHK),
CPA(Aust), MIHRM(HK)

Director (Corporate Planning and
Finance)

Rk 2+
e (ERE R

3 MrJacky KSlIp
BSc(Hons), FHKIH, FCIH, RPHM
Director (Property Management)

BEREAE
HE(MEER)

Mr Daniel K S Lau
BSocSc, MRICS, MHKIS

Director (Development and Marketing)
BIEMEE
BEWMEERETHER)

Mr Franki K'Y Yeung
BA(AS), B.Bldg, FRICS, FHKIS, MCIArb,
AAIQS, RPS(QS)

Director (Projects)
BRI EE
MBEL(TRERE])
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Meeting Veeds

1. The “Heya Green” in Sham Shui Po
was well received by the market
RRKENIERIERERZ TS

2. The "Joyous Living" project at
Tanner Hill is expected to complete

by end-2014
[EREEINAZLEBEHR -F
— AR

3. The H21 project in Shau Kei Wan will
provide a mix of private residential
and elderly housing with retail outlets
A EEENH2ITBER KREFAAR
REBN - WRTEEH



Property Development
YIzRER

No. of Units
BUHAE

N 10,360
I 8,920
I 5,620
I 3.146

1,198

[ 576

Rental Estat
i 31,962 epsicee

Flat-For-Sale Scheme
EEEETE

Sandwich Class Housing Scheme
T B &

grban Improvement Scheme

R st

Full Market Value Development

mEFERE

Rural Public Housing
BEAAEE

Senior Citizen Residences Scheme

[REREENERTE

To the Housing Society, property development means more than the
mere provision of housing stock. We build to create lifestyles and
wellness.

A particular strength of the Housing Society is our ability to fill gaps
between the public sector and the private sector, targeting niche
markets. To stay focused, we conduct regular studies and reviews to
identify changing housing needs of different sectors and develop new
ways to meet them.

In 1999, the Housing Society embarked upon a “lease for life”
concept and created an “ageing in place” model. Under this approach,
we started the Senior Citizen Residences (SEN) Scheme targeting
elderly persons of middle-income background. Purpose-built flats with
comprehensive care and supporting facilities were made available

for senior citizens to apply with a means test. Successful applicants
pay for the flat and the services, on the full understanding that when
they pass away, the flats would be reverted to the Housing Society
for re-allocation. The two projects under SEN, namely Jolly Place and
Cheerful Court, were highly successful. Their full take-up rate, as well
as over 330 applicants remaining in the queue, convinced us that more
efforts are required in this direction. This is especially so as, according
to government statistics, by 2041 more than 36% of the population of
Hong Kong will be senior citizens aged 60 or above.

“Catering to the Different Housing Needs of the Elderly” is now
central to our planning. We are keen to explore new-style housing
projects for the elderly and extend coverage to those with different
levels of ability to pay.

Given limited resources, there is no prospect that the Housing Society
can meet fully the demand for purpose-built housing for the elderly in
Hong Kong. Our hope is that by pioneering boldly and flexibly, we may
be able to set some useful precedents for other agencies, or indeed
the market, to follow.
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1

The Housing Society introduced

a Day Care cum Rehabilitation
Centre for Elderly in Ming Wah
Dai Ha to cater to the elderly
needs within the estate and the
neighbourhood
FEHRIAERNES# &ERBERE
L BEBAREARENTE

Jolly Place is one of the pilot
projects of the Senior Citizen
Residences Scheme providing
"one-stop” services to the elderly
tenants

fpafERl RERELIEEEIES
—(EHRIAR - RREEPRMHI U

= JHI AR

Ageing in Place (AIP) is a model that enables the elderly to age in
grace, living in the same neighbourhood and enjoying services and
support specially tailored to their needs.

According to recent statistics, about 96% of senior citizens prefer to
live and be cared for in the community they consider their own. That
argues strongly for AIP which is itself a well-established policy of
Government.

Promoting AIP has been recognised as a strategic objective of the
Housing Society. This objective is pursued in different ways under
different circumstances. There are programmes and projects, large
and small, to meet changing needs and to suit diverse levels of
affordability. The more prominent of our efforts in the past year are
outlined below.

One of the significant steps towards AlP is the formulation of a
housing-cum-service model for our ageing tenants (currently about
20% of the population is 60 or above) which was developed from a
study undertaken by the Sau Po Centre on Ageing of The University of
Hong Kong. Under this model, care for the elderly tenants is accepted
as a shared responsibility amongst the elderly tenants, their family
members and the Housing Society. The main thrust is to efficiently
leverage community resources to meet the housing, social and health
needs of the elderly.

We shall pilot the model in one of our rental estates in the coming
year, following the "“user-pays” principle for the provision of services.
Subject to review and further improvement, we hope to extend the
model to our other rental estates as appropriate.

A key feature of AIP is the creation of a special team to operate
care-related facilities such as Residential Care Homes for the Elderly
and Day Care Centres in our AIP housing projects. When fully

[BERZZ |NEAREERE I NERREE
Wt REERE - RSB AMMImRARG
MM o

RIONBBRT  SFEADZNTANRESR
EREAEMPIPEMLRAEERGIENER
B EHRRIERZEINHE - METER
FF TRV REEFE OB ©

B ERLE IREHORBARZ — - RE
ZEEBE - FipEEERE DT EER A
ZIMIER - UELA TRFBREEERE NN K
E o LTS RRMEFEETENE T -

BPRIEEEREFEZFHITH O FTAE
R ARERETEBNREGEBEIZ-1
HWEBEFP RN THRALNES) ZIURE
REANRBEN - ERERIERLZ |INER
—F - BEEAT BERENETH=77H
HEFAE - DRIRREAAN - REORANE
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EFEMINRIHATEERN - REBIERE
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ETE
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Housing Society Elderly Resources Centre has been renovated with smart home technology

[FEipEEREERT O ETE2EEN - SIERME R

established, the special team will comprise professionals like nurses,
physiotherapists, occupational therapists, social workers and frontline
elderly care workers. To ensure seamless quality service, the team
will collaborate with other service agents which are partners of the
Housing Society.

Another AIP initiative is the establishment of our Elderly Resources
Centre (ERC) in 2005 in Yau Ma Tei. There, we provide education,
interactive games and assessment services, all aimed at increasing
the awareness of the elderly in healthy lifestyles and home safety.

At ERC, occupational therapists and social workers are on hand to
answer queries and give advice to visitors. This service is open to the
community.

In 2008, ERC extended its ambit of service to outdoor activities of the
elderly, with the purpose of reducing risks when the elderly is away
from home. ERC was renovated in 2012, at the same time introducing
most advanced elderly-friendly home facilities and multi-media
interactive installations from overseas, under the i-Home concept.

i-Home is a joint project between the Housing Society and Innovation
and Technology Commission of Government. Launched in March
2012, i-Home demonstrates that elderly persons can monitor, through
a flat-screen computer, their own health conditions according to
benchmarks set by professionals and have electronic devices in their
homes under remote control. As the i-Home system continuously
collects data on the blood pressure, pulse oximetry, heart rate and the
activity pattern of the user, the general health condition of the elderly
person is monitored centrally. Any unusual change can trigger an alarm
— for example, where surveillance by infra-red light is available, any
sudden or abrupt movement of the elderly person (e.qg. falling down at
home) will alert the caretaker immediately.
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The Housing Society pioneers the “Joyous Living” Quality
Retirement Living platform

EmFERA EREE BB BERKEREFE

Launched in February 2012, “Joyous Living” is a Quality Retirement
Living initiative of the Housing Society modeled on the best practices
worldwide. It is specially designed to meet the needs of the elderly
who are willing to pay for quality services and a “one-stop” worry-free
retirement lifestyle.

“Joyous Living” provides a continuum of professional healthcare and
skilled care services in cosy ambience and at the living place of the
elderly on a “user-pays” principle. With “Joyous Living”, the elderly
person is able to enjoy life in a carefree style, without the hassle of
having to make arrangements themselves or going too far away from
home for amenities. Under such circumstances, they can foster better
family bonding and cultivate new hobbies and friendships in their own
stride.

To promote “Joyous Living”, we introduced a “Joyous Living”
membership platform and a website in February 2012. This free
membership platform welcomes all people aged 55 or above. The
online platform (www.joyousliving.hkhs.com) provides news about
“Joyous Living” projects and there is an interactive “Members’
Corner” where members can post articles, share ideas, participate in
surveys and pursue e-learning. An online magazine — Joyous Tribune
— jointly run by “Joyous Living” and professional partners (such as
doctors, lawyers, financial consultants), offers useful tips on happy
and healthy retirement. Basic legal and investment advice to help the
elderly safeguard their financial assets, or lessons on interpersonal
skills for them to strengthen social bonding, are typical examples.

As at end April 2012, “Joyous Living” members totaled more than
1,100. Continued growth in membership in the coming years is
expected.

The “Joyous Living” idea will be further realised via two projects in the
pipeline, Tanner Hill in North Point and Wetland Park Road in Tin Shui
\Wai respectively.

A "Happy and Healthy Living” Seminar was held to promote active
retirement living
BRI N AR - HEEEORINES
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The Tanner Hill Project

The Tanner Hill Project, located at a prime site in North Point, is to
provide 588 housing units of different sizes for the more affluent
elderly in three tower blocks. The layout of the development and the
units, as well as the facilities to be provided, are customised to the
needs and the interests of the retired. There will be a clubhouse with
a variety of club facilities such as gymnasium, indoor swimming pool,
library and business centre. Care services will be provided by our
own specialist team with appropriate competency and experience.

In addition, wellness services will be provided by well-established
agencies. To ensure the end product meeting the needs and aspirations
of targeted customers, off-site mock-up flats were built to enable us
to put preliminary design, layout, finishes and fittings provisions and
standard to test.

The completion of this project is targeted for end-2014. A major
breakthrough was achieved during the year. After negotiations, we
finally reached agreement with Government on the land premium
chargeable.

Under the site supervision of our project team, the contract for the
site formation and foundation modification works has been awarded
a Bronze Medal under the “Considerate Contractors Site Award
Scheme”.

The Wetland Park Road Project

In Tin Shui Wai along Wetland Park Road and facing the Wetland Park,
our project, code-named TSW115, is to provide an integrated elderly
community of about 950 retirement housing units in a low-to-medium-
rise environment, a wellness centre and a hotel.

Completion of the project is towards the end of 2018. Approval for
the Master Layout Plan was received from the Town Planning Board
(TPB) during the year after our different environmental-related studies
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and considerable discussion with different government departments
regarding requirements on planning, design and other project aspects.
In spite of all these, foundation works could still not commence owing
to stringent requirements imposed, including a dry-season construction
ban and some special trial piling requirements. Furthermore, the Lands
Department is currently processing the application for the land grant of
TSW115.

In the face of all these constraints and difficulties, we managed to
kick start the trial piling last year based on an environment-friendly and
non-percussive pile installation method which, upon completion, will
confirm the piling system to be adopted to suit the peculiarities of the
site.

Alongside the elderly community project at TSW115, we are
pioneering another one, code-named TSW112b, which is to provide on
a temporary site a skills training centre and an elderly service centre
with commercial facilities. The project in the main is to bring social
and economic vibrancy as well as additional job opportunities to the
Tin Shui Wai community. Over the past year, we have successfully
overcome difficulties surrounding this project — obtaining planning
approval, securing short-term tenancy of seven years and identifying
partner agencies which share our vision in serving the community.

The Vocational Training Council will be responsible for running the skills
training centre. The courses to be provided will pertain to the needs

of the community at TSW115. Examples are elderly care, cooking and
hospitality services.

Close to the skills training centre, there will be a cluster of services
outlets for the elderly, including clinics, acupuncture, day care

and rehabilitation centres. To add to the commercial appeal of the
project and to create more jobs for the local residents, shops of a
greater variety, open space for retail and a large parking lot are under
consideration for the purpose of attracting visitors. Completion is
expected by end of 2013.

Foundation works of the Tanner Hill project had been
completed and followed by superstructure works
R=LIEE B e ETE - BEAIRMA FETE

The "Joyous Living” project at Wetland Park Road will
blend in with the natural environment to create a resort
lifestyle for the retirees
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Trial piling was carried out at the Wetland Park Road project

for the sake of the ecological environment
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Ming Wah Dai Ha built in the 60s will be redeveloped by phases based on the Integrated Redevelopment Model

RARTFRERNPAERE A A EREX | D HER

The rental portfolio of the Housing Society comprises 20 estates.
Among them, eight estates are over 40 years old. Owing to wear and
tear, these estates naturally require a high level of maintenance. For
these estates, a programme of general improvement and rehabilitation
is in place, but the utility of this expensive programme is decreasing
with time, given the age of the buildings and the constraints imposed
by the layout of the estates and the archaic design of the blocks.

The Integrated Redevelopment Model

Older estates under the Housing Society normally have unexploited
development potential. In the past, the Housing Society has
successfully redeveloped its first-generation estates to provide
additional housing units. This has inspired us to develop an Integrated
Redevelopment Model (IRM).

Under IRM, new elements are introduced into the site upon
redevelopment, making use of the previously under-used plot ratio.
Besides housing units to replace those to be demolished, additional
ones for specific purposes, such as housing for the elderly and small
households with a higher ability to pay are provided. Moreover, new-
style elderly and recreational facilities, as well as commercial units
can be included as appropriate. The end product is a re-invigourated
community with optimal mix of residents and upgraded amenities.
Ming Wah Dai Ha was chosen as a pilot project of the IRM.

Ming Wah Dai Ha

Ming Wah Dai Ha, built in the early sixties, is a 13-block estate housing
some 6,000 residents. The Planning Brief for the redevelopment was
approved by the TPB in May 2011. Under the Plan, Ming Wah Dai Ha
is to be redeveloped in two phases, with six blocks in Stage 1. The
700 odd affected tenants are to be offered alternative accommodation
in other blocks of Ming Wah Dai Ha or in Kwun Lung Lau and other
estates, where units have been held vacant for decanting purposes.
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Year No. of Units Project
F4  EBEuHE 1EH
2013 N 327 e

2014 e 274
2015 I 130
2015 N 175

2016 I 350

2016 275

Shau Kei Wan Road / Nam On Street, Shau Kei Wan
BHACHESE/ AR

Cﬁastle Peak Road / Cheung Wah Street, Sham Shui Po
FOKBHILE/ EFES

Castle Peak Road / Hing Wah Street, Sham Shui Po
K L8/ FE

Qastle Peak Road / Un Chau Street, Sham Shui Po
FKBF LB/ TN

Un Chau Strqet[fgkﬁWing Street, Sham Shui Po
FOKE TN /AR

Progress however has not been smooth as some affected tenants
insisted on in-situ rehousing. Responding to such requests, we finally
adjusted the overall plan, breaking up Stage 1 into two phases. The
first batch of tenants to be decanted was reduced to around 300.

The revised approach may mean a delay of four to five years. On
present outlook, the first phase of Stage 1 will be completed in 2019.

Obviously, the situation at Ming Wah Dai Ha has implications to the
entire redevelopment programme. We are reviewing the overall
redevelopment plan, especially as to how the demand for in-situ
rehousing can be met or managed.

Sales and Marketing

In the year, the Housing Society initiated a major review of our sales
and marketing strategy, drawing on our past experience with the four
private projects for sale since 1998. In particular, we reviewed our
market position, our target customer groups and whether we should
time our sales to ride on market sentiments.

This review was necessary as we have in the pipeline six urban
renewal projects for disposal, five in Sham Shui Po and one in Shau Kei
Wan. “Heya Green” in Sham Shui Po is the first on offer.

At “Heya Green”, we put to test a new strategy, targeting first-time
home buyers (young couples and singletons) and upgraders (larger
families in the neighbourhood). We also timed our sales to be in tune
with the market, to start 18 months ahead of completion of the project.
Since our flats are practically designed with high usable floor areas
(80% efficiency), and our flats are known to be of good quality, we
very successfully branded our offer as “practical but not extravagant”
which has since become well-known.
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The “Heya Green"” show flats
attracted a lot of visitors

[EH 8 REEN
B AT RSE

For “Heya Green”, we also introduced one very special disposal
arrangement which was exemplary in Hong Kong. The idea is “Hong
Kong flats for Hong Kong people”. Under this, sale is by ballot. To
qualify for the ballot, the buyer must produce proof that he or she

is a Hong Kong resident. To ensure that this requirement achieves

its purpose and to curb speculative activities, there are associated
restrictions attached to the sale, such as “one person one flat” and the
barring of purchase through a company.

“Heya Green" in the end attracted an enthusiastic response. All its
320 typical flats were sold in one day.

The success of “Heya Green” reaffirms the viability and acceptance of
the “practical but not extravagant” branding by the market. The special
disposal arrangement was warmly welcomed by the public and the
media. The experience is useful reference for the rest of our private
housing projects.

In the 2010 Policy Address, the Chief Executive of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region introduced a new housing scheme —
My Home Purchase Plan (MHPP) — to be undertaken by the Housing
Society.

The Plan aims to help households or single persons who have the
long-term ability to purchase a flat but do not have enough savings for
the down payment to rent an MHPP flat first and save up the required
down payment to purchase a flat in future. Under the Plan, the
Housing Society will build and lease the flats to eligible applicants at
prevailing market rents for up to five years. Tenants may at any point
buy the flat they are occupying at prevailing market price, or choose to
buy property elsewhere and terminate the lease. In both cases, they
will receive a subsidy equivalent to half of the net rent paid over the
lease period, which will go towards the down payment required. Since
there will be no adjustment to the rent payable during the five-year
period, tenants should be able to plan their finances and save for their
part of the down-payment.
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Enhancement measures to the plan were introduced by the Chief
Executive in the following year. In addition to providing an option

for the applicants to buy upfront, a protective mechanism would be
offered to the applicant who chooses to “rent-and-buy”. That is, if he
chooses to lease, the price of the flat when it is first put up for sale
would be taken as the ceiling price. He may subsequently purchase
the flat at the ceiling price or at the prevailing market price, whichever is
lower.

The enhancement was intended to help target families save up for
home ownership. However, in view of the strong urge for supply of
affordable flats on the market for home ownership, and as one of

the measures to stabilise the property market, in late August 2012,
Government decided to only sell the flats of the first MHPP project at a
discounted price to the target group originally eligible under the MHPP.

The first pilot project is now under construction at Tsing Luk Street
in Tsing Yi. It will provide 988 small and medium-sized “no-frills”
units with basic recreational facilities. Foundation works have been
completed and superstructure works are in progress. Our target is to
offer the flats for pre-sale in early 2013.

1 The project in Tsing
Luk Street of Tsing
Yiis undergoing
superstructure works
N EREEENEER
T EETR

2 Photo illustration of the
Tsing Luk Street project
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1. Conducting body checks to take
care of the health of the elderly
REBETSEES - @
B ER

2. Management maintains close
contact with tenants
ERELTHERRBRERT AR

3. The Housing Society Community
celebrated the Year of the Dragon
with over 800 elderly tenants
Bz RIENBZERERER
HMBESF



Property Management
YIEEE

Population of Properties Managed by the Housing Society
EHEEMENEFAR

(as at 31 March 2012)
(BE=—T——F=A=1+—H1)

I 53,529 [

N 4,588
I 15,209
PN 4,312
N 25,205
11,762
N 3,275
I 713

Rural Public Housing
BEAHER

Sandwich Class Housing Scheme
OB EEERE

Urban Improvement Scheme
RS

Flat-For-Sale Scheme

FEHREE

Tenant Purchase Scheme
HEBHEE

Full Market Value Development

MEFEREAR

Senior Citizen Residences Scheme
[REREE] FEE

The Housing Society has 20 rental estates, accommodating around
88,200 residents in 33,133 units. Our portfolio also includes about
120,000 square meters of commercial space and over 9,000 car-
parking units.

In addition, the Housing Society has been providing building
management services to 20,064 private flats in 24 properties, apart
from the 11,652 units in the Tenants Purchase Scheme and 6,847
units in the five properties entrusted to the Housing Society for
management by the Housing Authority (HA).

Quality Management

Our rental estates and properties are managed well. Hard evidences
are in the physical state of the estates and the awards bestowed on
the Housing Society.

In 2011, the Housing Society continued to be honoured in respect of
the property management services it provides. In aggregate, there
were eight awards for quality management from the Hong Kong 5-S
Association, three from the Occupational Safety and Health Council,
85 from either the Water Supplies Department or the Electrical and

Mechanical Services Department on energy efficiency, and many more

on security services from the Police Force and the various District
Councils.

The Housing Society stood out in the Estate Management Services
Contractors Awards 2011 hosted by HA winning a number of awards,
including Gold in Best Property Services Agent (Safety Management),
Silver in Best Estate Manager (Maintenance), and Bronze in Best

Property Services Agent (Public Rental Housing) and Best Public Rental

Housing Estate (Property Services). Similarly, a number of Housing
Society estates were “star-rated” in a campaign held in Kowloon
West.
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The Housing Society excelled in the Estate Management Services
Contractors Awards in consecutive years
B E S 0 RO E IR ARG A RS P ESE R

Equally well commended were our property management personnel.
In February 2012, 10 building supervisors and attendants from Lai
Tak Tsuen and Ming Wah Dai Ha received recognition from the Police
Force, the District Office and the District Council. Eight building

supervisors and building attendants from Cascades and Jubilant Place,

June Garden, Cronin Garden and Ka Wai Chuen were named Best
Security Personnel in the Kowloon West Best Security Awards.

To involve the staff, especially those on the front line, we introduced
a mechanism called Quality Enhancement Team (QET) in 2002 to
promote creativity and self-initiated continuous improvement in
property management services. Last year, a total of 43 QET proposals
were received.

Management of Rental Estates
Happy, Safe and Healthy Living

To the Housing Society, quality of housing is quality of living. This is
why we consider care, community and environmental improvement
to be integral parts of our property management remit. For the
elderly, we work to a concept of “ageing in place” and we implement
an Elderly Care Services Programme. The “four hearts”, each
representing a strand of activities in the care of our elderly tenants,
would mean, when translated into English, “Care-free Housing”,
“Contented Environment”, “Mind at Ease” and “Happy Living”.

Care-free Housing

"Care-free Housing” focuses on the mental health and home safety
of the elderly. It starts with friendly home visits to elderly tenants
living alone, those with some signs of mental stress or those prone to
home accidents. During the home visits, the elderly tenant would be
invited in a non-intrusive way to take simple on-the-spot checks and
tests. Follow-up action, if required, is by social workers and therapists
specially employed by the Housing Society for this purpose.

"Caring Ambassadors” committed to serving other residents at the
Pledging Ceremony
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Property Management

MEE

The Housing Society provides an environment for the elderly tenants to live a happy and healthy life

FEimiEERGETERFEN SRR

Where extra professional attention is considered necessary after home
visits, further referral is made to specialised agencies. In short, elderly
tenants in need are always cared for, even if they do not leave their
home to seek help proactively.

A feature of “Care-free Housing” worthy of special mention is the
involvement of “Caring Ambassadors” who are volunteers living in
the same estate. These volunteers offer their time to do home visits
as good neighbours and in the spirit of mutual help. Many of these
ambassadors are themselves senior citizens.

The “Care-free Housing” scheme has worked well since its launch
in mid-2011 for seven estates on a trial basis. We plan to extend it
to other estates gradually, as more professional staff and “Caring
Ambassadors” are recruited.

Contented Environment

“Contented Environment” is to provide the elderly with an
environment conducive to a happy and healthy lifestyle. Since 2006,
Housing Society has spent over $1 billion to carry out renovation works
to specifically address the practical needs of the elderly.

An important feature of this programme is the installation of shuttle
lifts and an improvement programme to lift services, since many of
the older estates of the Housing Society were built on sloping terrain
by the hillside. Shuttle lifts were installed in Kwun Lung Lau and Ming
Wah Dai Ha in 2004 and 2010 respectively. Similar works have started
in other estates, including Lok Man Sun Chuen and Cho Yiu Chuen.
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Other additional facilities to improve living conditions include
landscaped gardens, social gathering lounges, mini-gymnasiums,
sun-decks and massage chairs. Currently, eight of our rental estates,
including Bo Shek Mansion, Cho Yiu Chuen, Jat Ming Chuen and Moon
Lok Dai Ha are with elderly lounges provided for the specific purpose
of helping elderly residents build their social network and improve their
physical health. A continuous programme for further enhancing the
barrier-free access of our estates also started during the year.

Mind at Ease

“Mind at Ease” is about setting the minds of the elderly at ease while
at home. Registered social workers are employed as Service Co-
ordinators to offer emotional support and professional advice to those
troubled by family disputes or other kinds of mental stress. Being
personal and close to their clients, these Service Co-ordinators know
when referral of cases to specialised agencies is necessary.

Over 60 individuals received special help from our two Service
Co-ordinators since the inception of the programme last year.
Encouraged by the initial success, we are recruiting staff to expand the
programme, to reach the target of one Service Co-ordinator per district
eventually.

Happy Living

“Happy Living"” is retirement life enrichment and ageing in grace.
Opportunities are provided for the elderly to socialise, to be proactively
engaged in activities that are of interest to them, and to render
voluntary service to others in their own community. Activities under
this scheme are multi-farious, including sports, singing, dancing,

visits, festival celebrations and even occasions for social chit-chat. It is
particularly noteworthy that most of these activities are organised by
the Housing Society Community (HS Community) which was set up in
2003 for tenants living in Housing Society estates.

1 Elderly residents
perform artistic
gymnastics to
demonstrate active
ageing
RERRKEEA LR
[RIR BB AR

2 The Service
Co-ordinator conducts
home visits and
provides emotional
support for the elderly
tenant
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Property Management

MEE

1

The purposeful involvement of the elderly in neighbourhood service

A variety of activities are
organised to help elderly
tenants enjoy “happy
living”
RRERRBITRELY
BB EMMDEFFRL

Improvement works were
carried out and a lift was
built in Cho Yiu Chuen for
the convenience of the
residents

A EBETERRETIE
LEEES - FEREROA

FHEREREESEBEIRBMEL DR

and mutual help embedded in our special schemes of “Caring
Ambassadors” and the HS Community received recognition under
the “Neighbourhood Active Ageing Project” jointly sponsored by the
Elderly Commission and the Labour and Welfare Bureau.

Rent Increase

The Housing Society is financially independent and does not receive a
subsidy from Government for the upkeep of its housing estates. For
our long-term sustainability, we endeavour to ensure that our property
management function is self-sufficient, without calling upon resources
designated for other purposes.

This is in itself difficult, given the profile of our estates (55% of them
over 30 years old) and our rental policy of taking into consideration, on
top of costs and market rent levels, the ability of our tenants to pay.

Rent levels of our housing estates had been frozen for 12 years when
they were revised in 2010 by 3%. In April 2012, we introduced an
increase of 6%. Compared with market levels, we reckon that even
after the increase, our rents are at about 30% and 55% of the market
level respectively for our Group A and Group B estates.

Despite over $1 billion has been spent since 2006 to improve estate
facilities, we still need to provide around $100 million annually to carry
out other improvement works in the coming years. Expectedly the
operation of the rental estates would continue to entail a loss of about
$125 million each year in the coming five years. The last rent increase
of 6% made a contribution but the books are far from being balanced
still.
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1 Lai Tak Plaza offers retail
services to meet residents’

daily needs

BB R A HEREE - REER

HEEEMS

2 An old building benefitted
from the Operation Building

Bright

EENBFEMATHINER

Commercial Leasing

In tune with general market conditions, there has been significant
growth in the commercial return on our retail outlets. The total revenue
from commercial leasing last year was $357 million, representing a 6%
growth over the previous. Remarkably, the revenue of our car-parking
facilities had increased by 11%.

During the year, the Housing Society leased the 4,700 square meter
commercial premises of Bo Shek Mansion to a single operator for a
fixed term of six years. The negotiated monthly rent at $2.27 million
represented an increase of 76%. The new lease commenced in June
2012.

The new operator committed $12 million to renovate the shopping
centre, enhancing the central air-conditioning system and improving
the lighting to make it more customer-friendly and attractive. After the
renovation, about 95% of the new shops have been rented out and the
trade mix has been improved significantly.

Similar uplifting has taken place in the shopping centre of Jubilant
Place. The renovation is expected to complete in 2013.

Building Maintenance

In the area of building management, the Housing Society is generally
recognised as a leader in the industry. Apart from services to buildings
of our own or under our care, the Housing Society plays a key role

in special programmes such as the Operation Building Bright (OBB),
the Integrated Building Maintenance Assistance Scheme (IBMAS),
the Voluntary Building Assessment Scheme (VBAS), the Mandatory
Building Inspection Scheme (MBIS), and the Mandatory Window
Inspection Scheme (MWIS) through our Property Management
Advisory Centres. These programmes aim to benefit the public at
large. Our involvement in them is intended as a contribution to the
community.

o R A A

FHEERmENESE®R - BEATAAEN
B - 2FNEEZWAR=ZBLTLES
T AT —FIERB D 2N o A EEISHT
AREMTEDZT—°

FR - ERICELRENTEBF I KRR
HigBE - @mAad - RENRFE - £
& HeFEREBF_A_TLET LHINU
Al BIEERS ZETN c IEAOR T
FRARERS -

ZEERRE T _AEETES - BiER
TR RSRES RN ERARN - TRETZ
g TNEINRSMRS N - BF2E - ANE
DZNTHANFEHEDHEL - MEPHAE T
RBHE o

TEERRSIETTRUNEN T2 - 85t

fIREEAE
NZT—=FTK °

RS

EEFEETE B RER/ERNL
% BT RE TREEMEREREI - B
TNEBMFEEELATL - BEMEBTRES
FEEHINAR DI BFEHNAITE]
(R178) - [BFHEHAIETE] - [BR
BFrETE] - [aslBEat 8l R R H5RE
T8 - BUFENERZETRRAR W
FEeSERER A B DR -

PROPERTY MANAGEMENT / &1 39



Property Management

MEE

IBMAS Applications

(as at 31 March 2012)

[BFEBEESIETE] NRE BE-F--F=A=t—HL

No. of Applications
HEHE

259 (53.6%)

|—5(1%)

78 (16.2%)

RERERBER

[ Home Renovation Interest-free Loan

I Common Area Repair Works Subsidy (including

buildings receiving technical assistance)

RS SRR (BRI SORET)

[ Owners’ Corporation Formation Subsidy

BEXTIUREENED

Common Area Repair Works Interest-free Loan

141 (29.2%) ARMFRIERBER

Operation Building Bright

OBB was launched in 2009 as a joint effort by the Housing Society, the
Urban Renewal Authority (URA) and Government. Under OBB, owners
of old and dilapidated buildings are given a financial subsidy and “one-
stop” technical support to carry out maintenance and repair works in
the common areas of their buildings. The aim is to improve building
safety and cityscape while bringing additional job opportunities to the
then rather downbeat construction industry.

Government, URA and the Housing Society together pooled $3.5
billion to fund maintenance and repair works for around 3,100 buildings
over 30 years in age. So far, owners of over 1,500 buildings have
received assistance under OBB. By the end of March 2012, over 1,900
buildings had obtained “approval in principle” to carry out voluntary
repairs and around 1,100 of these cases fell within the purview of

the Housing Society. As for buildings of which owners have difficulty
in organising repair works, such as buildings without Owners'
Corporations (OCs), Government has conducted repairs to around 700
buildings.

Integrated Building Maintenance Assistance Scheme

To help address the problem of urban decay in Hong Kong, the
Housing Society rolled out a 10-year Building Management and
Maintenance Scheme in 2005 to provide financial assistance and
technical support for owners of old buildings to manage and maintain
their properties. By that time, Government and URA had also launched
various schemes to assist owners in repairing private buildings. As

the criteria for application and forms of assistance vary from one
scheme to another, the Housing Society and URA joined hands to
consolidate the resources and align the various schemes into a unified
and comprehensive IBMAS with effect from 1 April 2011. IBMAS
provides comprehensive support to eligible owners, including subsidy
for the formation of OCs and repair works in the common areas of
buildings, and interest-free loans for repair works in the common areas
of buildings and home repairs.
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Introducing the Voluntary Building Assessment Scheme to
encourage building owners to upkeep their properties
HITTERE TR SBEIIPZEERLREEYE

The integrated scheme also refined and relaxed certain eligibility
criteria, such as accepting applications from buildings without OCs,
removing the upper limit of 400 units per building, and treating removal
works of unauthorised structures and repair works of barrier-free
access as maintenance of common areas.

Voluntary Building Assessment Scheme

MBIS and MWIS were introduced by legislation in 2011 for full
implementation in June 2012 in response to serious public concern
that poor maintenance of buildings and insecure windows might
endanger public safety, apart from being a source of hazard for the
inhabitants. The Housing Society and URA launched a subsidy scheme
in August 2012 to provide financial and technical assistance to eligible
building owners selected under the MBIS.

VBAS is a special measure initiated by the
Housing Society in support of the above

two inspection schemes, whereby owners

of buildings can offer their buildings for an
assessment following the same standards

as used for the mandatory inspections under
MBIS and MWIS. The Housing Society is
responsible for promoting and administering
the scheme. We conducted open briefings and
established a dedicated website on VBAS in
May 2012. Registration and training of qualified
assessors started in June. Applications for
VBAS certification were open in July 2012.

Seminars were held to promote the Scheme to the industry
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Team Spinct

1. The Quality Enhancement
Team aims to improve work
efficiency and quality through
creativity 2
=@k FRETRIE
ETIERERRIBE R

2. An enjoyable evening at the
Annual Dinner

BERAFRE

3. Staff participated in the team
building day camp to foster
unity
BT 2HEEHKENIHE
BIEANE
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Staff and Support Services
BT RZER®K

Headcount by Division (as at 31 March 2012)

Staff's Years of Service

(as at 31 March 2012)

ZHMEET AR (BE=—Z——fF=A=+—HIb) E TR EL (BE=T——F=A=+—Hi)
No. of Staff Division No. of Staff Years of Service
BTI#¥A HBF BETHA R4
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Staffing Situation 1ESHL)

As at the end of March 2012, the total headcount of the Housing
Society was 1,218, an increase of 1.16% over the last year. The
annualised turnover rate was 15.11%, which was below that of the
property management sector in general (21.04% as reported by human
resources consultants).

Staff Development

All staff of the Housing Society should have the capability to do their
job well and the capacity to grow with the organisation. To ensure
this, the Housing Society sees it as vital to provide training and
development opportunities for all levels of staff in a consistent and
systematic manner. For internal monitoring, we have set for ourselves
a working target of giving each staff member an average of 3.5 man-
days of training per year.

For the year ending March 2012, an average of 4.3 training days per
staff member was achieved.

Talent Development Programme

For the long-term development and sustainability of the Housing
Society and for staff motivation and retention, the Housing Society
has established a carefully-designed talent development programme
for staff with high-potentials, combining staff development with
succession planning. Five principal managers have been identified for
grooming under this Programme. Of the five, two have started their
EMBA Programme at The Chinese University of Hong Kong (CUHK)
while another two have completed the Consortium Programme of The
Hong Kong University of Science and Technology (HKUST). The fifth
attended the “Management of Managers” Programme of Michigan
Ross School of Business.
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Day camps with the theme “Making Housing Society
Your Home" were organised for the new staff
RERAEmMROEHERRIBE

4,966*

07/08

* including the corporate-wide team building exercise organised during the year
BIEAZEE TR PINERIRE

Executive Development Programmes for Managers

The objective of the executive development programmes for managers
is to boost competence of the management team in particular

areas. The three classes organised under the Programme in the

past year attracted 138 managers. Two workshops were conducted

on “Managerial Decision-making and Leadership” and “Leading by
Understanding”, respectively by Professor Caroline Wang of HKUST
and Professor Wong Chi-sum of CUHK.

Assimilation Programme - “Making Housing Society Your
Home”

For new recruits into the Housing Society, we held three sessions of
“Making Housing Society Your Home" in 2011. Organised in the form
of a day camp at Lake Egret Nature Park in Tai Po, the sessions gave
participants essential information on the Housing Society and a proper
understanding of our organisational objectives and corporate values.
Since its launch in 2009, the programme has helped to induct more
than 120 entrants.
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Staff and Support Services
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Colleagues from different divisions and at all levels attended the “Quality Building for a Better Future”

team building day camp
RETRIBFIFBRNFAE2MANZEE RARIAFENEGEIIBE

Corporate-wide Team Building Programme

The team building programme of the Housing Society has two clear
objectives: (a) team alignment, and (b) cross-team, cross-level and
cross-departmental cooperation. The overall theme is “Quality Building
for a Better Future”.

By way of experiential activities and interactive games in a highly-
competitive setting, officers at different levels and from different
disciplines are put into composite teams and are made to appreciate,
through first-hand experience, the possible tensions between doing
one's job well and achieving in a team. On top of this, the activities are
designed to make the participants understand that while competing
with one another, in the end the individual, or the team by itself,
cannot really win by pursuing own objectives without regard to
organisational priorities and corporate values. In the final analysis, all
participants have to understand three golden rules: (1) “Coherence
in goal”, (2) "Co-operation for accomplishment”, and (3) “Customer-
oriented service"”.

From November 2011 to February 2012, 22 day camps were held
at the Hong Kong Disneyland Hotel for 1,200 staff members. Staff
response was enthusiastic. The success of this programme is
reflected from their ratings of the event (at 4.5 on a scale of 5) and
their feedback.

“Delivering Service Excellence” Course

Inaugurated in 1997, the “Delivering Service Excellence” Course was
organised for the manual staff of Housing Society, especially new
recruits. So far about 500 employees have benefited. During the year,
this course was recognised by the Hong Kong Council for Accreditation
of Academic and Vocational Qualifications as meeting the standards of
Level 1 of the Qualifications Framework.
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Demonstrating team spirit in the
experiential activities
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Staff and their families experienced the pleasure of fishing and hiking in the Staff practise stretching exercise to reduce the risk of muscle

Hong Kong Geopark during the “Work-Life Balance Week"
BT RFEN TEDEFEE 2 EEE AR R X NE SR B 4R

Staff Care
Work-Life Balance Programme

A number of programmes and activities were held to promote staff
awareness of mental and physical health, for them and for their
families. Towards a better work-life balance, in 2011 a total of 11
health talks were held, on topics like “Healthy Diet”, “Reading One's
Mind, “Working Happier” and “Protecting your Back”. Over 540 staff

participated.

Three activities were arranged during the “Work-Life Balance Week",
including tips sharing and quiz on work-life balance, a flu vaccination
programme and an outing named “Fishing and Hiking in GeoPark”. A
total of 70 staff and family members participated.

The series of articles in the in-house website “Health Corner” on
topics like “quality of sleep”, “know your cholesterol” and “organic
life” had been well received. The hit rate was 12,000 in the year,

which was a 20% improvement over that of the previous year.

strain and relieve stress at work
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Staff and Support Services
BT RZER%

The Housing Society offered scholarships to staff’s children for their academic excellence

FEiREEEE FRGEENETFX

HKHS Annual Dinner

Annual Dinner was held for around 800 staff and Members of Board
and Committees at the Hong Kong Convention and Exhibition Centre
on 27 September 2011. On the occasion, 115 staff members were
awarded Long Service Awards, including five who had been with the
Housing Society for 30 years.

HKHS Award - Scholarship/Bursary for Employees’
Children

The HKHS Award — Scholarship/Bursary for Employees’ Children was
established in 2006 to encourage the pursuit of academic studies by
children of our staff. In 2011, three awardees were presented with
scholarships in recognition of their outstanding performance while 42
others were granted bursaries.

Volunteer Activities

The Volunteer Team of Housing Society organised nine activities
during the year, extending care to 350 elderly and under-privileged
persons. Staff involvement in these activities was direct and extensive.
The turnout in the past year was 128 counts (65 staff and 63 family
members) in total.
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The Housing Society Volunteer Team showed care
for the elderly during Christmas
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HK$ Million Year
BEEET F45
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Information Technology

During the year, we expanded the Customer Relationship Management
System to support the launch of a new computer system on Quality
Retirement Living, which is to capture customer information from
different sources. The information so collected provided a basis for
analysing the background, the behavioral patterns and the preferences
of current and prospective users of our Quality Retirement Living
services.

A new project on document repository was launched during the
year to provide an access-controlled central information platform on
construction projects for different divisions to share.

About 1,000 desktop computers were successfully upgraded to our
new computing landscape — Windows 7 and Office 2010, as well as
Email Exchange 2010. To match the new desktop environment, a
number of IT applications, such as Integrated Property Management
System, Management Information System and Single-Sign-On were
also upgraded to ensure overall compatibility of systems.

We have also started to revamp our series of IT applications using
contemporary technology. Financial control-related systems, property
management-related systems and treasury systems will be covered
in phases in the coming three years, to improve operational efficiency
and user experience.

Workshops were held to familiarise staff with the
upgraded computer operating system
FAE2ETIEH2EMEMEX RS

=HIER

FEhEFARRIEPARERRS]  EA
e[ BERRAE IMEBMROBIEL - W
SETNEPER  ABBRMDITIRE A
BATBER BRI BERKEE | FRERENE
= IREANEL -

FA - BIATHERT —EROERRFETE &
ERROEPIEAARMEETRREMNTRE

MFa  HTEM -

BPTRFRNRFAEN—TFTEEAEKTK
EEZBNRA  BELEIREL] -
[ Office 2010 FNE & Z 5t Exchange 2010] ©
A HPTEEMERRGOEEMEE
BRG] [BEEEEREIRIBE—FARR]
At - AERRBIHELD -

BPITA AR - BSE A ENE
AER - EhARMRER - MEEENER
izl BABRBRR=F AT - ARTHRE
MEMAZERERS

STAFF AND SUPPORT SERVICES / B T kR 49



Dradence

HONG KONG HOUSING SOCIETY ANNUAL REPORT 2012/ &EEEWHE —O—_FFR



Total Net Surplus

HK$770.7
million

FRBTECTELETEAT

Net Assets Value
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Corporate Planning and Financial Management
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Net Assets Distribution

BEED M

(as at 31 March 2012)
(BE2—Z——F=A=+—81)

HK $ Blllion
BHET

—

8.9 (30%)

Rental Properties and
Other Fixed Assets

29.4

Total 8%

3.4 (12%)

Properties under Development for Sale

TEHERENERTYE

AR R E A 17.1 (58%)
Fund Investment and Others
E&RE REAM
Strategic Focuses REGE RS

The Housing Society is committed to serving the diverse housing
needs of the Hong Kong community with quality accommodation and
supporting facilities. Over the past year, we continued to focus on this
mission while developing innovative housing models and new ways to
enhance our services.

Catering to the different housing needs of the elderly is high on the
agenda of the Housing Society. Riding on the success of the Senior
Citizen Residences (SEN) Scheme projects, funds were allocated to
develop two new retirement housing projects under the “Joyous Living”
brand for elderly persons with a higher ability to pay. Over the past year,
significant progress has been made in respect of the two pilot projects
under this concept, at Tanner Hill in North Point and at Wetland Park Road
in Tin Shui Wai. For Tanner Hill, land was secured under a Private Treaty
Grant after long negotiations with Government on the land premium. For
Wetland Park Road, the Master Layout Plan was approved by the Town
Planning Board (TPB) in May 2011 and further amendments to the Master
Layout Plan were also approved by TPB in December 2011.

On the other hand, we have been working diligently to finalise the

implementation details of the Tsing Luk Street project in Tsing Yi
which is due for completion by the end of 2014.
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HKS$ Billion
BEHET

I, 29.4 2012
A 26 2011
A 27 2010
T 25.2 2009
270 2008

To provide our tenants with a safe and comfortable living environment,

momentum has been maintained for estate improvement and
rehabilitation works in our rental estates. During the year, we made a
head start in the redevelopment of Ming Wah Dai Ha after obtaining
approval to the Master Layout Plan and the Planning Brief from the
TPB. Progress however was hampered by complications arising
from the requests for in-situ rehousing. As a result, we now work to
a revised three-stage development programme which might mean
considerable delay to the completion of the whole project.

As a community service, the Housing Society has allocated

financial and manpower resources to implement a range of building
management and maintenance schemes, including Operation

Building Bright and the Integrated Building Maintenance Assistance
Scheme (IBMAS). IBMAS was successfully launched in April 2011 in
collaboration with the Urban Renewal Authority (URA). For the longer
term, agreement was reached to have the responsibilities under urban
rehabilitation handed over to URA.

CORPORATE PLANNING AND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT / 58| B EE B3

AT RE—EZ 2 METENEERRGEE B
BR » BPEETEEEHETREMEEE -
FR - EESHA S RRARRER M
[REAMIE  BAEARRPENENER
172 - BEmRZUERZRKREHE - TRE
FBEIES - ZHMERER - BEZHENAS
7 = (EFS BHETT - B BIAEREEIH KA
EHPERR

ERRBHRNIER @ EHBRTBRALE
R TR ARAEER RGeS
BRIBFTEMATHINETHEFASE
ftEl - EHETREZR(TER)AEES
T——FOAKTIETHREEE RS
REME - HAIETREBDEXHE - $HER
B TERMEMES



Corporate Planning and Financial Management
TERIRTBER

Income Distribution for 2011/2012
T2 /T2 HFRASH

HK $ Million
B¥EET

1,080.2 (61.1%)

Property Leasing and
Management Income
MERE R EEBBA

1,769.3

Total 22

4.4 (0.2%)

Others

684.7 (38.7%)

Net Investment Income

REFWA

Risk Management

The Housing Society uses an Enterprise Risk Management framework
to identify and manage risks systematically and continuously. Risks at
strategic, managerial and operational levels are covered.

In the past year, an organisation-wide assessment of risk exposures
across different business processes was completed. The Audit

Committee also reviewed key areas of risk with a view to enhancing
their effective management through strengthened control measures.
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Expenditure Distribution for 2011/2012
SE——/ZE-CEX M

HK $ Million
B¥EET

61.2 (5.7%)

Other Operating Costs
Hfth & E PR

376.0 (35%)

Property Leasing and
Management Expenses
MEHEREEZ N
1,074.3

Total 422k

——251.5 (23.4%)

Assets Depreciation

385.6 (35.9%) AEE
Staff Costs
B TR

Financial Management MBER

Financial headlines in the newspapers last year were dominated by
the European debt crisis and the American debt reaching its allowable
ceiling. In Europe, the crisis spread from the peripheral to some core
countries. The United States lost its long-held triple-A credit rating. To
prevent their economies from recession, the Federal Reserve Board
announced its intention to keep interest rates low for a prolonged
period and the European Central Bank injected massive liquidity to
support European banks.

In contrast, the emerging economies were faring better, though they
showed signs of slowing down towards the end of the year.

Given the outlook above, we re-allocated part of our fixed-income
investments to emerging economies where the fundamentals were
much stronger. This move contributed positively to our investment
portfolios which are managed under three sets of investment
objectives with different investment horizons.
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Corporate Planning and Financial Management
TERIRTBER

Projects Under Planning and Committed Projects

HREPREEENEE

(as at 31 March 2012)
(BE=—Z——F=A=1—H1b)

HK $ Billion
BT ET

10.6 (47 %)

Committed

i mn

BE5E

12.0 (53%)

Under Planning

198D 22.6

Total 42§

Projects
EHE

e Tanner Hill Project
F=IER

e \Wetland Park Road Project
R A B BEIE B

e Ming Wah Dai Ha Redevelopment
REAESREIER

e Six Urban Renewal Projects
NETRERIAR

e Tsing Luk Street Project
ShEHIER

* |[ntegrated Building Maintenance
Assistance Scheme

(BT EERA RS

Our long-term portfolio, which is for the redevelopment of our rental
estates, recorded a gain of 7.0%, outperforming the pre-determined
benchmark by 2.7 percentage points. During the year, the fixed-income
portion of the portfolio was reviewed and its benchmark was changed
from global to composite to include both global and emerging market
debt indices.

For the medium-term portfolio, income of which is to fund our
expenditure in social projects, a gain of 6.9% was recorded,
outperforming the benchmark by 0.9 percentage point.

As the objective of the short-term portfolio is to preserve capital and
to ensure liquidity, we continued to manage the portfolio prudently
by placing surplus cash on fixed deposits with maturity of no more
than six months. For the year ended 31 March 2012, the short-term
portfolio achieved a return of 2.9%, outperforming the benchmark by
2.6 percentage points.

Overall, our investments did reasonably well. Positive returns were
recorded in all three portfolios despite high market volatility.
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Investment Portfolio

REEE

(as at 31 March 2012)
(BE=Z—=—F=A=+—H81b)

HK $ Billion
BETET

10.1 (49%)

Long Term

=&

Short Term
kG HA

’76.1 (29%)

20.7

Total 4225

4.5 (22%)

Medium Term

T

Funding Strategy
EE R

B For Redevelopment of Rental Estates

RREZH AR

M Income Generated to Fund Social
Projects

W AR AT EIAR

Principle as a Reserve to Fund
Redevelopment of Rental Estates

AeERERNHERRFE

For On-going Business Initiatives

PRI TR RO ZE TS5

As at 31 March 2012, the Housing Society had $20.7 billion in its
investment portfolios, representing an overall gain of 5.7% over the
previous year, as compared to a gain of 7.2% in the financial year of
2010/2011.

Loan Administration

As at 31 March 2012, the Housing Society was managing 8,565 loans
granted under various loan schemes. During the year, 79 new loans

in relation to home renovation were granted. 3,114 loans were fully
redeemed by borrowers while 11 loans were partially repaid. On
enforcement, legal proceedings were instituted against 98 default
cases and 14 bankruptcy proceedings were initiated against borrowers
whose repayment abilities were considered to have been exhausted.

Financial Results

The Housing Society achieved a net surplus of $770.7 million for
the year ended 31 March 2012, after taking into account investment
income of $684.7 million, of which $115.4 million was unrealised loss.
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Commanity Building
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1. The Housing Society Volunteer Team shared
festive joy with the lone elderly in Chinese
New Year
(EHELCKIEBENRERENS

2. Tenants from the Housing Society rental
estates participate in the annual Tree Planting
Day to build a green future for the younger
generation
ERLHEBNERGFHLEERE - AT —
ReFEHFERR

3. The Housing Society Community participated
in charity walk to help the elderly
(B RIZEIITER  BPBEFENRSE



Social and Environmental Responsibilities

HERBREE

The Housing Society supported the “Wu Zhi Xing Charity Walk” to raise fund for sustainable

bridge projects on the Mainland
ERZ I EIIBESESHTERED ] ARMBHEEREELE

As an organisation that carries a social mission, the Housing Society is
committed to serving the community, particularly the elderly and the
under-privileged. This commitment is shared by all, from the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director to every
member of staff.

We are also environmentally-conscious. We see it our duty to be a
good corporate citizen.

Care for the Community

The Housing Society encourages volunteerism among its staff. The
Housing Society Volunteer Team, made up by staff and their family
members, maintained a vigorous programme in 2012. On top of
regular visits to elderly homes, special events were organised in close
cooperation with welfare agencies and district service groups. In the
year, events like “Bringing New Year Warmth"”, “Delivering Warmth
and Care to Cha Kwo Ling” and “Warm Hearts with Care — Spring
Gathering for the Elderly” were held for over 300 elderly persons,
involving 130 counts of volunteer turnout.

On a regular basis, the Housing Society supports community activities
with sponsorship and direct participation. Highlights for the year
included the “Wu Zhi Xing Charity Walk”, the “Community Chest Skip
Lunch Day” and, quite significantly, the “Charity Walk for the Elderly”
in which the Housing Society won an award for the amount of money
raised.

The Housing Society was honoured with a Gold Award by the
“Volunteers Movement" for outstanding service in 2011.
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Of special note was the participation of our Chairman Mr Yeung
Ka-sing in the Standard Chartered Marathon 2012 — Leaders Cup. He
raised $30,000 for ORBIS through this event and set a good personal
example to all.

As in previous years, the Housing Society part-sponsored the Fire
Dragon Dance in Tai Hang. The sponsorship was given for the
preservation of a tradition now recognised worldwide and with the
Housing Society Regional Office located in the neighbourhood.

Supporting the Industry

We established the Hong Kong Housing Society Academy

(HS Academy) in 2005 to promote professional development of the
housing industry and nurture talents through academic exchanges,
student internships, scholarships, bursaries and sponsorships.

HS Academy also facilitates professional and academic exchanges
between the Mainland and Hong Kong.

Since its inception, HS Academy has collaborated with 24 tertiary
institutions, including all the universities and schools of continuing
education in Hong Kong and the Hong Kong Institute of Vocational
Education (IVE) to jointly organise training programmes, workshops,
internship programmes and seminars etc. HS Academy also sets aside
more than $500,000 each year for granting scholarships and bursaries
to the outstanding and needy students from the local institutions.
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1 Attending industry
activities to share
housing experience
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2 Jiangsu civil servants
on a study tour to
the Housing Society
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Social and Environmental Responsibilities

HERRESHE
Hong Kong Housing Society Award offers scholarships and bursaries to tertiary Secondary school students from Yuen Long and Tin Shui
students in housing-related and elderly-care disciplines Wai spent two weeks in the Housing Scoeity during
B RiEEEERRERBEFRSERNE F2ERERHZES summer vacation

TR RKENFEZRZREBIREFHES T WEL
Sharing Knowledge and Experience MBELHRIE
Last year, HS Academy organised a major conference, extended EFE - [BEEERLIRRT —EAEESE
sponsorships to 11 conferences and seminars held by various BE T+ EesAMfEe WA TRUAN
professional institutions in the housing industry and arranged BELTHEEHSE o I BAIERS T AE
internships for 15 local students. We received six official groups of NIEEEE - AR AREREEA - —ERE 0
visitors, five from the Mainland and one from Singapore. These visits %o SEATREEER HEERE - Bk
covered estate management, project development, risk management BIE - UERERMEEMAETONRER - &
and community building in our rental estates. An area which interested PIENRAAB R E B ERERBHER -
our visitors most was our emphasis on serving the elderly. The visitors AR E T EREG - BIETF2mEE -

told us that they were impressed with our enthusiasm, our innovative
schemes and our comprehensive approach.

The 2011 Asia Pacific Network for Housing Research Conference held EEF+TZABBRE[H M R M RE
by the Centre of Urban Studies and Urban Planning of The University FOIERO20NDAFERARBESH

of Hong Kong brought participants to visit Cho Yiu Chuen and Cheerful FEeERTHNEETNMTYBEESERE
Court in December 2011 to see our elderly housing flats. By o

Supporting the introduction of Liberal Studies in BEEBREFETRIESIABBHE - Bk
the new curriculum, the Housing Society wRET —ERRIEBHRHNERERZE N -
developed a Teaching Kit entitled “The HEBHPEFR - B BEEGHMENR
Changing Housing Needs" for our senior A EHESEFESE I REREERTL]
secondary schools to use. In tandem with LADns& R EMa [ a2 B ARE | -

the publication of this Teaching Kit, schools
were invited to visit our Elderly Resources
Centre as a way to enhance the Other
Learning Experience of the students.
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The Housing Society arranged training camps for the summer interns
to experience team spirit

FEinZHERETE2NIGRE - ERmBEe

A Quality Seminar was held to promote quality construction
among the industry
BYPERES REIEBEMELIEE  MERERELESE

Nurturing Young Talents

The Housing Society maintained an Internship Programme for students
in conjunction with educational institutions like the City University of
Hong Kong, the YWCA or the Vocational Training Council on a regular
basis. During the year, arrangement was made for two diploma
students to work in Kingston Terrace and The Pinnacle through the
YWCA Internship Programme to gain practical experience in clubhouse
management, while an IVE (Haking Wong) Electrical Engineering
student was deployed to Kwun Tong Garden Estate to assist in the
upgrade of the electrical system.

At the district level, student placement programmes were introduced
in partnership with organisations like the Hong Kong Coalition of
Professional Services. This year, 11 students from Yuen Long and
Tin Shui Wai participated in this two-week programme in different
divisions of the Housing Society.

To help needy students undertaking housing-related studies and to
recognise outstanding achievement, the Housing Society offered
scholarships and bursaries in its own name. This year, 65 students
from 17 local institutions benefitted. Amongst them, two graduates
from the Part-time Housing Management Master Programme of The
University of Hong Kong were awarded the Father Cronin Memorial
Award.

Promoting Quality

Quality is one of the core values of the Housing Society. While working
to stringent requirements ourselves, the Housing Society also strives
to promote good practices in construction and property management
services in general.

The signature event for the Housing Society last year in promoting
quality development and construction was a Quality Seminar in the
Hong Kong Convention and Exhibition Centre which was attended by
over 200 consultants and contractors’ representatives.
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Social and Environmental Responsibilities

HERBRREM

A strategic co-operation model was explored for the Urban Renewal Project (K25)

to enhance project quality
RK25T R BEE B RA RIS EER - IRAEEER

In line with the “Quality” vision, the Housing Society and the main
contractor China Resources Construction Company Limited jointly
held the “Urban Renewal Project (K25) Partnering Start Up Workshop”

in May 2012. Led by a professional consulting company, project

consultants, subcontractors and representatives of the construction

workers were invited to explore the strategic co-operation model

adopting the “"How NASA Builds Team” 4-D system. A Partnering
Charter was signed among all parties to signify their team spirit and

commitment to project quality.

Protecting the Environment

The Housing Society takes sustainable development and environmental
protection seriously. In 2001, Housing Society set out a six-pronged
Environmental Policy on housing development. Led by our Director

(Projects), an Environmental Working Group was established to

implement environmental initiatives with cross-divisional participation.
In 2002, the Housing Society became the first housing development

NGO in Hong Kong to be awarded an ISO 14001 Environmental

Management System Certificate.

Since then, we had been working hard to maintain standards and to get
the same certification for all housing estates under our management.
A milestone was reached in April 2012 when all estates under the

management of the Housing Society were ISO 14001 certified.

The Housing Society was amongst the first organisations to sign the
Carbon Reduction Charter in Hong Kong, supporting efforts of the
Friends of the Earth in promoting environmental protection and low-

carbon living.

During the year, 146 environmental protection programmes were

launched in our housing estates. 55,000 residents participated. These
programmes covered waste recycling, use of renewable energy, use

of rainwater, green roofs and green slopes, and the installation of

energy-efficient devices.

64 HONG KONG HOUSING SOCIETY ANNUAL REPORT 2012 / HEEEH &

— W

Inspecting the prefabricated construction materials in
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For our renewal projects, including the rehabilitation of existing
buildings or city revitalisation, we followed environment-friendly
practices, achieving high scores such as the platinum standard of
the BEAM (Building Environmental Assessment Method). In the K25
urban renewal project under development, the extensive adoption
of prefabricated construction methods helped reduce air and noise
pollution.

Other than this, the Housing Society also sponsored the annual
seminar of the Hong Kong Institute of Engineers on “Building and
Environment” and their “Hong Kong ICT Awards 2012: Best Green ICT
Award"” in April 2012.

The efforts of the Housing Society towards a better environment were
extended to its own offices, such as its headquarters at World Trade
Centre (WTC) in Causeway Bay and its extension office at King's Road
in Quarry Bay. Our goal is improvement of air quality, reduction of
electricity consumption, recycling, and

waste reduction.

On air quality, the WTC Office obtained
a rating of “Excellent Class” under the
Indoor Air Quality Certification Scheme
of the Environmental Protection
Department, while the King's Road
Office successfully renewed its “Good
Class" certification.

On energy saving, WTC Office
received the label of “Class of Good
Energywi$e” as a result of a special
campaign to save 20,000 kWh of
electricity and 14,000 kg of CO,
emission each year.

The WTC Office was further awarded
the “Class of Good Wastewi$e"” Label
for its success in promoting recycling.
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1 The Housing Society
organises green
carnivals in its estates
to disseminate green
messages to the younger
generation
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2 Wetland Park trip was
organised for tenants to
enjoy the fun of nature
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Social and Environmental Responsibilities
HERBREREME

Sponsorships and Donations BB & 57

Category &35!
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Event S5 5}

The HKIE Environmental Division Annual Seminar

A TS SRR HEAFHN S

The HKIE Building Division Annual Seminar
BEATRRMEBGRESPAFTHIE

The HKIS Annual Conference and Annual Dinner 2011
ESAEMBFAFHHNERAFHRE 2011

The HKIS Building Surveyors Conference and Dinner 2011
BB ESMBG R SEM NG REE 2011

The HKIS Property and Facility Management Division Conference 2011

BB SRMBGYEREERBRE 2011

RICS Hong Kong Annual Conference 2011
ZREFEFFIEMEEFAEME 201

CIH Asian Pacific Branch 2011 Housing Express
ZRRFTEEEEEZET AL TN (EEEM)

CIH Wuhan University Housing Seminar
HERFAEEREE2GEREREESR

CIH Asian Pacific Branch 2011 Yearbook
HEFEEEEEEEADE 2011 F

The 10" Hong Kong Occupational Safety and Health Award
FETEEBBELDBEANE

Quality Water Recognition Scheme for Buildings

ANEELDRKBAFE

Construction Industry Safety Award Scheme 2011-12
B2 EETE 2011412

CityU International Symposium

BB ASEBRERE

The HKIH 2011 Yearbook
EEEEFIEEE 2011 Fif

HKIP 32 Anniversary Dinner
TRREMBE =1+ _FAFB®RE

The HKAPMC 2011 Yearbook
ERYEEERAINE 2011 Fi

Construction Industry Charity Concert
BERETRES

Youth Construction Discovery Challenge

FFRERRIEE
AlIB 11t Anniversary Annual Dinner
TNEREESE T —AFBRE

HKQAA Symposium 2011
ERMERERTEMTE 2011

APNHR Conference 2011
AR EHRFTAE S 2011

HIREA 2011 Yearbook
EEMETRANEE 2011 Fik

Organiser ##

The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers

BB IIZMES

The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers
BEETRMEY

The Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors

BRAEMES

The Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors

ERREMES

The Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors

TRRBRES

Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors
HESRFHHSME

Chartered Institute of Housing (Asian Pacific Branch)
ERFTEREEESEETANE

Chartered Institute of Housing

HENHREEE

Chartered Institute of Housing (Asian Pacific Branch)
REBTERERESETANE

Occupational Safety and Health Council

BEL2EFER

Water Supplies Department
IKFEE

Labour Department
BT

City University of Hong Kong
NN

The Hong Kong Institute of Housing
BEARRRESY

Hong Kong Institute of Planners

BRREREE

The Hong Kong Association of Property
Management Companies

BEMEEERFBE

Development Bureau and
Construction Industry Council
BREMREEXSE

Vocational Training Council and
Construction Industry Council

BB R REEES

Asian Institute of Intelligent Buildings

TS RERE

Hong Kong Quality Assurance Agency
ERERERER

The University of Hong Kong
BERAE

Hong Kong Institute of Real Estate Administrators

BRWETRENES



Category %3

Environmental
BR

Community
HE

Event SZ &)

Organiser ##&

The Community Chest Green Day
NS

The Community Chest of Hong Kong
BRREE

Walk For Nature @ Mai Po 2011
FEREBAR @K 2011

World Wide Fund for Nature — Hong Kong
HEARAEBR(EB)EeE

Green Carnival 2012
RIRFZFE 2012

Green Council

RREES

The 19t Green Power Hike
BTN EHEHBREIT

Green Power

HENE

The Community Chest Corporate and Employee Contribution
Programme 2011/12 Bronze Award
T CFEDRHSEEREESIB R

The Community Chest of Hong Kong

Dress Casual Day

REEERA

The Community Chest of Hong Kong
BARES

The Community Chest Corporate Challenge

The Community Chest of Hong Kong
EEREmE

Skip Lunch Day 2012
RmiTEMTIRE 2012

The Community Chest of Hong Kong
BRERNES

1st Asia Pacific eCare and Telecare Congress

F—EIARHE R BRREHNE

Senior Citizen Home Safety Association

REREHE

HKAG 25t Anniversary Activities
EBEFEG-_THAFER

Hong Kong Association of Gerontology

EEEERE

Haven of Hope Holistic Care Centre Charity Golf Tournament
BEEEERaBRREEE

Haven of Hope Christian Service

EEHERHS

Tai Hang Fire Dragon
AP REANRERE

Tai Hang Residents’ Welfare Association
AP BENE

The 624 PRC Anniversary Celebration
BEENt-EFE®R

Hong Kong Social Welfare and Service Organisations

B RN RIS A

Web Care Charter 2011
RiEmEEAE 2011

Internet Professional Association

EREEXGE

Wu Zhi Xing Charity Walk 2011
EIMBESESHTENED 2011

Wu Zhi Qiao (Bridge to China) Charitable Foundation
EIBEEES

Annual Elder Gymnasium Meet 2011
REEEHE 2011

Aberdeen Kai-fong Welfare Association Social
Service Centre

R RANEEERET L

Standard Chartered Hong Kong Marathon 2012 — Leaders Cup
BT B AR 2012 — EHZR

ORBIS
HLECHET

SOCIAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSIBILITIES / #t & MIRIFE AT
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SRERRE

Corporate Governance Structure

Hong Kong Housing Society, established in 1948 and incorporated

in 1951 by the Hong Kong Housing Society Incorporation Ordinance
(Cap 1059), is an independent, not-for-profit organisation governed by
members.

The Housing Society operates under a two-tier board governance
structure comprising a Supervisory Board and an Executive Committee.
The Supervisory Board sets the vision, mission, core values and
guiding principles of the Housing Society, which are the significant and
integral elements to promulgate the values and beliefs of the Housing
Society; the Executive Committee sets strategies and monitors the
performance of the Management. The Housing Society is committed
to upholding the highest standards of corporate governance in the
balanced interests of our various stakeholders. Transparency and the
pursuit of best practices are the cornerstones of this commitment
which, coupled with our values and beliefs, ensure that we remain at
the highest echelons of corporate citizenship.

Membership of Housing Society

The Housing Society has a total of 117 members as at 31 March
2012, 46 of them serving on the Supervisory Board, the Executive
Committee and the various Committees.

The membership year of the Supervisory Board, the Executive
Committee and the various Committees is the period between the
holding of two consecutive annual general meetings. The term of
office of Board and Committee members is normally three years,

but one-third of the existing members of the Supervisory Board and
the Executive Committee, excluding the ex officio members and the
Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director of the Housing Society,
retire every year to maintain a balance between continuity and the
introduction of new blood.
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Supervisory Board and Executive Committee
Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board sets the Housing Society’s vision, mission, core
values, and guiding principles and oversees all nomination, election
and audit functions. The Board appoints members to the Executive
Committee, the Audit Committee and the Nominating Committee and
oversees their performance. The Board also provides advice to the
Executive Committee on issues of the Government, stakeholders’
interests, public relations and changes in the external environment.

There were 25 members on the Supervisory Board as at 1 April 2011,
comprising 20 elected members, four Government officials as ex
officio members, namely the Permanent Secretary for Transport and
Housing (Housing), Director of Lands, Director of Planning and Director
of Buildings, and the Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director. At
the 2011 Annual General Meeting (AGM) held on 27 September 2011,
six Supervisory Board members retired, namely Mr Victor Chan Hin-
fu, Mr William Chau Chun-wing, Mr Alex Lui Chun-wan, Mrs Agnes
Mak Tang Pik-yee, Dr Peter Pun Kwok-shing and Prof Dr Dominic
Wong Shing-wah, fulfilling the one-third retirement requirement. Mr
Victor Chan Hin-fu had already served on the Supervisory Board for six
consecutive years and was not eligible for re-election at the AGM. Mrs
Agnes Mak Tang Pik-yee and Dr Peter Pun Kwok-shing opted not to
stand for re-election. Mr William Chau Chun-wing, Mr Alex Lui Chun-
wan and Prof Dr Dominic Wong Shing-wah stood for re-election, and
they were successfully re-elected as Supervisory Board members at
the AGM. Three other Housing Society members were elected to the
Supervisory Board at the AGM, namely Ms Serena Lau Sze-wan, Dr
Tony Leung Ka-tung and Mr Timothy Ma Kam-wah. The Supervisory
Board consisted of 25 members as at 31 March 2012.

Five Supervisory Board meetings were held during the financial year
with an overall attendance rate of 80.8 per cent.
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EEREHE

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee approves strategies proposed by the
Management, monitors Management performance and approves
recommendations made by other Committees where appropriate as
well as major decisions beyond the Management thresholds.

There were 12 members on the Executive Committee as at 1 April
2011, comprising the same Chairman and Vice-Chairman as the
Supervisory Board, the Permanent Secretary for Transport and Housing
(Housing) serving as an ex officio member, the Chief Executive
Officer and Executive Director, and eight members appointed by the
Supervisory Board. At the AGM held on 27 September 2011, three
Executive Committee members retired, namely Mr Chan Ka-kui, Mr
Bosco Fung Chee-keung and Mr Robert Young Man-kim, fulfilling
the one-third retirement rule. At the Supervisory Board Meeting held
immediately after the AGM on 27 September 2011, Mr Chan Ka-kui,
Mr Bosco Fung Chee-keung and Mr Robert Young Man-kim were re-
appointed to the Executive Committee. The Executive Committee
consisted of 12 members as at 31 March 2012.

The Executive Committee held 13 meetings during the financial year
with an overall attendance rate of 84 per cent.

Other Committees

The Supervisory Board and the Executive Committee are supported
by the Audit Committee, the Nominating Committee and the
Remuneration Committee in specific areas of audit, membership
nomination, overall compensation strategy and top Management
remuneration.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee acts on behalf of the Supervisory Board to
oversee the Housing Society's financial reporting and maintain a
close, positive working relationship among external and internal
auditors, Management personnel and other Committee members.
The Committee also monitors the Housing Society’s internal control
system, overall ethical standards and compliance with applicable laws.
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There were 10 members on the Audit Committee as at 1 April 2011,
all of them were non-management members of the Housing Society.
The Chairman or the Vice-Chairman of the Supervisory Board or the
Chairmen of other Committees shall not be members of the Audit
Committee. At the AGM held on 27 September 2011, four Audit
Committee members retired, namely Mr Patrick Lau Lai-chiu, Ms
Serena Lau Sze-wan, Mr Alex Lui Chun-wan and Mr Eddie Ng Hak-
kim. Mr Alex Lui Chun-wan had served on the Audit Committee for six
consecutive years and was not eligible for re-appointment. Mr Patrick
Lau Lai-chiu, Ms Serena Lau Sze-wan and Mr Eddie Ng Hak-kim stood
for re-appointment. At the Supervisory Board meeting immediately
held after the AGM on 27 September 2011, Mr Patrick Lau Lai-chiu, Ms
Serena Lau Sze-wan and Mr Eddie Ng Hak-kim were re-appointed to
the Audit Committee by the Supervisory Board. The Audit Committee
consisted of 9 members as at 31 March 2012.

The Audit Committee held four meetings during the financial year with
an overall attendance rate of 72.75 per cent.

Nominating Committee

The Nominating Committee acts on behalf of the Supervisory Board
and oversees the Housing Society’s membership nomination and
election processes, and admission of new members to the Housing
Society. It is dedicated to ensure that the Housing Society membership
consists of a balanced mix of skill and professional background.

There were seven members on the Nominating Committee as

at 1 April 2011, comprising the Chairman, the Vice-Chairman, the
Permanent Secretary for Transport and Housing (Housing) serving

as an ex officio member, the Chief Executive Officer and Executive
Director, the immediate past Chairman, and two other members of
the Supervisory Board. At the AGM held on 27 September 2011, one
of the appointed Nominating Committee members, Mr William Chau
Chun-wing, retired which aligned with the expiry of his three-year term
of office on the Supervisory Board. Mr William Chau Chun-wing was
subsequently successfully re-elected to the Supervisory Board at the
AGM. At the Supervisory Board meeting immediately held after the
AGM on 27 September 2011, Mr William Chau Chun-wing was
re-appointed to the Nominating Committee by the Supervisory Board.
The Nominating Committee consisted of seven members as at 31
March 2012.

The Nominating Committee held one meeting during the financial year
with an overall attendance rate of 85.7 per cent.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee acts on behalf of the Executive
Committee and oversees the Housing Society’s overall compensation
strategy and the remuneration of top Management. The Committee
also oversees succession planning for the Chief Executive Officer and
Executive Director and other top Management executives.

There were seven members on the Remuneration Committee as at

1 April 2011. All members of the Remuneration Committee were
non-management members of the Housing Society. At the AGM held
on 27 September 2011, three Remuneration Committee members
retired, namely Mr Ronald Ho Yau-hoo, Mr Eddie Ng Hak-kim and Prof
Dr Dominic Wong Shing-wah. Mr Ronald Ho Yau-hoo had served on
the Remuneration Committee for six consecutive years and was not
eligible for re-appointment. Mr Eddie Ng Hak-kim and Prof Dr Dominic
Wong Shing-wah stood for re-appointment. One other Housing Society
member, Mr William Chau Chun-wing, indicated interest to serve on
the Remuneration Committee. At the Executive Committee meeting
held on 22 September 2011, Mr Eddie Ng Hak-kim and Prof Dr Dominic
Wong Shing-wah were re-appointed and Mr William Chau Chun-wing
was appointed to the Remuneration Committee. The Remuneration
Committee consisted of seven members as at 31 March 2012.

The Remuneration Committee held four meetings during the financial
year with an overall attendance rate of 73.75 per cent.

Ad Hoc Committee on Fund Management

The Ad Hoc Committee on Fund Management was set up by the
Executive Committee in 2003 to consider the size of the investment
portfolios, establish the investment objectives and strategies,
conduct analysis of the fund manager structure and recommend the
appointment of professional fund managers.
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There were five members on the Ad Hoc Committee on Fund
Management as at 1 April 2011. The Ad Hoc Committee was chaired
by Mr Lincoln Leong Kwok-kuen and comprised four members, namely
Mr Stuart Hamilton Leckie, Mr Robert Leung Wing-tong, Mr lan Grant
Robinson and Mr Jacob Tsang Chung. Mrs Marian Li Chan Sien-mun
was appointed to the Ad Hoc Committee on Fund Management by the
Executive Committee on 17 November 2011. The Ad Hoc Committee
on Fund Management had six members as at 31 March 2012.

The Ad Hoc Committee on Fund Management held two meetings
during the financial year with an overall attendance rate of 81.5 per
cent.

Special Committee on Elderly Housing

The Special Committee on Elderly Housing was set up by the
Executive Committee in 2008 to give guidance and review
Management's proposals for approval by the Executive Committee on
the positioning and planning of the proposed elderly housing projects
to be undertaken by the Housing Society.

There were 11 members on the Special Committee on Elderly Housing
as at 1 April 2011. The Special Committee on Elderly Housing was
chaired by Mr Marco Wu Moon-hoi. Other members included Mr

Chan Ka-kui, Ms Ophelia Chan Chiu-ling, Ms Loretta Ho Pak-ching, Ms
Katherine Hung Siu-lin, Ms Leonie Ki Man-fung, Mr Alex Lui Chun-wan,
Prof David Lung Ping-yee and Mr Timothy Ma Kam-wah. The Chairman
of the Housing Society and the Chief Executive Officer and Executive
Director were the ex officio members of this Special Committee. The
Special Committee on Elderly Housing had 11 members as at

31 March 2012.

The Special Committee on Elderly Housing held six meetings during
the financial year with an overall attendance rate of 67 per cent.
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TEERRE

Emoluments for Executive Committee Members PITEETZENINE

Non-ex officio members of the Executive Committee received an HITEZESHIIFERZEH N EEMNE - A
honorarium in recognition of their level of accountability. These TEA PSS B IRTS R IE - B KTFRES
emoluments are set by the Supervisory Board with current levels being e ] BEMESAKEFR S _FIA—
effective since 1 April 2002. The Chairman and the Vice-Chairman HR4N HPEENNE /G ABK=8
are entitled to HK$30,000 and HK$15,000 per month respectively T BIERAEABE—BRTIT - MEMIE
while HK$7,500 per month is offered to each of the other non-ex ERZEBRABAEBETHRHEL - 2%
officio members. As at 31 March 2012, three non-ex officio Executive ——H=ZA=+—H8 ZURTEZECNIE
Committee members had opted not to receive these emoluments. AEZBEETWHEEMNE -
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Other Members
HES

Sir David Akers-Jones, KBE, CMG, GBM, JP
FERERLT

Dr Gordon M Anderson
BUEmR L

Mr Payson M S Cha, JP
EMESE

Mr Stephen C K Chan, BBS, JP
FRIEE ST

Mr William F K Chan
[RE S

Mr Victor H F Chan Nete 1
FREBSLE =

Mr Paul K C Chan, BBS, JP
FBREBAE ST

Mr Chan Kwong-choi
PR et

Mr Chan Pak-joe
FRIAE R

Mrs Margaret W S Chan
BREkET &t
Director (Corporate Planning and Finance)

B ipeE (D RR B RAIE)

Mr Kenneth Y S Chan
BR—#5EE

Mr Chau Cham-son, OBE, JP
ARG

Dr Cheng Hon-kwan, GBS, OBE, JP
izt

Mr Edward W S Cheng, SBS, JP
EPHERT R

Mr Cheng Yan-kee, JP
BRERE

Mr Albert H S Cheung, JP
SRESHE SR

Prof Rebecca L H Chiu, JP
HEEHR

Mr Raymond M J Chow
RS E

Mrs Veronica S F Choy, MBE, JP
BEIBLL

Ms Hilary Cordell
RKBL L

Mr Fan Sai-yee, JP
SEHEEE

Mr Thomas H K Ho
BN EE

Mr Edmund H K Ho
lf7895EE

Mr Jacky K S Ip
ESGrs

Director (Property Management)
FHARE (YR EE)

Mr Simon S O Ip, CBE, JP
EHRRE

Mr Leo L C Kung, BBS, JP
e et

Mr Josiah C L Kwok
MRERIETE

Mr Kwok Kwok-chuen, BBS, JP
BERFE

Dr Lam Ching-choi, BBS, JP
ARIERT B

Mr Ambrose S K Lam Nete2
MRS 4 =2

Mr Wallace W T Lam Nete3
Mo AE 1

Mr Bill Lam

MR L

Mr Daniel K S Lau

BITAR L

Director (Development and Marketing)
Dr Lau Kwok-yu, JP
2IEmtE L

Prof Francis S K Lau, BBS
Bl HHIR

Mr Edward T C Lau
ZlESIRE

Mr Winkie W K Lau
BIEHEE

Mr Francis H Y Lawy Note2
B =

Mr Lee Choy-sang
FAERE

Mr Lawrence K H Lee, JP

Mr Michael T H Lee, JP
FIFEsE

Mrs Cecilia W K Lee, BBS, MBE
FEORL L

Mr Sunny W K Lee, JP
RN RE

Prof Tunney F Lee Note4

PRI o

Mr Sydney S W Leong, JP
RIRE L

Mr Leung Chin-man, JP
RRNSGE

Mr Donald C S Leung Note 4
b =

Dr Lawrence K C Li, JP Nowe3
TR AL 5

Mrs Marian S M Li Nowe5
FRIEX Lt s

Mr Antony H S Lo
BFLIRSE

Mr John W L Loo, MBE, JP
ETHLE

Mrs Agnes P Y Mak, MH, JP Nete
BEHBEELT ®

The Hon Eddie H K Ng, SBS, JP Noe&

SRk

Mr Pang Yuk-ling, SBS, JP
TERERE

Mr Ronald C Y Poon

EAHSEEE

Dr Peter K'S Pun, SBS, OBE Note1
RIS L =

Mr Charles C C Sin, OBE
FARRR SR

Mr Sin Wai-sang
SEERE

Mr Terence C T Tai
BIFBEE

Ms Iris S Y Tam, JP
NP

Mr Nicholas T'Y Tan
FRETTRE

Mr George L Thomas Nete 4

E st

Mr Mike C W Wong, JP
HEE S E

Mr Wong Chun-shiu, BBS
HIREASE

Ms Wong Fung-yi
ERUEL L

Miss Wong Lai-chun, BBS
TRY/ME

Mrs Julia W K Wong
HRGHELL

Mr Stanley Y F Wong Nete2
BRI A

Mr Hugh S H Wu
[l S

Mr Andrew C F Yao, JP
PRAEIE S

Mr Henry F S Yap
B¥NERE

Mr Franki K'Y Yeung
BRI L

Director (Projects)
FBEE(TEED)

Dr Nicolas S Y Yeung
[N

Mr Peter Dicky Yip, BBS, MBE, JP Note4
BEhA g

Mr Yue Chi-hang, SBS
REBSEE

Note

Note 1 Retired from Supervisory Board
since 27 September 2011

Note 2 Admitted as Member since 10 May 2012

Note 3 Admitted as Member since 1 December 2011

Note 4 Members residing overseas

Note 5 Appointed as Ad-Hoc Committee on Fund
Management Member on 17 November 2011

Note 6 Retired from Audit Committee and Remuneration
Committee since 1 July 2012
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Members’ Activities
ZEEH

2011

JUN 7 H
Members visited the mockup flat of the K25
project at Lau Fau Shan in Yuen Long.

ZB2ERNTITRT L MIK251E B IRERE AL -

Members participated in the Quality Seminar.
ZE2H[EHEE RelBERttL iy -

SEP 1A

Members witnessed the completion
of the Tin Hau Revitalisation Project.

ZBRBI RNEHRERA LTS RT -

Members
attended the 59"
Annual General
Meeting of

the Housing
Society.
ZEHEERTN
EEHEAFEER

&= o
=

Members proposed a toast to all staff at the Annual Dinner 2011.

ZER =T FRAFBRE |A2RE TIE -

JAN — H

Members exchanged views with the

FEB —H

officials of the Development Bureau and
20 1 2 the Transport and Housing Bureau at the

spring gathering.

ZENEFRE FEFRFANERLEER

RmBEH °

Members attended the 7" Hong Kong Housing Society
Award Presentation Ceremony.

ZEHEELREIFHRBEREHE ]
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OCT + A

Members took part in the “Happy and
Healthy Living” Seminar.

LES2MI e N R -

MAR = H
Members paid a visit to the shopping
centres at Kai Tak Garden, Jubilant Place and
Bo Shek Mansion to observe the operations.
ZEIREER  MEEERREAKRE
BES - TREERR -

The Task Force on Construction visited the work
sites of the K25 and H21 project.
BETZER/NERIK25 R H21BE B Ty

BRI -

DEC +—A

Members visited Sha

Tau Kok Chuen to explore
the feasibility in future
development.
ZERIDEAMEMRL
A ARIREEEERIITIE ©

Chairman hosted a dinner to thank Members
for their contribution over the year.

IRRERHHERBE—FNER -

Members joined a brainstorming
session to discuss the business plan
of the Housing Society.

ZEHEERE BB BOERT

el

Members turned up at the
“Safe Living for Smart Elderly”
Launching Ceremony.
ZEHRI RETRELE]
FRS

MEMBERS’ ACTIVITIES / £ E3E8)
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Awards
3815

Category
Ebel]

Corporate

g

Property
Management

MEER

Award

#18

Awarded Unit
RARE

22nd Astrid International Awards 5=+ —[F Astrid BB K&

Community Benefits Annual Report — Gold Award

HERRFR — 8%

Non-profit Organisations Annual Report
— Silver Award

IR MR — REE

Hong Kong Housing Society
EREEHE

25t Mercury International Awards £ =+ F[E Mercury BB k&

Non-Profit Human Welfare Annual Report — Honours

FEMARENFHR — EREE

Housing Development and Sales Annual Report
— Honours

FERRRIHEFR — ERE

HKMA Best Annual Report Awards — Honourable
Mention

EREREXHERETRE — BRFHE

Estate Management Services Contractors Awards 2011

Best PSA (Safety Management) — Gold Award
SEVMERBLR (X2ER) — 28
Best Property Services Agent (Public Rental Housing)

— Bronze Award
BEVERBRE(AKE) — g

Best Property Manager (Maintenance) — Silver Award

REE LI () — REE

Best Public Rental Housing Estate (Property Services):
Small Estate — Bronze Award
BEAKEBWERS) : NERERGAER) — 1R

Hong Kong Island Best Security Services Awards
2010/11 — Outstanding Security Per |
BEHERERZRKEE 2010/11 —EFRLER

Eastern District Outstanding Security Guard Award
Scheme — Eastern District Outstanding Security Guard
RERAERZERBTE — RERHREZE

Hong Kong Housing Society
EEEEHE

Hong Kong Housing Society
EBEEHE

BRI R A K 5€ 2011

Hong Kong Housing Society
EEEEHE

Shek Yam Estate
AL

Tai Hang Tung Estate
RHURB

Building supervisor from Healthy Village

REMAEEE

Building supervisors from Ming Wah Dai Ha
and Lai Tak Tsuen
PEAEREEEAEEE

Kowloon West Best Security Services Awards 2011 7§ W BB E R ZIRISZE 2011

4-Star Managed Property
TERERYEE

3-Star Managed Property
ZERERYER
2-Star Managed Property
BRBERYES

Star Managed Property
EREBYER

Outstanding Managed Property Award
RIEERY

Outstanding Carpark Management Award
SEBFREHEIHE

Outstanding Public Carpark Management Award
BEEBRNREESR

Outstanding Security Personnel
BRREZE

Jubilant Place

RERTER

Chun Seen Mei Chuen
HEZXN

Prosperous Garden

BBER

Cascades, Ka Wai Chuen and
Lok Man Sun Chuen
REIEF ~ AR K L R

Cronin Garden, June Garden and
Prosperity Court
LERE  HMBIEERSAMN

Cascades, Chun Seen Mei Chuen, Ka Wai
Chuen, Lok Man Sun Chuen and Jubilant Place
RESF - BEXA - REW - LRI K
TRERTEE]

Prosperous Garden
BREIER

Building supervisors from Cascades,
Cronin Garden, Jubilant Place,

June Garden and Ka Wai Chuen

FREVE - SFIEE - FRETER - BBIEER
REMAEEE

Kowloon City Best Security Personnel Awards 2010/11 (iR BEHERZ2RE 2010/11

Model Security Guard
RER2 B 4%

Outstanding Security Guard
HHREZ 858
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Building supervisor from Jubilant Place

RETEERAREEE

Building supervisor and building attendants
from Kai Wai Chuen
KEBAEETERAEEER

—O— =553

Organiser

32 7]

MerComm, Inc.

MerComm, Inc.

Hong Kong Management Association

BAERERGE

Hong Kong Housing Authority
EHEEEES

Hong Kong Police Force

Hong Kong Police Force

FRE

Hong Kong Police Force
BREBR

Hong Kong Police Force

BREB R



Category
bl

Environmental

BER

Safety and
Health
ZERBE

Community
HE

Award

#RI8

New Territories South Best Security Personnel Awards
2010/11 — Best Security Guard and Merit Security
Guard

HRBARRERZERE 2010/11

— RHAERZERKEFEEREZER

5-S Excellence Award for Zero-NC

FTARME MR AR

Awarded Unit
RAREY

Building supervisors and building attendants
from Bo Shek Mansion, Moon Lok Dai Ha
and Jat Min Chuen

BAKE  RERNERZABRAEEERK
EE®EE

Cho Yiu Chuen, Ka Wai Chuen, Clague
Garden Estate and 5 Property Management
Advisory Centres (Tsuen Wan, Tai Po,
Western District, To Kwa Wan and

Sham Shui Po)

HHZEIB - KA - RERB R AR
EIEFATO(EE - A AR - U8R
KL )

Organiser

E3iz 7

Hong Kong Police Force

BREL R

Hong Kong 5-S Association
ERREEGE

Take a “Brake” Low Carbon Action — Corporate Green Driving Award Scheme 7 [# | —XiFt T8 — S¥GEREEMETE

Fuel Efficiency Improvement — Gold Award
BB SR D LRE — &8

Fuel Consumption Saver—Gold Award

Hm AR A S LRE — 258

Hong Kong Housing Society
EREEHRE

Competition on Source Separation of Domestic Waste 2010/11 X/FEE¥)RE S ELLE 2010/11

Silver Award

s

Bronze Award

i

Promotion Award

EEEERE

Old Electrical Appliances Collection Scheme:
WEEE GO GREEN — Merit
SLERERRE  ERXEEWGE — 2R

Best Fall Arresting Safe Enhancement Programme for
Working at Height 2011 — Silver Award
BESEIHE — BFERAGREZDE 2011 — R

3 Hong Kong Outstanding Employees in Occupational
Safety and Health Award Scheme — Bronze Award and
Merit

EEEZBHEBRBEIRNE — ARRERRE

Volunteer Movement — Caring Estate Programme

RIEH —HERRR

Gold Award for Volunteer Service

BB IERTSR

Leading Caring Estate Award
SHELER

Highest Service Hours Award — Champion
BLERG=REREE —BE

Highest Service Hours Award — 27 Runner-up
ELENE=REREE — FF

Prosperous Garden and Sunshine Grove
BEEERBEILE

Bel Air Heights, Cronin Garden, Tivoli
Garden, Tai Hang Tung Estate, The Pinnacle
EESE - EFTEE - REBEE - RIURBR
FR

Tivoli Garden
TARIEE

Clague Garden Estate
BB RTR

Tung Tau (Il) Estate
SREA(=)TR

Colleagues from Bo Shek Mansion and
Prosperous Garden

BOAEREETEERE

Chung Ling Sheh of Cho Yiu Chuen, Cronin
Garden, Jat Min Chuen, Lai Tak Tsuen, Lok
Man Sun Chuen and Yue Kwong Chuen
HEWRRRE  LEIEE - 20 - BE
9B - BRI B A

Chung Ling Sheh of Cho Yiu Chuen, Clague
Carden Estate, Cronin Garden, Jat Min
Chuen, Kwun Tong Garden Estate, Lai Tak
Tsuen and Yue Kwong Chuen

HEWRRKRE  WEEHD  LFRERE -
AR - BEEEAE  BEB AN
Chung Ling Sheh of Cho Yiu Chuen
[EECHEN Sy

Kwun Tong Garden Estate and Yue Kwong
Chuen
BUEEEAE RRA

Friends of the Earth (HK), Green
Power and World Wide Fund for
Nature (HK)

ERMBZR REHERERER
HeQ@FENS

Environmental Protection
Department
RIRIRESR

St James' Settlement
EHEERE

Occupational Safety and Health
Council

BEZDERER

Occupational Safety and Health
Council

BEZ2REER

Social Welfare Department

HEENE

Besides, the Housing Society also received over 280 certificates in quality water, energy efficiency, waste reduction and social services

ot - BB E— BN T ZEAMERKE - #ikE - RERLRRENES
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Housing at a Glance
EEFE—E8

Rental Estate

Initiated in the early 1950s, 20 rental estates located on Hong Kong
Island and in Kowloon and the New Territories currently provide homes
for about 90,000 people. All are designed to meet the needs of low-to-
middle income families with rents at a discount on market price.

HEET

RE+FERORARRE - BEHBE-HEEEE
DIREE - NERHR - EBRABHONE - IR
BHRAHBREFERARE - HEKPERT
{E o

Rural Public Housing

Three rural housing projects have been built in Sai Kung and Sha
Tau Kok. They are designed for families in rural areas whose homes
have been cleared for redevelopment and are rented or sold at
concessionary rate.

BELHEE

ERERDEAN=(EER AR BEFZENR
BEERE/EEEN  XUEEERHEREE -

Urban Improvement Scheme

Commenced in the early 1970s, projects under this Scheme are
designed to improve the living environment in dilapidated urban areas.
30 projects, all with ancillary facilities, have been completed to provide
a total of 5,620 flats. The flats are sold at full market value to the
general public.

hERETE

RETEFERMEALE  URETBRRENFER
% WRERERE CSEREBE=TE =8
HHAAFAEHESEN - AHELRBRE -

Flat-For-Sale Scheme

Launched in the late 1980s, ten projects with a total of 10,360 flats are
located throughout Hong Kong under this Scheme. They are sold at a
discount to meet the ownership aspirations of low-to-middle income
families. In line with Government policy, flat production under this
Scheme has ceased since late 2002.

EERETE

RATHERREL - Bl HEER - BBAR
FREMHRH BT =7 TEEM - BUTE
BERABEPSEWARERRERER - ARS
BRBE &Rt 8l -2 - FRETEEEHN
A o

Sandwich Class Housing Scheme

Launched in the early 1990s, ten residential developments across
Hong Kong provide a total of 8,920 flats for the middle-income family
market. Flats are sold at concessionary prices to eligible families and
subject to resale conditions. Flat production under this Scheme has been
suspended since 1998.
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Full Market Value Development

Since 2000, three former Sandwich Class Housing developments have
been converted to private properties for sale to the public at full market
value. These include Cayman Rise in Kennedy Town, Mountain Shore in
Ma On Shan and Serenity Place in Tseung Kwan O.

hERRIEE

B-Z22RF  Z{ARB U0 EEERE 8
BREEERIALBT  UHEERAREE
BREURBRUEHINEE - FLAEEER
ARG OE e

Senior Citizen Residences Scheme

This innovative housing Scheme for the middle-income elderly provides
“one-stop” homes with housing, recreation, medical and care facilities
all under the same roof. Two pilot projects, Jolly Place in Tseung Kwan
O and Cheerful Court in Jordan Valley, provide a total of 576 flats leased
for life to eligible senior citizens.

[REREHNEETE

EESFHERE - URFBEENTK - B
ERERMH UK IEE  £FF  *hE - BF
KEER—F - UREERNEEEREZEHN
FEEMERRIEE  AEERNRERMAH
EEETAREER -

Building Management and Maintenance Scheme

Launched in early 2005 to help alleviate the problem of urban decay.
The Scheme provides subsidies to property owners to form Owners’
Corporations and carry out repair, maintenance and environmental
works in the public areas of the buildings. Interest-free loans are also
offered to individual homeowners to improve the safety and hygiene
conditions of their flats. Property Management Advisory Centres
have been set up in the old districts across the territory to offer free
consultation services and technical support to property owners.

Since 1 April 2011, the Housing Society and Urban Renewal Authority
have consolidated all building maintenance schemes into the Integrated
Building Maintenance Assistance Scheme to provide “one-stop”
financial assistance and technical support for owners of old buildings.

BRPERHEESTE

REZZZRFNEL - HERRATBERXER
B HERENRAREEERIETIRE
C WEREN ARG ETEERRRIRE
UKk BEBREER - HEEREERZELAN
ZERFEBR - ROERBZEEEBRILIY
EEEZADO BEFRHEEZARBMN
BgsE -

B-Z-——SNA-BE EHRTEEERE
ETRBBFHEFIES  HAIBFHER
SXETE | AERXIRMAN - NI
BB R S AR

Voluntary Building Assessment Scheme

The Housing Society rolled out the Voluntary Building Assessment
Scheme in mid-2012 to provide incentive for owners to take the
initiative to properly maintain their buildings. Under the voluntary
scheme, certified buildings will be recognised by the Buildings
Department to be exempted from the mandatory building inspection
(common areas only) within a specified period.

BT IETE
EHE-S-—_FFhEEHI BRETFE
2 BEEZETBHFREEENEE - 78
FERTFETE I TRESAMTENET » 4%
BFERT - THEENRBREARR - BEET
[abigee Kk asiE (RRAHMT) -
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Properties under Management

BEERYE

As at31 March 2012 HE=—T——F=F=+—H1t

Rental Estate and Rural Public Housing
HEEBRIBEARER

Sandwich Class Housing Scheme

ROBEEERE

Estate Name Location Completion Year Property Location Completion Year
BUEE HE (No. of Flats) L/ES HE (No. of Flats)
ERER(BNHE) ERER(ENHE)

Ming Wah Dai Ha BRZE A& Shau Kei Wan 14 & 1962/63/65/78 (3,169) Tivoli Garden Z=A&{EE TsingYi 7 1995 (1,024)

Yue Kwong Chuen ¥yt Aberdeen FE(T 1962/63/65 (1,143) Park Belvedere 72 %= Ma On Shan &# 11 1998 (882)

Moon Lok Dai Ha jifi 44 A& TsuenWan %55 1964/65 (947) Sunshine Grove 5 Z7E[E ShaTin M 1998 (508)

Chun Seen Mei Chuen B/ MaTauWai FB5EE 1965 (1,027) Bel Air Heights 15 FZ&F Diamond Hill &4 1L 1999 (798)

Healthy Village fi Bz#t North Point 4t £ 1965/93 (1,189) Cascades fRE# Ho Man Tin fa] X 1999 (712)

Kwun Tong Garden Estate Ngau Tau Kok 4-88 /5 1965/67/87/91 (4,926) Highland Park 452 Kwai Chung 28 1999 (1,456)
BIRIEERE The Pinnacle &22&F Tseung Kwan O #§F382 1999 (1,424)

Kwun Lung Lau #3EiE

Lok Man Sun Chuen 24 %+
LaiTak Tsuen 1B

ChoYiu Chuen #8221k

Kennedy Town E2/Bith4,  1968/2007 (2,335)

To KwaWan = I} 1970/71/73/74 (3,676)
Tai Hang K1 1975/76 (2,677)

Kwai Chung 258 1976/78/79/81 (2,532)

Jat Min Chuen Z BB ShaTin %M 1981/82 (3,730)
KaWai Chuen ZK#E1f Hung Hom 4T #) 1984/87/90/93 (1,676)
Tui Min Hoi Chuen $,88 Sai Kung FA & 1984/85/86 (302)

ShaTau Kok Chuen /&8 & 18 ShaTau Kok )38/ 1988/89/91 (662)

Clague Garden Estate #T/ZE#7Hf  Tsuen Wan 25 1989 (552)
Broadview Garden E £ 7EE TsingYi 57K 1991 (448)
Prosperous Garden B& 25 1E & Yau Ma Tei i, 1991 (668)
Bo Shek Mansion &/ A& TsuenWan %5 1996 (269)
Verbena Heights E147EE Tseung Kwan O #E58® 1996 (971)
Lakeside Garden Z2IE{E[E Sai Kung fi & 1997 (234)
* Flat-For-Sale Scheme

FEREE
Property Location Completion Year
WE & (No. of Flats)

ERFR(EALHE)

Clague Garden Estate {T&E#%  Tsuen Wan 25 1989 (926)
Ka Wai Chuen SR4ETH Hung Hom 4L #) 1990/93 (892)
Broadview Garden {#=/EE TsingYi H7K 1991 (1,328)
Healthy Village {g F#t North Point 4t 1993/97 (1,048)
Cronin Garden 444 1E[E Sham Shui Po JF7kE 1995 (728)
Bo Shek Mansion & f A& Tsuen Wan /& 1996 (400)
Lakeside Garden Z4E1EE| Sai Kung Fi 8 1997 (736)
KaiTak Garden RU/ETEE Wong Tai Sin &A1l 1998/2001 (1,256)
Kingston Terrace &&= Tuen Mun P9 2002 (1,152)

@ Full Market Value Development

mEHRER
Property Location Completion Year
L/ES & (No. of Flats)

EREN (BABE)

Kennedy Town E2EHhH 2000 (496)
Tseung Kwan O #E8® 2000 (1,526)

Cayman Rise JIZ 2
Serenity Place 14/ &

Senior Citizen Residences Scheme

[RERBLE TRETE
Property Location Completion Year
WE HE (No. of Flats)
ERFR(BALHE)
Jolly Place 4£F8/E Tseung Kwan O #E® 2003 (243)
Cheerful Court /B8 /& Jordan Valley 224 2004 (333)

Urban Improvement Scheme

mEREE
Property Location Completion Year
L/ES #E (No. of Flats)
ERER(BNHE)

June Garden & L& Tai Kok Tsui K &4 1988 (480)

Dragon Centre 3E#74¢, Tai Hang A4 1989 (392)
Prosperous Garden B& 25 1E & Yau Ma Tei i, 1991/95 (896)
Prosperity Court 2% Sham Shui Po JE/Kki 1994 (104)

Jubilant Place ffR&87EE To Kwa Wan = /I{ /& 1998 (900)

Private Sector Involvement Scheme
DERESHEREERESRERETE

Property Location Completion Year
L/ES & (No. of Flats)

ERFD (BNKE)
Ma Tau Wai Estate 5558[& 1B To KwaWan =+ I} 1962-65 (2,075)

Tai Hang Tung Estate A4 516
Shek Yam Estate 725

Sham Shui Po j&7k#5
Kwai Chung 255

Other Properties under Management

1984-87/2002 (2,101)
2000 (2,671)

HithEEHME
Property Location Completion Year
L/ES & (No. of Flats)
ERER(ENHE)
Shing Tak Street Centre MaTau Wai 538 1963
BRI
Un Chau Street Centre Cheung ShaWan £/& 1966

TONETREE AR L
TungTau (1) Estate 5 58(=)1B
Lei Cheng Uk Estate ZSZ[E 1}
Housing Society Golden
Jubilee Building &2
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Wong Tai Sin &A1l
Sham Shui Po JF7kE
Wan Chai j&{F

1982-93 (6,820)
1984-90 (4,832)
1998



Tuen Mun
et
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WA
Ma On Shan
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Sai Kung
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i »H
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Projects under Construction
EEPNIEAF

Asat31 March 202 HE-T——F=A=1+—HIt

Target
Completion
Year

RASEREH

Project and Associated Facilities

BB EBRRIE

QUALITY RETIREMENT LIVING PROJECT [B&ERKEEIER

2014

Tanner Hill Project

Quality Retirement Living project with tailor-made
facilities and services for seniors

A& LB

[BERINEE |18 B B R AR A 2% ma&0E 5 AR 7S

URBAN RENEWAL PROJECT mEEZ15H

2013

2014

2015

2015

2016

2016

“Heya Green” — 18 Po On Road, Cheung Sha Wan
Residential development with retail units, Government,
Institution and Community facilities

[Ef] - RDERZEISH

FEEBETEmME - BT - #E Rt R FiE

Shau Kei Wan Road / Nam On Street, Shau Kei Wan
Residential cum retirement housing development with
retail units

LEEBTHEEE BRE
FERBARFEEIEBETEEH

Castle Peak Road / Cheung Wah Street, Sham Shui Po
Residential development with retail units
FKSEILEBES

FEBRAETERH

Castle Peak Road / Hing Wah Street, Sham Shui Po
Residential development with retail units
RSB ILE S EE

FEHEETZEEH

Castle Peak Road / Un Chau Street, Sham Shui Po
Residential development with retail units
SHAKE ILE T

FEEAETERH

Un Chau Street / Fuk Wing Street, Sham Shui Po
Residential development with retail units, Government,
Institution and Community facilities

TS TN R

ETHEBETE/E - BT - Rt R R

CITY REVITALISATION PROJECT i ESE{LIE B

2012

Yuen Long

Beautification and improvement to streetscape and
landscaping at identified locations

T BA

& RS

MY HOME PURCHASE PLAN [ EZ 0B BIERETE |

2014

Tsing Luk Street, Tsing Yi
Residential development with small to medium units
EEIR B RN AL E (T

Grand Total &
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No. of
Units
BNEAE

588

327

274

130

175

350

275

988

3,107

Architect
A

Ronald Lu & Partners (Hong Kong)
Limited
BT REM BT (BE) BRAR]

Dennis Lau & Ng Chun Man Architects
& Engineers (H.K.) Limited

BIR BRI REEMEBHT (BH)
AR

Ronald Lu & Partners (Hong Kong)
Limited
BT REMELAT (BE) BRI

Dennis Lau & Ng Chun Man Architects
& Engineers (H.K.) Limited
BIRBEMIRRBEMELHT (BH)
BRAF]

Dennis Lau & Ng Chun Man Architects
& Engineers (H.K.) Limited
BIRBEMIRRBEMERT (BF)
BRAF]

Dennis Lau & Ng Chun Man Architects
& Engineers (H.K.) Limited

R FERIRREEMEBA ()
BRAA]

Dennis Lau & Ng Chun Man Architects
& Engineers (H.K.) Limited
BIRBEOIRREEMERI(ES)
BRAA

Scott Wilson Limited (Lead consultant)

BIEERMREEERATE (BERA)

Chung Wah Nan Architects Limited
EEREEMAR AR



Quantity Surveyor

TRBAIE AR

Sweett (China) Limited
ZREE (PE) BRAF

Langdon & Seah
Hong Kong Limited
BEHBEEBRAA

H. A. Brechin & Co.
Limited
HEVE(BHE)BRAA

Langdon & Seah
Hong Kong Limited
AEHEAERAT

Langdon & Seah
Hong Kong Limited
BEBEABRAR

Langdon & Seah
Hong Kong Limited
BEBEEBRA R

Langdon & Seah
Hong Kong Limited
BEHEBBERDA]

WT Partnership (HK)
Limited
B (BE) BRAR

Rider Levett Bucknall
Limited
MEEBBRAR]

Structural Engineer

R TRE

Greg Wong & Associates
Limited
=2 BN TR E%AT

Wong Pak Lam & Associates
Consulting Engineers &
Architects Limited
HIAMEETIRMAR QA

Greg Wong & Associates
Limited
2B TR EISAT

Siu Yin Wai & Associates
Limited
AFBEFREETIRMARAR

Siu Yin Wai & Associates
Limited
AR B EELETIZEMARAR

Siu Yin Wai & Associates
Limited
BREBRETIRAARAR]

Siu Yin Wai & Associates
Limited
BREBEETIRAARAR]

Services to be provided by
the sub-consultant of the lead
consultant

PR e 48 B R O AL B R AR AL

Meinhardt (C&S) Limited
B TR TR
BRAHA]

Building Services
Engineer

EFRETREM

Hyder Consulting
Limited
ZiH T2 AR AR]

J. Roger Preston
Limited
BEIEEMRERAR

J. Roger Preston
Limited
BiEIEBERBRAR

Meinhardt (M&E)
Limited
BEMTTEEBER
NI

Meinhardt (M&E)
Limited
BEMRETEEBER

NG

Meinhardt (M&E)
Limited
BERETIREMBR

AR

Meinhardt (M&E)
Limited
BERETRERAR
NG|

Services to be provided
by the sub-consultant
of the lead consultant
Bl 7% R 4B BE R A0 [ B
SEras

J. Roger Preston
Limited
BiETIEEMAR AR

Contractor

A

Paul Y. General Contractors Limited
RERLELERR AT

China Resources Construction
Company Limited
EHEEGRAT

Paul Y. General Contractors Limited
REZELERR AT

Foundation Contractor:
Chun Wo Foundations Limited
BRI ETIRER AR

Foundation Contractor:
Chun Wo Foundations Limited
EMHETIZEARAR

Foundation Contractor:
Tysan Foundation Limited

FHRMETRARAA

Foundation Contractor:
Tysan Foundation Limited

RARMETERERAA

Bordon Construction Company
Limited
BERERRAA

Foundation Contractor:
Gammon Construction Limited

EPIZEERAF

PROJECTS UNDER CONSTRUCTION / i/ 918 B
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Projects under Planning
REIPHIEE

Asat31 March 202 H#E=-T——F=A=1+—HIt

Target

Completion No. of

Year Project and Associated Facilities Units Architect

AR E 4 15 B BB NRRIE BB EEM

QUALITY RETIREMENT LIVING PROJECT [B&EEK4EZFIER

2018 Wetland Park Road Project 950 AGC Design Limited
Development of an integrated community project for B AR A A

the seniors comprising quality retirement housing,
hotel and wellness centre with tailor-made facilities
and services

Rt AEKIER
BREHEBERREE  BE - BRPAORFERRKA
=+ i AR H R e K AR 7S
CITY REVITALISATION PROJECT M E/E{L1EH
2014 Iconic Footbridge at Tuen Mun River = Mott MacDonald Hong Kong Limited
Construction of an iconic footbridge across Tuen Mun (Lead consultant)
River linking Tuen Mun Town Park and Tin Hau Temple REERENEABRAR (FBEERH)
Plaza
HPSTHASEITAXRE

BREETAXNBEERPFITHEARRREBES
RENTAL ESTATE REDEVELOPMENT HiHEHEZIER

2019 Ming Wah Dai Ha Redevelopment To be To be appointed
(Phase | Rental estate with elderly flats approved  [H{FZERE
FE15) PHEAESEIRE B R
PREREEN 2 HHEET
Grand Total Z2(* 950

* Excluding Ming Wah Dai Ha Redevelopment
TBREREAESRZTRE
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Quantity Surveyor
THBAIEED

Rider Levett Bucknall
Limited
ML ERAT]

Services to be provided by
the sub-consultant of the
lead consultant

AR %5 R 48 BE O (B R T
R4

To be appointed
CRESH

Structural Engineer

ERITIRED

Siu Yin Wai & Associates
Limited
AR BEEEETIZMARAR

Services to be provided by
the sub-consultant of the lead
consultant

PR e 4R EE T RO L B B AR A

To be appointed
MR

Building Services
Engineer

BFRETREM

Meinhardt (M&E)
Limited
BEMTETERER

NG

Services to be
provided by the sub-
consultant of the lead
consultant

B 7% FR 48 BE A9 1 3B
AR

To be appointed
MR

Contractor
REH

To be appointed
mFEIE

To be appointed
ChE

To be appointed
HFREE
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BYREEHRES

To the members of Hong Kong Housing Society
(incorporated under The Hong Kong Housing Society Incorporation
Ordinance)

We have audited the financial statements of Hong Kong Housing
Society (the “Society”) set out on pages 91 to 135, which comprise
the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2012, the
statement of comprehensive income, the statement of changes

in net assets and the statement of cash flows for the year then
ended and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

Responsibility of the Executive Committee Members
for the financial statements

The Executive Committee Members of the Society are responsible
for the preparation of the financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and for such internal control as the Executive Committee Members
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audit. This report is made solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with Section 60 of the Constitution of the Hong
Kong Housing Society, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BB ES

Auditor’s responsibility (Continued)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditor’'s judgment, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
entity's preparation of the financial statements that give a true and
fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate

in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the
Executive Committee Members, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the Society as at 31 March 2012 and of its
surplus and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

Hong Kong, 19 July 2012
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Financial Statements

RS HRR

Statement of Comprehensive Income 2 mE¥ s &
For the Year Ended 31 March 2012 &= ——F=A=+—HILFE

Note
(in HK$Million) (B¥EET) BdaE 2012 2011
Income WA
Revenue BEWA 6 1,067.1 2,875.3
Other income Hplg A 175 20.4
1,084.6 2,895.7
Expenditure X
Property development and related costs MR R AR - 1,340.9
Marketing and selling expenses T RIEEER - 11.3
Property leasing and management EFHEREES
expenses 376.0 828.8
Staff costs B T AR 2R 385.6 354.2
Depreciation on investment properties BEYENE 223.3 190.1
Depreciation on property and equipment  #¥RZRETE 28.2 25.0
Investment expenses "EEH 40.2 30.7
Financial subsidies (written back)/to (M), 4G FEEEED
home owners B84 B) (40.4) 19.4
Revitalisation/community project JE(b/HRIER X H
expenditures 8.6 122.2
Other expenses HEh 52.1 65.3
Auditor’s remuneration IZERED BN < 0.7 0.8
1,074.3 2,483.2
Staff costs capitalised B TRk AEEL (46.1) (35.8)
Reversal of provision for financial WEI ISEEMEEE R T
guarantee and unutilised development S0P RESEETEIDFN
cost for completed projects upon issue
of final accounts (29.6) -
998.6 2,447 .4
Surplus before investment income REW AR R ER 86.0 448.3
Investment income BREWA
Investment related financial assets and BRERENTIEEEN
liabilities =15
— Gain on disposal — HESHEF 117.2 220.5
— (Decrease)/increase in fair value — 2 REECRD), 18 (115.4) 517.1
Other investment income E AR &M A 682.9 321.3
7 684.7 1,058.9
Net surplus and total comprehensive KEFRGBTFHER
income for the year Z2HEBA 770.7 1,507.2

The notes on pages 95 to 135 form part of these financial statements.
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Financial Statements

ISR R

Statement of Financial Position Bf &AM 3%

At 31 March 2012 A—Z——F=F=+—H

Note
(in HK$Million) (B¥EHER) Fo=E 2012 2011
Non-current assets FREBEE
Investment properties REYZE 11 8,5617.2 7,369.9
Property and equipment LIEIE ] 12 370.8 327.7
Loans receivable U E = 13 471 61.2
8,935.1 7,758.8
Current assets RENEE
Properties under development for sale EHERSENRERYE 14 3,370.5 3,039.9
Investment related financial assets BRERENMEEE 15 11,759.9 11,392.7
Loans receivable TEE = 13 4.7 6.1
Accounts receivable and prepayments FEURBRIE N FE (T & 16 267.2 260.2
Cash and bank balances 04 RIRITEEH 17 6,496.7 7,640.0
21,899.0 22,338.9
Current liabilities REaE
Accounts payable, sundry deposits and FEERTE « FIFR S K
accruals e RElE] 18 (878.4) (754.9)
Investment related financial liabilities BREANTSaE 15 (49.6) (95.3)
Provisions Pl 19 (307.1) (404.7)
Loans from government BRER 20 (3.5) (3.5)
(1,238.6) (1,258.4)
Net current assets REEE S 20,660.4 21,080.5
Non-current liabilities FERBEE
Lease income received in advance S 18 (128.9) (139.9)
Loans from government BFER 20 (61.1) (64.6)
(190.0) (204.5)
Net assets BESE 29,405.5 28,634.8

BRENEI1BEMTERERENR_ZE——F+A
TNBBEATEESIERBEER - WA TIEE

The financial statements on pages 91 to 135 were approved by the
Executive Committee and authorized for issue on 19 July 2012 and

are signed on its behalf of: REKFEF :
Yeung Ka-sing (Chairman) BRB(EE)

K L Wong (Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director) B (7T RN TR E)

The notes on pages 95 to 135 form part of these financial statements. 28955 551358 WIMI B A SR T A —20 5 °
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Financial Statements

RS HRR

Statement of Changes in Net Assets &EFEZ )X
For the Year Ended 31 March 2012 #2 2 ——F=A=+—HILFE

(in HK$Million) (B HBIT) 2012 2011
Net assets EERE
Accumulated surplus EL-Vds
At 1 April MA—H 28,634.8 27,127.6
Net surplus and total comprehensive income AEFRBRFER

for the year 2EA 770.7 1,507.2
At 31 March =A=+—H 29,405.5 28,634.8

The notes on pages 95 to 135 form part of these financial statements.
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Financial Statements

ISR R

Statement of Cash Flows I& &gk

For the Year Ended 31 March 2012 &2 =T ——F=A=+—HILtFE

(in HK$Million) (B¥EHET) 2012 2011
Operating activities EETEE
Cash receipts from tenants AR FTUCE Y ER & 1,028.9 1,004.6
Cash receipts from flat buyers WEFERUREM RS 1.0 1,852.8
Cash receipts from property owners WEFEF PR AER & 63.9 96.8
Cash payments for property leasing and EFHEREERN

management BHeTH (349.5) (324.2)
Cash payments for site acquisition and U i ot N2 B R A AN

project development BeH i (262.2) (96.1)
Cash payments to employees in respect of 8 TH B K487l

salaries and other benefits BE&SH (379.3) (847.7)
Cash payments for social projects EEEE RS H (28.6) (34.6)
Other cash payments HIR & (50.2) (49.9)
Net cash generated from operating activities “EZEHRLSHENEE 24.0 2,101.7
Investing activities RETE
Interest received A BEUA 349.6 262.7
Dividends received BB U A 101.9 90.2
Release of time deposits EHIF RO L 1,992.3 1,388.9
Payment for redevelopment/rehabilitation/ REMEEZ 1RIES

purchase of investment properties EBEYH (1,370.8) (2,154.8)
Payment for property and equipment MERZRESZ L (71.4) (28.6)
Payment for investments WEYH (132.9) (1,428.9)
Payment for investment management fees WEREIEE T (40.2) (30.7)
Net cash used in investing activities RETHES KRN FE 828.5 (1,901.2)
Cash used in financing activity RMEEBHHRERH
Repayment of loans from the Government BEEBITER (3.5) (3.5)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents B4R REZEEEEMEE 849.0 197.0
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April ME—BR4$RFSEEBERERE 2,086.7 1,889.7
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March =A=1+—BB4RELZEIRER 2,935.7 2,086.7
Analysis of the balances of cash and ReRFESEEER

cash equivalents EERD AT
Cash and bank balances R RIRITIFR 2,935.7 2,086.7
Analysis of cash and bank balances RERBITHEBRDM
Balances of cash and cash equivalents BeMReEEHEE £5% 2,935.7 2,086.7
Time deposits with maturity of more than HAE =& A 2 HE

three months EHITE R 3,561.0 5,5063.8

6,496.7 7,640.0

The notes on pages 95 to 135 form part of these financial statements.
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Financial Statements

RS HRR

Notes to the Financial Statements Bf#& &Mt

General

The Hong Kong Housing Society (the “Housing Society”) was
incorporated on 18 May 1951 under the Hong Kong Housing
Society Incorporation Ordinance. The address of its registered
office and principal place of business is 29/F, World Trade
Centre, 280 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong.

The principal activities of the Housing Society are property sales,
leasing, management and financing, which are all conducted in
Hong Kong.

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
which is also the functional currency of the Housing Society.

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"), which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs") and Interpretations issued

by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong. A summary of the significant accounting policies
adopted by the Housing Society is set out below.

Significant accounting policies

(a) Basis of preparation of the financial
statements

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis, except for
certain financial instruments which are stated at fair values
as explained in the accounting policies below.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application

of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and various
other factors that are believed to be reasonable under

the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of
making the judgements about carrying values of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.
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Financial Statements

BB &

Notes to the Financial Statements Bf 73Rz M

B

3 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(a)

(b)

HONG KONG HOUSING SOCIETY ANNUAL REPORT 2012 / HEEEHE —O—_FFR

Basis of preparation of the financial
statements (Continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised

if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Changes in accounting policies

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs
that are first effective for the current accounting period of
the Housing Society. Of these, the following are relevant to
the financial statements of the Housing Society:

—  HKAS 24 (revised 2009), Related party disclosures

HKAS 24 (Revised 2009) revises the definition of a
related party. As a result, the Housing Society has
re-assessed the identification of related parties and
concluded that the revised definition does not have
any material impact on the Group's related party
disclosures in the current and prior years. HKAS 24
(Revised 2009) also introduces modified disclosure
requirements for government-related entities. This
does not impact the Housing Society because the
Housing Society is not a government-related entity.

—  Improvements to HKFRSs (2010)

Improvements to HKFRSs (2010) omnibus standard
introduces a number of amendments to the disclosure
requirements in HKFRS 7, Financial instruments:
Disclosures. These amendments do not have any
material impact on the classification, recognition and
measurements of the amounts recognised in the
financial statements in the current and prior years.

3

FTESHBEKR®)

(a)

(b)

MBBMROMREE @)

B E e N S IR AR RER -
MREFHEFTOETRRFERX MR
HYEFESEZHE AR - RETH
EAIMARBESAEZE - AEELER
HERRI MR SRER R N RERR

B BEREH

BREGMAGEM T 2 EBUBRE
EANMEET REEMEASHHMERE
W EHREERRE M REARENE
ELUNNE

— (FEAEEADFE - TIR(ZZE
NFERTAR) BIEA LK E

(BERGFEIE-TIHR(ZZEE
NEBRIARVERTH BB L — A8
T o Bt - BFEBEEHFHEE
AT F - BERAEEERERL
BEAVEFEHEEZENNBISF
ERENREALTREEE (FE
SEEADE - TR (—ETNFE
AIA)EHERBTEESIATEE
R E 2K - FERE MR L IEHK
RER @ PIALEEALRITE -

— B EBMBREEI(ZF—
=)

BIKEEMBHRELEIN—ZE—F
FRAENEKE BB I|ME LD
FELR M IR - KE/NREER
BitZRER] - IEFTHERRES
RFBEFEMBHRRHE - #R
KA 8L TEBREATE -



Financial Statements

BrRE IR

Notes to the Financial Statements Bf #3Z i3

3 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(c)

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the
HKICPA has issued a number of amendments and new
standards which are not yet effective for the year ended
31 March 2012 and which have not been adopted in these
financial statements. These include the following which
may be relevant to the Housing Society:

Amendments to Financial instruments: Disclosures —

HKFRS 7 Transters of financial assets'
Amendments to Presentation of financial statements
HKAS 1 — Presentation of items of other

comprehensive income?
HKFRS 13 Fair value measurement®
HKFRS 9 Financial instruments*

i Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2013

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2015

The Housing Society is in the process of making an
assessment of what the impact of these amendments is
expected to be in the period of initial application. Apart
from the application of HKFRS 9, so far it has concluded
that the adoption of these amendments and new standards
is unlikely to have a significant impact on the Housing
Society’s results of operations and financial position.

The application of HKFRS 9 may affect the classification
and measurement of the Housing Society’s financial
instruments. However, the Housing Society is unable to
disclose the impact arising from the adoption of this new
standard until a detailed review has been performed.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Provided it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Housing Society and the
revenue and costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably,
revenue is recognised in profit or loss as follows:
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf#&R Mt

3 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(c)

(d)

HONG KONG HOUSING SOCIETY ANNUAL REPORT 2012 / HEEEHE —O—_FFR

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue arising from the sale of properties held for sale
is recognised when the respective properties have been
completed and delivered to the buyers. Deposits and
instalments received on properties sold prior to the date
of revenue recognition are included in the statement of
financial position under deposits on sale of properties.

Rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in
equal instalments over the accounting periods covered by
the lease term, except where an alternative basis is more
representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from
the use of the leased asset. Lease incentives granted are
recognised as an integral part of the aggregate net lease
payments receivable. Contingent rentals are recognised as
income in the accounting period in which they are earned.

Management fee income is recognised when services are
rendered.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method.

Dividend income from unlisted investments is recognised
when the shareholder’s right to receive payment is
established. Dividend income from listed investments is
recognised when the share price of the investment goes
ex-dividend.

Investment properties

Investment properties are carried at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

No depreciation is provided for investment properties under
development until such asset is ready for its intended use.
Depreciation on completed properties is provided to write
off the cost of the properties over the estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method at the following rates
per annum:
Leasehold land Over the unexpired period of the land
lease

Over the estimated economic useful
lives of 40 to 60 years or the
unexpired period of the land lease,
whichever is the shorter

Buildings
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf #3Z i3

3 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(d) Investment properties (Continued)

(e)

(f)

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use or no future economic benefits are expected from
its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of
the asset (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is
included in the statement of comprehensive income in the
year in which the asset is derecognised.

Property and equipment and depreciation

Property and equipment held for use in the production

or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of
property and equipment over the estimated useful lives,
using the straight-line method at the following rates per
annum:

Leasehold land and Over the estimated economic useful

buildings lives of forty years or the unexpired
period of the land lease, whichever
is the shorter
Equipment 20%-25%

An item of property and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as

the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset) is included in the statement
of comprehensive income in the year in which the asset is
derecognised.

Leasehold land and buildings

When a lease includes both land and building elements,
the Housing Society assesses the classification of each
element as a finance or an operating lease separately based
on the assessment as to whether substantially all the risks
and rewards incidental to ownership of each element have
been transferred to the Housing Society, unless it is clear
that both elements are operating leases, in which case the
entire lease is classified as an operating lease. Specifically,
the minimum lease payments (including any lump-sum
upfront payments) are allocated between the land and the
building elements in proportion to the relative fair values
of the leasehold interests in the land element and building
element of the lease at the inception of the lease.
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3 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(9)

(h)

(i)

Properties under development for sale

Properties under development for sale in the ordinary
course of business are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

The cost of properties under development for sale
comprises specifically identified cost, including the
acquisition cost of land, aggregate cost of development,
materials and supplies, wages and other direct expenses
capitalised, and an appropriate proportion of overheads and
borrowing costs capitalised. Net realisable value represents
the estimated selling price, based on prevailing market
conditions, less estimated costs of completion and costs to
be incurred in selling the property.

Housing inventories

Housing inventories represent completed properties
held for sale and are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time

to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised
as part of the cost of those assets. Capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs capitalised.

All other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in
the period in which they are incurred.
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FESHBEKR®)
BEITA

3 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3

(j) Financial instruments (i

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised

in the statement of financial position when the Housing
Society becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. Financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than loans from government) are initially measured at fair
value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than “financial assets and financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss"”) are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,

as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of “financial assets

or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss” are
recognised immediately as an expense in the statement of
comprehensive income.

(1) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method
less any identified impairment losses. Appropriate
allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income
when there is objective evidence that the asset is
impaired. The impairment recognised is measured as
the difference between the asset's carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows
discounted at the effective interest rate computed at
initial recognition. Impairment losses are reversed in
subsequent periods when an increase in the asset'’s
recoverable amount can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised,
subject to a restriction that the carrying amount of the
asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not
exceed what the amortised cost would have been had
the impairment not been recognised.
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3 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(j) Financial instruments (Continued)

(2)

(3)

(4)
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Financial assets/liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss

Financial assets/liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss ("FVTPL") comprise (i) investment related
financial assets (including equity and debt securities,
hedge fund and financial derivative assets) and (ii)
investment-related financial liabilities (including
financial derivative liabilities), (see “investment
related financial assets/liabilities” as described

in Note 15). These financial assets/liabilities are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis
where the purchase or sale of an investment is under
a contract whose terms require delivery/settlement
of the investment within the timeframe established
by the market concerned, and are measured at fair
value. Realised gains and losses from the investment
transactions, and unrealised gains and losses from

changes in fair value at the end of the reporting period,

are included in the statement of comprehensive
income for the period. Until realisation, gains and
losses may fluctuate subsequent to the end of the
reporting period depending on market movements in
investment prices and foreign exchange rates.

Financial liabilities other than loans from
government

Financial liabilities (including accounts payables and
accruals) other than loans from government are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that
requires the issuer to make specific payments to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payment when due

in accordance with the original or modified terms

of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract
issued by the Housing Society and not designated

as at fair value through profit or loss is subsequently
measured at the higher of: (i) the amount determined
in accordance with HKAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets”; and (i) the amount
initially recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative
amortisation recognised in accordance with HKAS 18
“Revenue”.

FEHE —O——FF®R

3

FTESHBEKR®)

MBI R

(i)

(2)

(3)

(4)

RESRADABERENTEEE
k&fE

RBZEEA AR BEEENHMEEE
KREE(TFVTPLD) BIE()BRIRER
MBEE(BRARS - EFES
HHESRERITETANEE) R
IBEHERENVBABE(ANSRITE
TAMERE)  BEFBERMETR
(BRRENUBEERBBEFIH
HiER R BB RIAR 5 B ELEM
HARBEAR  XTESKERADN
ﬁ%ﬁm%ﬁﬁ?ﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂqmﬁkﬁ’]
REEE - AREXZMELNTE
REE  FARNERSHARAAREER
HEMEENAZERE  HEEI
HHFH?E’JEEMZEQ’%W&B% FEARBIR

C RBRBEERRERRENT
i%E&%ﬂE%&M\ME@?@%E’U?&%UHﬁ
E&L*ZO

BRERUNNAIEEE

BUFEFRAIN SR E B (B ERN
EEIE&EEEHE%)ELA,\B?%%J/D\/XE
Hg FERIBE R A E -

BBREELN

%%%MDQEEI KT ABLIRE R
BEAREEBEBARERBEB TR
mﬁﬁiwﬁJﬁﬁiﬁﬂﬂtﬁﬁ
SREKRE - WA AENEEHA
WEX - FEHSAEHNIBRE
B8R RARETEREBRERRA
AEERE - HRORIHESRIA
Tﬁ%Zﬁfaﬂ% (VRBBEE
HRFE=+LREH  KABER
HEEEIREAFEZEE MR
SR EHERISE R = R WA A
RNEREEEEEHRERES
3



Financial Statements

BrRE IR

Notes to the Financial Statements Bf#& &Mt

3 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3 TESTHHEXEw®)
(j) Financial instruments (Continued) () B¥IR®
(5) Derecognition (5) BUHMER
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights EREERBRGREZENE R
to receive cash flows from the assets expire or, the B MG EEEEBREREEHEE

financial assets are transferred and the Housing
Society has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the financial assets.
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum
of the consideration received is recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income.

Financial liabilities are removed from the Housing
Society’s statement of financial position when

the obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged or cancelled or expires. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid, including

any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed,

is recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income.

(k) Impairment of assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Housing Society
reviews the carrying amounts of its assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment
loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount and the circumstances and events leading to the
impairment cease to exist. Where an impairment loss
subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but the increased carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised as income immediately.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B #3RZ< M 3T

3 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3 FEEHBE#®

(I) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, having been within three months of maturity at

acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand

and form an integral part of the Housing Society’s cash

management are also included as a component of cash and
cash equivalents for the purpose of the statement of cash

flows.

(m) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Housing Society has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past

events, and it is probable that an outflow of resources
will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made. Provisions are measured at the

management'’s best estimate of the expenditure required
to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period,

and are discounted to present value where the effect is
material.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic

benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated
reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,

unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only

be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one

or more future events, are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote.

(n) Government grants and assistance

Government grants received or receivable after 1 April

2003 are recognised as income over the period necessary

to match them with the related costs. Grants related to

depreciable assets received or receivable after 1 April 2003
are presented as a deduction from the carrying amount of
the relevant asset and are recognised as income over the
useful lives of the assets by way of a reduced depreciation

charge.

Government assistance relating to land obtained from
the Government without a premium being charged are
recorded by the Housing Society at a nominal amount.

Loans from Government granted before 1 April 2009

at nil or low interest rate are initially measured at cost
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
contractual rate.

104 HONG KONG HOUSING SOCIETY ANNUAL REPORT 2012 / EEEEHE —O——F4R

n

(m)

(n)

RERBEESEEY

RekReSBYRERTEFREEAS
T DR SR 17 Ko L th B F5 e 48 6008 B A7 3K
AREHmARRBIERIRE - BLERE
ANBERBESEANREELS AR T
R UEBAR=FEARNIHZRLHE -
HRHERERERMNE  RERREEE
P BEANEEBRNRER  THKE
EmgReEE M nrRiTEX

f

BRENZERERFEBE AR AERE
ERME MARRAANERFSERNERE
NBEBEEPE R ZFIR - EZFIRES
AT AR NBERT  ZRESRE
o RBEREEERNREHMRIELEE
NBEBEREMS R 2RBENKEGT - &
FRFEERE » ZAEBRREREAN
BR o

fisd 35 2 A 4P R as 1) B RSN O AT BRI R
K RREEHABBEEEL A EARG
o AIESZEERERSAEE  ER
ERE BN R ERINRA AT B R IE &
ARSI - BRBFERISRAREMNZ
BREAEREFEATNEERE - T
ERFESINEE  ARONEREM &
BIRINRE AT BEMEAR AR RIBR SN ©

BT HBh & & &8

E-ZTT=FM A — B2 KEE B E
B - 19 RBAKAECLLES B
BNERRBRA - E-ZEZT=FMA—H
BRUERK BRI TEEEMBS - Al
EREENREET RS  XRIEZEE
EREHARITENTERRRIRA -

VAT 30 8 (R DR AT HE F 55 [ 17 & B - 30 7 B)
EUNSRBA SRR

RZZZNFMA — BRI RZSERN G
ARBIFERE K RAKAERE - Hig
RIBA KT RS ATTE



Financial Statements

BrRE IR

Notes to the Financial Statements Bf #3Z i3

3 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(o)

(p)

(q)

(r)

Foreign currencies

Transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of the Housing Society (foreign currencies) are
initially recorded at the rates prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on that date. Non-monetary items
carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the
date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currencies are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the translation of monetary items,
are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income

in the period in which they arise.

Employees benefit

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees. \Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to Defined Contribution Retirement Benefit
Scheme and Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are
charged as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

Related parties

(1) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the Housing Society if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Housing

Society;

(i) bhas significant influence over the Housing; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel

of the Housing Society.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B #3RZ< M 3T

3 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
(r) Related parties (Continued)

(2) An entity is related to the Housing Society if any of the
following conditions applies:

() The entity and the Housing Society are members
of the same group (which means that each parent
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (1) above.

(vii) A person identified in (1)(i) above has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

(s) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Housing Society’s most senior executive management
for the purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing
the performance of, the Housing Society's various lines of
business.
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3 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3 TESTHHEXEw®)

(s) Segment reporting (Continued)

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect
of the nature of products and services, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products

or provide the services. Operating segments which are

(s) DEHEE)
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not individually material may be aggregated if they share a FTE

maijority of these criteria.
Capital risk management 4 EBEXERER
The Housing Society’s capital comprises primarily the surplus EEHENEATEREARYARMERNER
accumulated since its establishment and its objective when t#%h o EEAEENENRERREEHSRFE
managing capital is to ensure that the Housing Society will KEWRESHSREBEEERR
be able to continue as a going concern so that it can continue
to provide quality housing and services for the Hong Kong
community.
Given that the Housing Society's funding is mainly raised EEHENESETERANIRMY - BEAR
internally, the policies on capital risk management are therefore MEREBER T EFROMAREE S BRRERE
focused on how to preserve the surplus funds in order to B EMEREERNEH o FAESREBEIIRN
achieve the above capital management objective. Related MiFERA o
policies on preserving the surplus funds are set out in Note 5.
Financial risk management objectives and 5 HBEREEEERBEER

policies

The Housing Society’s major financial instruments comprise the
followings:

FEWEZ TE2HMBITABLRE

(in HK$Million) (B¥EET) 2012 2011
Investment related financial assets BRRENTBEEE 11,759.9 11,392.7
Investment related financial liabilities BERKRENT BB R 49.6 95.3
Loans and receivables (including cash and ExKkEWEE(SERS &

bank balances) RITHERR) 6,807.7 7,964.7
Financial liabilities at amortised cost BRI IR ASE AR S A& 855.5 733.4
Loans from government BFER 64.6 68.1

Details of the above financial instruments are disclosed in the
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments and the policies applied by the Housing Society
to mitigate these risks are set out below. Management
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented in a timely and effective manner.
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5 Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

(a)

(b)

HONG KONG HOUSING SOCIETY ANNUAL REPORT 2012 / HEEEHE —O—_FFR

Credit risk

The Housing Society is exposed to credit risk, which is the
risk that a counterparty may default on its bank deposits,
fixed income investments and accounts receivable or the
Housing Society may be required to pay if the financial
guarantee is called on. The Housing Society’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss

to the Housing Society in the event of the counterparty’s
failure to perform their obligations at the end of the
reporting period in relation to each class of recognised
financial assets and the financial guarantees provided are
the carrying amounts of those assets as stated in the
statement of financial position and the amount of financial
guarantee disclosed in Note 19(b).

For bank deposits, the Housing Society limits its exposure
by placing funds only with investment grade licensed
banks as approved by Hong Kong Monetary Authority. To
ensure there is no significant concentration of credit risk
to a single counterparty, procedures are in place to ensure
diversification and the bank deposits placed with each
counterparty are subject to a maximum limit and this limit
is monitored on an on-going basis and revised according
to the counterparty’s latest credit rating and financial
information.

For fixed income investments, the Housing Society reduces
its exposure by investing in investment grades securities
only. There are further restrictions on the holding limit of
BBB rated bonds and corporate bonds.

The Housing Society has no significant concentration
of credit risk, with exposure spread over a number of
counterparties.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Housing Society is not able
to meet its obligations and commitments as they fall due.
All Housing Society's investments are kept sufficiently
liquid and readily realisable to meet operation needs and
any unexpected cash demands. In addition, the Housing
Society also monitors the liquidity risk by performing cash
flow analysis on a regular basis.

Apart from certain accounts payable and loans from
government which were not expected to be settled within
one year after the end of the reporting period as disclosed
in notes 18 and 20, all other financial liabilities, which were
non-interest bearing, were expected to be settled within
one year.
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5 Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

(c) Market risk

Market risk is the risk of loss arising from the movement
of foreign exchange rates, interest rates and market price
of securities. The Housing Society is exposed to market

risk through its investments in equities and fixed income

investments.

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Foreign exchange risk

The Housing Society’s foreign currency positions arise
mainly from its financial assets/liabilities denominated
in currencies other than Hong Kong dollars and United
States dollars. The exchange risk between Hong

Kong dollars and United States dollars is considered
insignificant since Hong Kong dollars are pegged to

United States dollars.

The Housing Society is exposed to foreign currency
risk through its fixed deposits, equity investments
and fixed income investments. The foreign exchange
risk on fixed deposits is controlled and monitored

by allocation limits. The equity and fixed income
investments, which are managed by fund managers,
are denominated in a basket of currencies. The fund
managers are encouraged to hedge their foreign
currency exposures to Hong Kong dollars or United
States dollars in accordance with the strategic asset

allocation.

Price risk

The Housing Society is subject to price risk on its
investments. This risk is controlled and monitored by

asset allocation limit.

Fair value interest rate risk

The Housing Society’s exposure on fair value interest
rate risk mainly arises from its fixed deposits and
investment in fixed income investments (including
financial derivatives classified under investment

related financial assets/liabilities).

As the fixed deposits usually mature within 6 months,
the exposure is considered not material. For fixed
income investments, where necessary, fund managers
will use interest rate swaps and other derivatives to

manage the interest rate risk.

5
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5 Financial risk management objectives and 5 HXRREEEERBX®)
policies (Continued)
(c) Market risk (Continued) (c) WiZmEbE#)
(iv) Sensitivity analysis on significant financial assets (iv)] BIREESREDN

The Housing Society uses the Risk Budgeting FEwGERRRBEERY T X
approach (“RBA") to measure sensitivity and manage (RBAD R EHFXELRERERS
the financial risks for its investments portfolio which FARENVBEERMBEE R
comprises investment related financial assets and THRSNEMI B EERAGBHRE
liabilities, bank balances and other financial assets/ HE 7R - RBABERBRFIE -
liabilities at the end of the reporting period. The RBA b R 2 IR R (B 1% 2 B KRB A R R A
reflects the interdependencies between interest rate o

risk, foreign exchange rate risk and equity price risk.

The RBA estimates the variability and the RBAMGFT RIS E B/ LK T ) — B 3%
expectation of the returns over a given holding BEIRFBRTEEAE 3R R L AT & -
period for a specified confidence level. The Risk B R TEE R E RIS EERM
Budgeting methodology is a statistically defined, BREEEREEMISHNES) « LAEM
assumption based approach that takes into account L K 7 qn AN T 35 2 TRl AT e SR ) L B
market volatilities, historical views as well as risk 2 REMKREEEHEHE
diversification by recognising the correlations between Z B1I0%(ZT——F :10%)H
products and markets. At the end of the reporting HeER—F AR EENBASER
period, there was a 10% (2011: 10%) chance that the BETNE=FT\BBT( =T ——
potential loss of the Housing Society’s investments F:BETZERATERT) - WHE
would exceed HK$1,438 million (2011: HK$1,250 REFE—FR - BO%MKE - RE
million) over a one-year period. The number reflects BARBTEBE LHET -

the 90% probability that the loss on the investments
during a one-year period will not exceed the aforesaid

figures.
The RBA has limitations associated with assumptions RBAEZ EFTARIERE A FTRE] 1t
employed. It is based on historical experience and EERABENKRIE R ELE
forward looking judgement on various economic EEAE -« R KR E BRI ARR
factors such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates KB MHIE AER - W EIRER
and equity prices. This implies that the approach does EHRELE RIETI5 R R Al g H IR
not take into account of any sudden changes in market HIIER °
behaviour.
6 Revenue 6 EEWA
(in HK$Million) (B¥EET) 2012 2011
Revenue from property sales HEWERA - 1,847.7
Revenue from property leasing YEREUWA 1,020.6 981.3
Revenue from property management PEEEWA 43.4 41.4
Interest income from loans receivable FEUE A B U A 3.1 4.9

1,067.1 2,875.3
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7 Investment income 7 BRERA
(in HK$Million) (BEEET) 2012 2011
Investment related financial assets and ERERENHBEERERS
liabilities
Gain on disposal = S | 117.2 220.5
(Decrease)/increase in fair value DREECKD),Hn (115.4) 517.1
1.8 737.6
Other investment income HiimE WA
Interest income FEUA 352.0 264.6
Dividend income F& B U A 101.9 90.2
Exchange differences ERER 229.0 (33.5)
682.9 321.3
684.7 1,058.9

Movements in fair value on investments are unrealised and may
fluctuate subsequent to the end of the reporting period subject
to subsequent market movements in investment prices and
foreign exchange rates.

8 Executive committee members’ emoluments and 8
fees

The aggregate emoluments of the members of the Executive
Committee are as follows:

WANDAL BEOBDRAERY < FGES
SIS B RO AR D)
i

HITZEEEZECHMERER

WITZESeZBMAFBIBRENT

(in HK$Million) (B¥EERT) 2012 2011

Honorarium IE e 0.7 0.7
Basic salary, housing allowances, EAFH® - BEZEM  HEMEE R

other allowances and benefits in kind YR 4.3 3.9

Provident fund contribution NS 0.4 0.4

4.7 4.3

5.4 5.0
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8 Executive committee members’ emolumentsand 8 HITZEEBZECMERER (%)
fees (Continued)
Their emoluments fall within the following bands: HMEH THIERK
Number of members
FEAH
Emoluments band (in HK$Million) MEeZRGEEHETT) 2012 2011
Nil-1.0 #-1.0 1 11
4.0-4.5 4.0-4.5 - 1
45-5.0 4.5-5.0 1 -
12 12
9 Emoluments of the five highest paid individuals 9 IHuEEMEMAL

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, one

(2011: one) was member of the Executive Committee whose
emolument is included in Note 8 above. The aggregate
emoluments for the remaining four (2011: four) individuals were

ERfIRRMEATOAHMT - —(HTEE
XM (T ——F : —f)EBEEMT
NA - EROTATHEFM(—T——% : @
A7) BEHELAT

as follows:
(in HK$Million) (BEEHBT) 2012 2011
Basic salary, housing allowances, EXE ¢ BEEEL  EAER KR
other allowances and benefits in kind Y 1.3 11.8
Provident fund contribution NEEHER 0.2 0.3
115 12.1

Their emoluments fall within the following bands:

HM 20 TSR

Number of employees

BT A
Emoluments band (in HK$Million) MEERGELHET) 2012 2011
2.0-2.5 2.0-2.5 1 =
2.5-3.0 2.5-3.0 2 2
3.0-35 3.0-35 = 2
3.5-4.0 3.5-4.0 1 =

4 4
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10 Taxation 10 Bi1E
The Housing Society is a charitable institution and is exempted EREBE RESHE - BERBEAENT U
from Hong Kong taxation under Section 88 of the Hong Kong R RBMEBTIE o
Inland Revenue Ordinance.
11 Investment properties 11 REWHX
Completed/ Properties
Purchased under
Properties Development Total
(in HK$Million) (B¥EET) BRI BEYE BRAPYE FEb
Cost A
1 April 2010 —T-TFYA—H 7,421.6 882.2 8,303.8
Additions NE 2,073.3 222.6 2,295.9
Transfer AR 481.6 (481.6) -
31 March 2011 and —E——F=ZA=1t—HK
1 April 2011 —T——FmA—H 9,976.5 623.2 10,599.7
Additions NE 143.2 1,227.4 1,370.6
Transfer FELE 151.6 (151.6) -
31 March 2012 —E——H$=HA=+—H 10,271.3 1,699.0 11,970.3
Depreciation and impairment FEREE
1 April 2010 —ZET-ZTFYAH—H 2,866.0 173.7 3,039.7
Charge for the year REFIHE 190.1 - 190.1
Transfer HHAR 111.8 (111.8) -
31 March 2011 and —T—F=A=+—HK
1 April 2011 —T——FmA—H 3,167.9 61.9 3,229.8
Charge for the year NEEIHE 223.3 - 223.3
Transfer AR 61.9 (61.9) -
31 March 2012 —BE——_H=HA=+—H 3,453.1 - 3,453.1
Carrying values FRIEIE
31 March 2012 —E——H=A=+—H 6,818.2 1,699.0 8,517.2
31 March 2011 —ET——F=A=+—H 6,808.6 561.3 7,369.9
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11 Investment properties (Continued) 11 REWER)

BT SEANEENME L - EAER
TR T AR B AR - MRT BEY

The above figures include leasehold land situated in Hong
Kong. The leasehold land under development are held under

a medium-term lease while the leasehold land for completed/ ¥t eIE
purchased properties comprises:
(in HK$Million) (B¥EET) 2012 2011
Long lease (over 50 years) REZAO(ZRATF) 1,276.3 1,277.8
Medium-term lease (10 to 50 years ) RN (+ER+5) 1,537.8 1,583.3
2,814.1 2,861.1
(a) Fair values (a) A2AREE

The Housing Society’s investment properties comprises (i)
rental estates built on land granted by the Government, and
(i) commercial premises for long term investment purpose.

For rental estates with carrying value of HK$4,812.4 million
(2011: HK$3,820.0 million), the Government has included in
the land grant terms and conditions governing the sale and
rental of the properties. The fair values of the properties
cannot be reliably assessed because (i) the Government
may or may not consider giving approval for the Housing
Society to sell any or all of its rental estates; (ii) there are no
comparable market transactions to provide references; and
(iii) concessionary rents are charged to tenants of the public
rental estates or tenants are age-restricted.

The carrying value and fair value of commercial premises
at 31 March 2012 are HK$3,704.8 million and HK$5,980.8
million respectively (2011: HK$3,549.9 million and
HK$5,117.2 million). The fair value of commercial premises
at 31 March 2012 and 2011 have been arrived at on the
basis of a valuation carried out on that date either by an
independent qualified professional valuer or by in-house
professional surveyor. The investment properties have
been valued individually, on market value basis, which
conforms to Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors Valuation
Standards on Properties. The valuation was mainly arrived
at by reference to comparable market transactions for
similar properties and on the basis of capitalisation of net
income with due allowance for the reversionary income
and redevelopment potential.
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12 Property and equipment 12 PERRE

Leasehold

Land and

Buildings Equipment Total
(in HK$Million) (B¥EET) #HE L RIEF R Bz
Cost AR
1 April 2010 —T-TFYA—H 360.5 280.4 640.9
Additions NE — 27.0 27.0
Disposals HeE - (2.4) (2.4)
31 March 2011 and —E——F=ZA=1t—HK

1 April 2011 —T——FmA—H 360.5 305.0 665.5

Additions NE 40.8 30.6 71.4
Disposals HE = (5.6) (5.6)
31 March 2012 —E-——-H=A=+—H 401.3 330.0 731.3

Depreciation and impairment FERREE

1 April 2010 —ZT—-TFYA—H 83.2 232.0 315.2
Charge for the year REFIE 5.4 19.6 25.0
Written back on disposals H £ [ 43 - (2.4) (2.4)
31 March 2011 and —T—F=A=+—HK

1 April 2011 —T—FmA—H 88.6 249.2 337.8
Charge for the year NEEIHE 6.5 21.7 28.2
Written back on disposals H & [ - (5.5) (5.5)
31 March 2012 —E-——F=A=+—H 95.1 265.4 360.5
Carrying values FRIEIE
31 March 2012 —E-—_F=H=+—H 306.2 64.6 370.8
31 March 2011 —E——F=A=+—H 271.9 55.8 327.7
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12 Property and equipment (Continued) 12 MERREE)
All leasehold land and buildings stated above are situated in LA T i RIEFRAREBLBIEAT
Hong Kong and comprise leasehold land as follows: LA b
(in HK$Million) (B¥EET) 2012 2011
Long lease (over 50 years) RHARA(ZRAETF) 144.9 145.2
Medium-term lease (10 to 50 years) REIRA(+Z2RTF) 16.0 16.4
160.9 161.6
13 Loans receivable 13 EWRERK
Loans receivable represents mainly the second mortgage loans BRERFZERIEAEFERMBMHMNE 1218
granted to the flat buyers and unsecured loans granted to home BN EEFERBBLRAEIR  BAEER
owners under the Building Management and Maintenance HE G S EEIER - A AERRNERRNAE
Scheme. All the secured loans are secured by residential EYIEER -
property.
(in HK$Miillion) (B¥EET) 2012 2011
Secured mortgage loans BEARIEER 50.5 65.1
Unsecured loans AR ER 6.0 7.1
56.5 72.2
Less: impairment losses o ORE R (4.7) (4.9)
51.8 67.3
Representing: EIIHERE:
Due within one year —ERNE|H 4.7 6.1
Due after 1 year, but within 2 years —FEZE — FXF|H 4.0 4.9
Due after 2 years, but within 5 years —FERFAEIH 115 13.0
Due after 5 years RAEAEEH 31.6 43.3
Total due after 1 year —ELAA R A4 58 471 61.2
51.8 67.3
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13 Loans receivable (Continued) 13 EWER#E)

Interest rates applicable to the above loans receivable are set BREWERHFERINAT
out below:

Secured mortgage loans Unsecured loans

BIRFRIRBER EIKARER
2012 2011 2012 2011
Contractual interest rate & #JF| =& Prime rate Prime rate 0% to Prime rate 0% to Prime rate

BEZRR =EEFE 0% ZREERIR 0% ZEHEEFE
Effective interest rate BHER=R Prime rate Prime rate 11.01% 11.02%
BEERR =EEFE

The fair values of the above loans receivable approximate to the FE B SR A 7t (B B H R R 2 B AR A9 BR T (B AR
corresponding carrying values at the end of the reporting period. 4 e

The movements in allowance for impairment losses were as BB EBNESHWT ¢

follows:
(in HK$Million) (BEHBETT) 2012 2011
At 1 April mA—H 4.9 6.6
Reversal bt (5 (0.2) (0.9)
Bad debts written off B [o] - (0.8)
At 31 March =A=+—~H 4.7 4.9

Impairment of the above loans is assessed individually when any
borrowers are unable to settle overdue installments for more
than six months. At the end of the reporting period, the carrying
amount of these individually assessed loans before individually
determined to be impaired was HK$3.8 million (2011: HK$3.6
million) and impairment loss of the loans was HK$3.8 million
(2011: HK$3.6 million).

Thereafter, if the Housing Society determines that no objective
evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed
loans receivable, whether significant or not, it includes the
asset in a group of loans receivable with similar credit risk
characteristics with reference to borrowers’ historical default in
interest or principal payment and collectively assesses them for
impairment.

At 31 March 2011 and 2012, the carrying values of loans that
are past due but not impaired are insignificant. For loans that are
neither past due nor impaired, their credit quality is considered
good since maijority of the loans are secured by residential
properties and have good settlement history. During the year,
there has been no significant change in the credit quality.

EERARBEENER A LR ERERE - %
ERHRERKX SR ARG o RmEHR
A B 5F 44 R (B 7Y B SR AR R (B A RO BR E B 3 78
B=A/\tE8L(ZZ——F : BB=ZB 8
L) HRERAREE=a N \t8T(—T——
FBEE=ARTET) °

Hi  BEEBERE AT HERL REHA

B EEREREARD) BRI
PEEARGEREE - HEROAEEEER
WEEREBEENRRASHRER LSS
#HE -

RZE—FR=ZZE——F=A=+—H0 ' EE
HEIWREENBHERMARENER - M2
BEERIRERINER - AR ARIFE
B AASDSNERZANEEWEERENER
IFERGL - EAFE  ZZFEFNEEERRE
REEANEE -

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS / Bt#sk% 117



Financial Statements

BB &

Notes to the Financial Statements B #3RZ< M 3T

14 Properties under development for sale 14 EHERRNBREDYHE
(in HK$Miillion) (BEEHEBT) 2012 2011
At 1 April MmA—H 3,039.9 2,955.5
Additions during the year AREEZHN 330.6 84.4
At 31 March =A=+—8H 3,370.5 3,039.9
The amount is expected not to be recovered within 12 months AR 2 Ey B S EmEREN+ @A
from the end of the reporting period. AL o
15 Investment related financial assets/liabilities 15 EERENNMEEERAR
(in HK$Miillion) (BEEBT) 2012 2011
(i) Investment related financial assets () BREERENTKEE
Equity securities ARANFE 75
Hong Kong 'S 1,553.6 1,684.5
Overseas SN 4,850.4 3,252.6
6,404.0 4,937.1
Overseas debt securities BIMETSE S 5,287.8 6,400.7
Other security investments Hih B EKE 68.1 54.9
11,759.9 11,392.7
(i) Investment related financial liabilities (i) BEEENHEEE (49.6) (95.3)
11,710.3 11,297.4
The increase or decrease in fair values at the end of the RS RO AR EEE NSRS B AREEL -
reporting period are unrealised and may fluctuate subsequent FrbAe B & BAREHNTISERE BE RINER
to the end of the reporting period subject to subsequent market MER) R BN MEE -

movements in investment prices and foreign exchange rates.
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15 Investment related financial assets/liabilities 15 FRARENMKEEREE®)
(Continued)
At the end of the reporting period, the investments are RIBEHR - FIERERNTIIEEEH

denominated in the following currencies:

(in HK$Million) (B¥EET) 2012 2011
US dollars ES 7,252.2 4,537.7
HK dollars pidia 1,510.0 1,741.2
Euro B 78 1,071.1 2,545.5
Japanese Yen H 850.9 831.9
Pound Sterling e 370.0 790.4
Other currencies Hith & 656.1 850.7

11,710.3 11,297.4

The following table provides an analysis of the investments by TREHENETISE D 2 REDH :

geographical market:

(in HK$Million) (B¥EBET) 2012 2011
Equity Securities IR A& 35
Hong Kong B 25% 37%
Europe BUM 33% 30%
United States E3E] 37% 24%
Japan SR 3% 4%
Others Hi 2% 5%
Overseas Debt Securities BIMETE H
Europe BUM 38% 42%
United States 3 47% 36%
Japan =F:N 7% 10%
Others Hi 8% 12%
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15 Investment related financial assets/liabilities 15 EERENFBEERERE #)

(Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the credit rating of overseas
debt securities are of investment grade (2011: investment
grade).

At the end of the reporting period, the weighted average yield
to maturity rate of global fixed income and emerging market
debt is 4.64% and 6.16% (2011: 3.24% and not applicable) and
weighted average duration is 5.65 years and 4.56 years (2011:
5.17 years and not applicable) respectively.

On investment related financial liabilities, 57% (2011: 39%) was
due for settlement within 30 days after the end of the reporting

RIERR - BIMEBEFHNERARHRER
AT ——F  KERH) -

R¥REHR - Lafilmuﬁz SHABEMHETS
BEFHIMNEFI E B X 5 B £4.64%F16.16%
(Z2——%F: 3.24%ﬂ7r ﬁﬁﬁ)&ﬁbuﬁéit@,ﬁﬁ
(R A5.65FMAB6F(—F——4F : 5I7EMRN
W) °

ERREMBERE - 57%(ZF——F : 39% )R
HERARE =T RN -

period.

The following table presents the carrying value of financial TREREE BE(EBP B HRELEANDE LR
instruments measured at fair value at the balance sheet date [£@TA  FHEIMAETNZAREBE=HER
across the three levels of the fair value hierarchy defined in o UARBEMESRIACZEEE  mEE
HKFRS 7, Financial instruments: Disclosures, with the fair value SMIAZARBESE  AERNGTEAREER
of each financial instrument categorised in its entirety based IR ANBEZHIR 2 ZEERMIEL - SFR

on the lowest level of input that is significant to that fair value HRELT :

measurement. The levels are defined as follows:

—  Level 1 (highest level): fair values measured using quoted - B—H(&EaER)  LER BfEE
prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical financial EE%%E’J#&E(%%&EH%)JEA /Lﬁ‘iﬁ o
instruments.

F-H NBRUZeRMTAEERTSH
WE IAGETDEEFRRMAEHANER
SR D EE BRI BROTISEE)

—  Level 2: fair values measured using quoted prices in active -
markets for similar financial instruments, or using valuation
technigues in which all significant inputs are directly or

indirectly based on observable market data. SEHAREE
—  Level 3 (lowest level): fair values measured using valuation —  B=REESER) : MEEFE(HPHA
techniques in which any significant input is not based on E’Jéx%ﬁfi#&ﬂ AR R T 5 2R ) &

observable market data. HAREE -
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15 Investment related financial assets/liabilities 15 ERARENMKEEREE®)
(Continued)
2012
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
(in HK$Million) (B%EHET) £— E=® B=4 e
Investment related BRAKRER
financial assets B E 5,686.8 5,709.0 364.1 11,759.9
Investment related BRAKRER
financial liabilities s aE (2.0) (47.6) - (49.6)
5,684.8 5,661.4 364.1 11,710.3
2011
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
(in HK$Million) (B¥EER) £— E=® B=4 Pt
Investment related BRAKER
financial assets B E 7,146.4 3,925.4 320.9 11,392.7
Investment related BRAKER
financial liabilities B aE (17.7) (77.6) - (95.3)
7,128.7 3,847.8 320.9 11,297 .4
The fair values of level 1 financial assets and liabilities are F—RUBEERBBENRATEERATISRE
determined based on the quoted market bid prices. The fair FE BBMBEERARE - RA KRR
value of level 2 financial assets and liabilities are determined in EEEARUTBEZNERTENTISER S KT
accordance with generally accepted pricing models using prices B F=RUBEEFTERIELENGE - B
from observable current market transactions and dealer quotes REFHEETRERE - F=RUBEETER
from similar instruments. The fair value of Level 3 financial M EHRBEREESEARE °

assets is stated at fair value estimated by the fund'’s investment
manager. Due to the inherent uncertainty of the estimates,
the fair value of Level 3 financial assets may differ from the
values that would have been used had a ready market for these
investments existed and the differences could be material.
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15 Investment related financial assets/liabilities 15 BERENNKEERAGE®)
(Continued)
Movement of Level 3 fair value measurements of financial assets FE-RUBEELATEBEFENZESHNT ¢
is as follows:
(in HK$Million) (BEEER) 2012
At 1 April mA—H 320.9
Gain recognised in the statement of 2 E TR A ERE
comprehensive income S Al 0.3
Purchase #E 42.9
At 31 March =A=+t—H 364.1
16 Accounts receivable and prepayments 16 BWRERENER
(in HK$Million) (BEEHBT) 2012 2011
Rent and interest receivables RIS & & A8 30.6 22.6
Investment receivables Rl ERE 220.5 228.6
Deposits by 2.1 1.9
Sundry debtors HETE FE IR R 6.0 4.3
Prepayments Bt & A 8.0 2.8
267.2 260.2
Included in the above are financial assets of HK$259.2 million L HEFTREVBEEEBLERSE
(2011: HK$257.4 million) which are denominated in the following —RAFTABZTERL(ZZE——F : B
currencies: “EATEAEETEL) c MBEERUTIE
W
(in HK$Million) (BE®EBT) 2012 2011
HK dollars Nt 25.7 29.3
US dollars ETT 45.1 101.6
Euro E¢7 77.9 56.7
Pound Sterling HEE 75.9 10.9
Other currencies Hh K 34.6 58.9
259.2 257 .4
At 31 March 2011 and 2012, the carrying values of rent RZE——FR-_T——F=A=+—H FE
receivables that are past due but not impaired are insignificant. HhEARAEABRERMARENEKES
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16 Accounts receivable and prepayments (Continued) 16 BWIRERANER @)

At the end of the reporting period, the fair values of above A ERBTS B ER A 2 (BEEENRE AR
financial assets approximate to their corresponding carrying E{EAAT °
values.
17 Cash and bank balances 17 RERBITEH
Cash and bank balances comprise mainly bank deposits with Re RRITEBEZERIBELRNEANEEH
maturity of six months or less. At 31 March 2012, the balances BITGER - -RZTE——F=A=1+—H H&K
are denominated in the following currencies: IRITHERRA T BB EE
(in HK$Million) (BE®EBT) 2012 2011
HK dollars g 2,504.8 3,850.5
US dollars ETT 710.4 1,191.9
Renminbi AR 3,265.0 2,460.4
Other currencies H b K 16.5 137.2
6,496.7 7,640.0
The bank deposits carry an average fixed interest rate of 2.20% FHRITEREFNEEB220% (ZF——F :
(2011: 1.02%) per annum. The carrying amounts of the cash and 1.02%) ° SRITHER A R BEEREERLD

bank balances approximate to their fair values.

18 Accounts payable, sundry deposits and accruals 18 EIRIE - RBERERESTER

(in HK$Million) (B¥EET) 2012 2011
Payables on purchase of investments FETEEAIRE 255.6 214.4
Tenants, sales and sundry deposits P - HERMEERS 110.5 98.1
Accounts payable FETBRIR 3125 301.9
Accruals fEETE A 176.9 119.0
Lease income received in advance e Gk 151.8 161.4
1,007.3 894.8

Less: non-current portion W IERBE S (128.9) (139.9)
878.4 754.9
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18 Accounts payable, sundry deposits and accruals 18 ENIRE - RBERERETEB @)

(Continued)
Included in the above were financial liabilities of HK$855.5 EHEFTREBEBEEBERBESE
million (2011: HK$733.4 million), of which 96% (2011: 96%) was NERETHREBERATER(ZE——F : B
due for settlement within 60 days and 4% (2011: 4%) was after tE=F=EN+&x) HP%%(=ZFT——
60 days. The financial liabilities are denominated in the following F 1 96% ) RIBEAREANTRAANENEES - &
currencies: BA%(ZT——F : 4% )N TREZE - 175§
BERUTIIEMEE -
(in HK$Million) (BE®EHEBT) 2012 2011
HK dollars ot 634.9 529.2
US dollars =% 98.7 108.0
Euro B¢ 68.3 22.8
Australian dollars SRIT 16.8 48.4
Other currencies H b K 36.8 25.0
855.5 733.4
At the end of the reporting period, the fair values of above A FRMBBENA R EBEANREHRNERE
financial liabilities approximate to their corresponding carrying EARA °
values.
19 Provisions 19 %45
Building
management/
Provision for = maintenance
Revitalisation financial incentives
work guarantee EFEER Total
EEIR R B HIEER Fk )
(in HK$Million)  (GB¥EERT) (i) (i) (iii)
At 1 April 2011 —F——4FMA —H 172.9 85.8 146.0 404.7
Amount provided IR#EERE 2.8 - 10.9 13.7
Amount reversed  #E##[E] (5.6) (13.4) (53.1) (72.1)
Amount utilised EEASE (29.9) - (9.3) (39.2)
At31March2012 —E——%=H8 =+—H 140.2 72.4 94.5 307.1

124 HONG KONG HOUSING SOCIETY ANNUAL REPORT 2012 / HEEREHE —O——F&EH



Financial Statements

BB IR

Notes to the Financial Statements Bf#& &R M5t

19 Provisions (Continued)

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period.

(a)

(b)

Revitalisation work

Provision is made for revitalisation works of committed
social projects. Related payments are expected to be
incurred within the next three financial years.

Management estimates the amount of rehabilitation works
based on the latest available budgets of the construction
contracts with reference to the overall performance of each
construction contract. Construction costs which mainly
comprise subcontracting charges and costs of materials are
estimated by the management on the basis of quotations
from time to time provided by the major contractors/
suppliers/vendors involved and the experience of the
management. In cases where the actual future costs are
different from the expected, an adjustment to the carrying
amount of the provision may arise.

Provision for financial guarantee

In relation to the sales of properties, the Housing Society
has requested a number of mortgage banks to grant the
purchasers mortgage loans up to above 70% of the price of
the properties. Provision for claims in the event of default
was therefore made to indemnify the banks for losses
arising from the request. The guarantee period is 20 years.

At 31 March 2012, total contingent liabilities in respect

of the guarantee are estimated to be approximately
HK$1,893.9 million (2011: HK$1,883.2 million) which could
be required to be settled on demand.

Based on expectations at the end of the reporting period,
the carrying amount of the financial guarantee as at

31 March 2012 is subject to change depending on the
probability of the counterparty claiming under the guarantee
which is a function of the likelihood that the financial
receivables held by the counterparty which are guaranteed
suffer credit losses. Should the actual credit losses be
different from the expected, an adjustment to the carrying
amount of the provision may arise.

19 %=

TXFER B RARRNEZMB LN EAREAM
A TEEREZ TEHRIR

(a) FEEIRE

FEIRRKNAEERREAEREIRE T
BEE TRRVEH M - R0 #9 S H TR
BRERN=EANRFEAELE -

EEERBEABEEANZIEHNEAE - I
DEQGHBESH 2 ERRE - (AEHEER
TRZEHE - BARENA(TERESE
BREREMBRA) HEREARS R E
ARG, RER B TR REZRE
REREZEBREEMDIR - R E
BRARE G BRE - ARSI BUERD
FREEEA HE

(b) FAEEREEM

EEHEEERRITAEEENENER
BHEEELRA 2B WEHSER
e B R A AR SR AT R SR AR 1 2 A
ERIBK - WWREBR A= +F -

MRZZ——F=A=+—H - AstE@=%
REEREBETN\EAT=ZBALTER
—2——F BT \BNAT=ZA_+8
7o) - WA BB AL

RERBEPRRNMEE - MBRIFR-F
——F=A=+—HAkEEE =2F
RXHHFEEVHRETE THOREEN
REgEEMNE  REESEIURNZ
5 FHEFA X RE SR mE B
EERRMARMN - I REERKER
AHERE - HA s BCE RN REEES

A
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19 Provisions (Continued)

(c) Building management/maintenance
incentives

Under the Building Management and Maintenance Scheme,
eligible applicants will be granted financial assistance
when they satisfy certain criteria. Provision is made when
the applications are approved. It is expected that more
than 90% of the provision will not be settled within the
next 12 months. The management estimates the amount
of incentives based on the approved applications with
reference to the budgeted quotation of each application.
Should the actual maintenance expenses be different from
the expected, an adjustment to the carrying amount of the
provision may arise.

20 Loans from government

19 %&H#)

(c) BFEEREBER

BFEENECEDE AR ERNBAE
ARBEBENMBEDR - ERFELZ
% HEESESERE - WFTEE
BN BB T ENIRR T —EAAARX
- ERERBESARNRAT  W2EF
HRFENAERE  UREREZRER
AHRAEGFETERREEZER - 1
HREREDEGTERE - EAaE5IE
ERNEREERFHE -

20 HFER

(in HK$Million) (B¥EET) 2012 2011
Loans from government repayable BIREFIRA T ER (B8

Within 1 year —FR 3.5 36
After 1 year, but within 2 years —FEREN 3.5 3.5
After 2 years, but within 5 years MEZRERN 10.6 10.6
After b years REME 47.0 50.5
64.6 68.1

Less: Amount due within one year B BIEEREAEEE A —F A
included in current liabilities F|HREL 35 3.5
Amount due after one year —F 1 B EA R 2EE 61.1 64.6

All the loans from government were obtained prior to 1 April
2009. The loans are interest free and repayable in 480 equal
monthly instalments from the draw down date. The fair value of
the loans at 31 March 2012, which is determined by discounting
the estimated future cash flows at the prevailing market rate

at the end of the reporting period, is HK$57.2 million (2011:
HK$51.9 million).
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21

22

Commitments for social projects/property 21 [EEEE - PEBERRAESEE
development/improvements

At the end of the reporting period, the commitments in REHRBRERERYE - BFEEIRKRE
respect of social projects, properties under development and fRTE B RABRARESEMENT ¢

rehabilitation work which have not been provided for in the
financial statements are as follows:

(in HK$Million) (BE®EBET) 2012 2011
Contracted but not provided for BENEBERELBHENTIE 3,194.3 1,141.2
Authorised but not contracted for Bz EMARZE LR TR 16,726.1 16,218.7
19,920.4 17,359.9
Operating lease arrangements 22 EEBRNTH
At the end of the reporting period, the Housing Society had RMER  EEHSREAFRAELAYSE
contracted with tenants for future minimum lease payments KNI EUEZ @A - R IFI BB R M & T
under non-cancellable operating leases in respect of rented SUWA -

premises which fall due as follows:

(in HK$Million) (B¥EBET) 2012 2011
Within one year —FR 273.7 282.0
In the second to fifth year inclusive MEARFTA 175.3 154.5
Over 5 years FELAE 24.0 271
473.0 463.6
Majority of the leases are negotiated for terms ranging from AEBABENIRA—E=F - KRB FESH
two to three years. Rentals are generally fixed over the lease HekZFESEER CBEETENA DL
terms except that rental of certain carparks is calculated on - HiHASEHOBEAN—REEE °
a percentage of their respective car parks operator’'s gross
revenue.
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23 Retirement benefits schemes 23

The Housing Society operates two defined contribution
retirement benefits schemes, namely, Defined Contribution
Retirement Benefit Scheme and Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme, for all qualifying employees. The assets of the
schemes are held separately from those of the Housing Society
in the funds under the control of trustees.

The retirement benefits cost charged to the statement of
comprehensive income represents contribution payable to the
funds by the Housing Society at rates specified in the rules of
the schemes. Regarding the Defined Contribution Retirement
Benefit Scheme, where there are employees who leave the
scheme prior to vesting fully in the contributions, the forfeited
employer's contributions are used either to reduce future
contribution or to pay the trustee’s administration charges or
to distribute to members who are entitled to such distributions
under the rules of the scheme.

RIREIER T E

FEHEAEAERES REMEREHZERK
18 DRI AEEETRKNRE B R #8
HIEATESAE ]  REHABNEERFEEHE
WEENDRFE AR HRELEFEAREE
MWESA -

5 [ 1 & R NAE AT BI AT HEE B £ R G A
RAEF X 2EIIAZEBIERA - 3t EHE
HEFGRKRRE B - HEERZ2EBETFAR
WRBAMATR KL 8 - BOR MR KA AR
BEEHE RN ALK - AXMEFEATR
R - REUE BRSO LA 2 Rk a8l (R

B o

(in HK$Million) (B EET) 2012 2011
Contribution to the schemes (net of FTEIHER (B 21K

forfeiture) H) 26.9 25.9
Utilisation of forfeited employer’s MR UL 1R == S5k

contribution for payment of trustee’'s ARZMMEFEA

administration charges contribution for THER 0.4 0.4
Balance of forfeited employer’s R=A=+—BXREAHN

contribution not utilised at 31 March WORWUE = kAt 2.4 2.8
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24 Government contribution and assistance

(a)

(b)

Concessionary land premiums

Since the incorporation of the Housing Society, a number
of sites have been granted by the Government under lease
terms to facilitate the provision of housing to low to middle
income families or elderly. Depending on the nature of the
land grant, special terms and conditions are incorporated in
the Condition of Grant to restrict the user of the land and
alienation of the property.

Subject to these special terms and conditions, sites
developed for public rental housing purposes are granted
at one-third of full market value; sites for building flats for
sales to eligible families at concessionary prices are granted
at half of full market value; sites for developing rural public
housing and senior citizen residence are granted at nominal
or nil premium.

At the end of the reporting period, total carrying value of
the above lands including related acquisition costs was
HK$804.7 million (2011: HK$817.6 million). Relevant costs
were grouped under investment properties and housing
inventories.

During the years of 2012 and 2011 no concessionary land
premium was paid to the government.

Loans from Government
Some of the developments mentioned above were partly

financed by loans from the government. Details of the
loans are set out in Note 20.

24 BFFEMRER

(a)

(b)

BRI ER

BEEWEMILAR - BUTREHBIR 4
FETEEFRARENFERE  AFE
HEt i — 4+t o BFHBOME - &
b S EGCHE I RO T DA T 45 7l &9 B R A0
16K P DA BR 1) 52 S 3t B 68 PR & e HL 8%
T -

RIELe AR AR AR & - ISR N A
HEFEENHHRAZTHSEEN =52
—HtH c BAEREETAEEERHE
ZEFETRERRENIIBZAZTS
BEMN-—S2—#tH  mMAAEEZNEA
HIBEEE R FREEMAOALHRIAREL
M BT ERE -

RIRERR - ZAt TIEGAEE XA
FEHEEREEN\EENALTEL(ZE
—F BB \E-TtAA+ET - #
B ABIARRENER BT FE ©

W-F-——R-F——%  BEBEILR
BB T AT -
BRER

ENEF—#DMERIA R 2 HBFHE
A - BEFFHASINME=_TA -
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25 Related party transactions 25 BREALTZRE
During the year, the Housing Society entered into the following rFEFEHeRE —LESEREEENES
material transactions with related parties which comprise the BB EEEEREZITHRAR » E1TUAT
members of Supervisory Board and Committees, Government BEARS ¢
and Government related organisations and key management
personnel:

Amounts due from/(to)
Transactions incurred related parties at end of

during the year the reporting period
REFE RERNEY, (N
Nature of transactions REME EENRS BAEE F B
(in HK$Million) (B¥EET) 2012 2011 2012 2011
()  Government and other () BT REA BT #E
government organisations
Income from Private Sector ERE2HERRERE R
Involvement Scheme HESRERFBETEIRA 29.0 27.8 3.9 2.7
Expenses on Urban Renewal EEREAE REF
Scheme and property BB
management 5.0 5.6 (0.5) (0.3)
Mixed Development BREEBR = =
Receipt on behalf AU A 9.2 9.2
Repayment (EEE (9.2) (9.4)
- 0.2)
Premium for Flat-For-Sale FEREFEETF
Scheme e (2.8) (5.4)
Receipt on behalf R U A 64.8 86.2
Repayment (=¥ (67.4) (88.7)
(2.6) (2.5)
Loan repayment EEBFER 35 35 (64.6) (68.1)
(i)  Others (i) Hfb
Construction works FEETIE 6.5 43.0 (5.5) (7.4)
Professional fees HEEH - 0.4 - -
Bank interest income/ SRITFIBURA Kk
balance 124 1.6 1.2 1,464.6
Others Hih 1.7 1.7 (0.1) (0.1)
(i)  Emoluments of key (i) EEZEBAEHH
management personnel 16.2 17.1 - -
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26 Segment information 26 SEEHR
The Housing Society’s reportable segments are strategic PHERMEZRUEEHRE NS ERmERER
business units that offer different products and services, and KEEBERBYEMAER - RIBXEBAAENESE
managed separately based on required professional knowledge Mk KRR - FTUARBEIERE - MBEEER
and strategies. All assets and customers are located in Hong BEHERE - N ASERRKRIEAIESE

Kong. Types of products and services are set out below:

Property sales Develop properties for sales MELE BERERYEELERS
Property leasing Lease and manage own properties, YERE BN EEGEYMEBIEEY
including subsidised rental flats, %  AHERES

commercial premises and carparks

Home financing Grant top up loans to buyers of own- EFpE BERGEREEER
developed domestic flats

Investments Invest in security markets and time "E BE#H RESKTEBRFHR
deposits to preserve the value of capital RIFEARHEE

Social projects Provide property management and repair [ElEEIE B RIEEFEEREEER - HE
incentives, promote proper building HZERFEERBENEZR
management and maintenance concept HEENBIE  FAEETEL
and elderly care, and take on city KiE(RIEE

beautification/ revitalisation projects

Other operations Provide building management service to Hfh&iE MAARARRI REEFER
private and public housing estates B 7%
For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and DEEEEEREERSRAT

allocating resources between segments:

—  Segment surplus/deficit is determined by aggregating — DBHBETIASD IO Bt - B
income earned and expenditure incurred by each segment EBEEBRAABOEREN - LNREEEE
without allocation of corporate administrative expenses. AEEBRRTZES) AU BRERRE
This is the measure reported to the chief operating decision BRI -

maker (i.e. Executive Committee) for the purposes of
resource allocation and performance assessment.

— All assets are allocated to reportable segments other than - KRETEREBEIA L REFRAED
office buildings and related leasehold land and buildings for XTI HtFTE EEEIREYIRD H
corporate administrative purposes. PaN i

— Al liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other — RECEEBE@NETERIN - AT
than accrual expenses for central administrative costs. B REEIRET RO DB ©
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26 Segment information (Continued) 26 ZEERE)

THERBILEER D BERRRARKRANE
FHBURARE

Segment information about these businesses, which is prepared
in accordance with the accounting policies adopted in the
financial statements, is presented below:

2012 —E——F
Property Property
sales leasing
(in HK$Million) (B¥EET) MEHE YIFHEE
Revenue from external parties SN ABUTA - 1,020.6
Other income EAbYA 1.0 10.8
Net investment income FIRERA - =
Net surplus/(deficit) for the year NEEFERG () 2.2 260.5
Total assets REE 3,419.1 8,533.4
Total liabilities REE 501.9 369.0
Interest revenue B U A - =
Depreciation on property and equipment Y REEITE 15 1.8
Depreciation on investment properties WEYESE - 223.3
Expenditures for EMEEES H
non-current assets 471 1,372.6
Cash inflows/(outflows) from: WERACRE)RE :
Operating activities EiEEH (325.8) 514.3
Investing activities WEEE (47.1) (1,372.7)
Financing activities RUEES) = =
Total 48 (372.9) (858.4)
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Reportable Segments Reconciliation
B HEYHAR
Reportable Adjustments
segment for corporate
Home Social Other totals functions
financing Investments projects operations =RE: A ETHRE Totals
BFRE RE [El£518 B Hitheis DEBAE R FEEC)
29 - 0.2 43.4 1,067.1 - 1,067.1
- - 0.3 5.4 17.5 - 17.5
- 684.7 - - 684.7 - 684.7
18.3 640.5 (115.1) 6.3 812.7 (42.0) 770.7
51.6 18,497.8 30.2 4.3 30,536.4 297.7 30,834.1
- 370.1 100.0 5.3 1,346.3 82.3 1,428.6
29 352.0 0.2 - 355.1 - 355.1
- 0.3 4.8 0.1 8.5 19.7 28.2
- - - - 223.3 - 223.3
0.1 0.5 4.2 - 1,424.5 17.5 1,442.0
31.3 (3.3) (170.0) 5.2 51.7 (27.7) 24.0
2.8 2,267.3 (4.2) (0.1) 846.0 (17.5) 828.5
= = = = = (3.5) (3.5)
34.1 2,264.0 (174.2) 5.1 897.7 (48.7) 849.0
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26 Segment information (Continued) 26 ZEERE)
2011 -2
Property Property
sales leasing

(in HK$Million) (B¥EET) MEHE YFEE
Revenue from external parties SN ABUTA 1,847.7 981.3
Other income EAbUA 3.7 10.3
Net investment income FIRERA - -
Net surplus/(deficit) for the year RNEFEMG (B1E) 470.9 315.5
Total assets REE 3,049.9 7,383.8
Total liabilities weE 511.3 334.4
Interest revenue B U A - -
Depreciation on property and equipment Y REEITE 0.2 2.0
Depreciation on investment properties WEYESE - 190.1
Expenditures for non-current assets IERBEES 1.1 2,297.8
Cash inflows/(outflows) from: WERA/CRE)RE :

Operating activities EiEEH 1,697.5 522.9

Investing activities HEEE (0.2) (2,180.7)

Financing activities RUEES) - =
Total kL] 1,697.3 (1,657.8)

27 Comparative figures

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform

to current year's presentation.
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Reportable Segments Reconciliation
BHEHDE HEYRE
Reportable Adjustments
segment for corporate
Home Social Other totals functions
financing Investments projects operations =RE: A ETHRE Totals
BFRE RE [El£518 B Hitheis DEBAE R FEEC)
4.3 - 0.6 41.4 2,875.3 - 2,875.3
- - 0.2 6.1 20.3 0.1 20.4
- 1,058.9 - - 1,058.9 - 1,058.9
6.5 1,024.3 (281.3) 10.3 1,546.2 (39.0) 1,507.2
66.6 19,266.5 31.2 3.0 29,801.0 296.7 30,097.7
2.8 378.2 151.6 4.4 1,382.7 80.2 1,462.9
4.3 264.6 0.6 - 269.5 - 269.5
- 0.2 3.1 0.2 5.7 19.3 25.0
- - - - 190.1 - 190.1
- 3.0 1.1 - 2,303.0 19.9 2,322.9
51.4 (3.1) (167.8) 1.7 2,112.6 (10.9) 2,101.7
4.3 332.2 (32.4) (0.2) (1,877.0) (24.2) (1,901.2)
= = = = = (3.5) (3.5)
55.7 329.1 (200.2) 11.5 235.6 (38.6) 197.0
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HONG KONG
HOUSING SOCIETY

BEREHmS

Hong Kong Housing Society
29" Floor, World Trade Centre,
280 Gloucester Road,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
Telephone: (852) 2839 7888
Facsimile: (852) 2882 2001
Website: www.hkhs.com

EAEEME
BB S 1TE2805%
it FE F 02018

B :E: (852) 2839 7888
{EH: (852) 2882 2001
494E: www.hkhs.com
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